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SECTION I: THE FACTS 
 
A. The Parties 

1. Information received by the Competition Commission of Singapore (“the 
Commission”) (see paragraph 23) indicated that the following pest control 
operators (each a Party, together, the Parties) described in more detail in 
paragraphs 2 to 7 below, engaged in fixing of prices through collusive 
tendering or bid-rigging in the provision of termite control and treatment 
services using Agenda, a termiticide, for properties in Singapore: 
 
a) Aardwolf Pestkare (S) Pte Ltd (“Aardwolf”); 
b) Alliance Pest Management Pte Ltd (“Alliance”); 
c) Elite Pest Management Pte Ltd (“Elite”); 
d) Killem Pest Pte Ltd (“Killem”); 
e) PestBusters Pte Ltd (“PestBusters”); and 
f) Rentokil Initial (S) Pte Ltd (“Rentokil”). 

 
(i) Aardwolf Pestkare (S) Pte Ltd 

2. Aardwolf is a private limited company registered in Singapore, providing 
pest control and management services since 1997. Aardwolf’s registered 
address is 26 Third Lok Yang Road, Singapore 628015. Aardwolf’s 
turnover for the financial year ending 31 March 2007 was S$[…]1. Mr 
Patrick Chong, Director of Aardwolf, Ms Law Kum Peng (Jenny), the Sales 
Manager, Ms Julia Chew, Senior Surveyor and Mr Ryan Peh, Quality 
Analyst, are referred to in this Decision.     

 
(ii) Alliance Pest Management Pte Ltd 

3. Alliance is a private limited company registered in Singapore, providing 
pest control and management services since 1998.  Alliance’s registered 
address is 48 Toh Guan Road East, #06-148 Enterprise Hub, Singapore 
608586. Alliance’s turnover for the financial year ending 31 December 
2006 was S$[…]2. Mr Philip Tan and Mr Andrew Chan, Directors of 
Alliance, are referred to in this Decision.     

 

 
                                                 
1 Information provided by Aardwolf on 8 August 2007 pursuant to the section 63 Notice issued by the 
Commission dated 3 April 2007. 
2 Information provided by Alliance on 8 August 2007 pursuant to the section 63 Notice issued by the 
Commission dated 3 April 2007. 
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(iii) Elite Pest Management Pte Ltd 

4. Elite is a private limited company registered in Singapore, providing pest 
control and management services since 1991.  Elite’s registered address is 
80 Playfair Road, #02-06 Kapo Factory Building, Singapore 367998. 
Elite’s estimated turnover for the financial year ending 31 December 2006 
was S$[…]3. Mr Francis Loh, Director and General Manager of Elite, is 
referred to in this Decision.     

 
(iv) Killem Pest Pte Ltd 

5. Killem is a private limited company registered in Singapore, providing pest 
control and management services since 1995.  Killem’s registered address 
is 48 Toh Guan Road East, #04-09 Enterprise Hub, Singapore 608586. 
Killem’s turnover for the financial year ending 31 December 2006 was 
S$[…]4. Mr Harry Singh and Mr Tan Cheng Hock (William), Directors of 
Killem, Ms Lee Cheng Mui (Jennifer), a Sales Manager and Ms Vasuki 
Ramachandran (Padmah), Personal Assistant to Mr Harry Singh, are 
referred to in this Decision. 

 
(v) PestBusters Pte Ltd 

6. PestBusters is a private limited company registered in Singapore, providing 
pest control services in Singapore since 1991. PestBusters’ registered 
address is 140 Paya Lebar Road, #08-06 A-Z Building, Singapore 409015. 
PestBusters’ estimated turnover for the financial year ending 31 March 
2007 was S$[…]5. Mr Peter Fernandis, a Director of PestBusters, is referred 
to in this Decision. 

 
(vi) Rentokil Initial (S) Pte Ltd 

7. Rentokil is a private limited company registered in Singapore, providing 
pest control services in Singapore since 1964. Rentokil’s registered address 
is 16 & 18 Jalan Mesin, Singapore 368815. Rentokil is a subsidiary of 
Rentokil Initial PLC, a multi-national company operating in Europe, North 
America, Asia Pacific and Africa. Rentokil’s estimated turnover for the 
financial year ending 31 December 2006, which includes turnover from 

                                                 
3 Information provided by Elite on 14 August 2007 pursuant to the section 63 Notice issued by the 
Commission dated 3 April 2007. 
4 Information provided by Killem via letter dated 15 June 2007 pursuant to the section 63 Notice issued by 
the Commission dated 3 April 2007. 
5 Reports and Financial Statements for financial year ending 31 March 2007 signed by the Directors on 3 
December 2007 received from PestBusters on 3 January 2008 pursuant to the section 63 Notice issued by 
the Commission dated 14 November 2007. 
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both the provision of pest control and management services (under its 
Rentokil Pest Control business arm) and the washroom and hygiene 
services (under its Initial Hygiene business arm) was S$[…] 6. Mr  Ong 
Koong Tak James (Joseph), the former General Manager of the Pest 
Control Division, Mr Nicck Yeong, the Sales and Technical Manager, Ms 
Jessie Yeoh, an Assistant Sales Manager, Mr Loe Ching Heng (Dennis), a 
former Sales Manager, Ms Jacqueline Ng and Mr Dennis Ng, former 
surveyors, are referred to in this Decision.    

 
(vii) Agenda and Agenda Authorised Applicators  

8. Agenda is a termiticide manufactured by Bayer Environmental Science 
(“Bayer”) and is solely distributed by Bentz Jaz Singapore Pte Ltd (“Bentz 
Jaz”). Agenda is one of the four termiticides approved for use in Singapore 
by the National Environment Agency (“NEA”)(see paragraph 20 for more 
details).   

9. The use of Agenda is restricted by Bayer and Bentz Jaz to a selected group 
of pest control operators (“PCOs”), also known as the Agenda Authorised 
Applicators (“AAAs”).  An AAA’s appointment is renewed yearly, subject 
to that AAA being able to meet certain pre-determined annual Agenda 
purchase targets. In addition, the AAAs have to adhere to certain guidelines 
on Agenda application for termite treatment (“Agenda Treatment”) in 
return for a 5-year warranty backed by Bayer and Bentz Jaz against re-
infestation.    

10. Termiticides, including Agenda, are used for pre- and post-construction 
termite control.   Pre-construction termite treatment, or soil treatment, 
involves the injection of termiticides into the soil at a construction site, 
before construction works commence, to create a barrier to repel termites or 
manage the colony.  Post-construction termite treatment or corrective 
treatment involves the treatment of buildings or structures and their 
surroundings by drilling holes into selected areas in the building or 
structure and injecting termiticide into the holes to create a barrier to repel 
termites or manage the colony. Alternatively, the termiticide could be 
sprayed in and around termite-infested areas without drilling holes.   

11. The relationship of the Parties started back in 2002 when they were 
appointed as AAAs. Of the eight AAAs appointed in 2002, only the Parties’ 
appointments were renewed and they have been the only six AAAs since. 
The Parties met regularly with representatives from Bayer and Bentz Jaz on 

                                                 
6 Information provided by Rentokil via letter dated 20 April 2007 pursuant to the section 63 Notice issued 
by the Commission dated 3 April 2007.  
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Agenda-related matters, including but not limited to the minimum pricing 
of Agenda Treatment provided by the AAAs at S$12 per square metre for 
pre-construction treatment and S$70 per linear meter for post-construction 
treatment7.  

12. The minutes of a meeting held on 6 April 2006 recorded the following 
under the heading “support quote”: “All AAA mutual agreed to have the 
standard guidance.” The AAAs explained that there was an understanding 
among the AAAs that if any of the AAAs was providing pest control 
services to an existing customer who was calling for Agenda Treatment or 
termite treatment services, that AAA may request that the rest of the AAAs 
would not compete for that project. The AAA receiving the request may 
then put in a cover bid or a “support quote” in their parlance above the 
minimum price of $70 per linear metre or the price given by the AAA 
making the request8. Some of the AAAs understood this arrangement to 
also apply where although the potential customer was not an existing 
customer, the AAA making the request for cover bids was the one who did 
all the groundwork in recommending the use of Agenda. It would 
sometimes depend on the customer calling for the tender or quote in respect 
of a project, whether some or all of the AAAs would be invited to tender or 
quote, as the case may be.   

13. For the purposes of this Decision, the Commission has dealt with the bid-
rigging practices of the AAAs and makes no finding on the issue of the 
minimum price of Agenda Treatment.    

 
 
 
 

                                                 
7 See Answers to Questions 31 to 35 of Steph Chua Yang Peng’s Notes of Information/Explanation 
provided on 14 February 2007 where he said that the recommended price for Agenda Treatment (at S$12 
per linear metre for pre-construction and S$70 per linear metre for post-construction) and associated 
penalties for under-quoting still apply, even though they have been removed from the 2006 Agreement 
between Bentz Jaz and each AAA. 
8 See Answers to Questions 47 and 48 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 12 
January 2007, Answers to Questions 38 to 56 of Andrew Chan’s Notes of Information/Explanation 
Provided on 9 March 2007, Answers to Questions 117 to 124 of Philip Tan’s Notes of 
Information/Explanation Provided on 27 February 2007, Answer to Question 13 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes 
of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 January 2007 and Answer to Question 30 of Peter Fernandis’ 
Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 30 May 2007, Answers to Questions 116 to 118 of Patrick 
Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 30 March 2007, Answer to Question 245 of Harry 
Singh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 14 February 2007 and Answers to Questions 172 to 
174 of Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 7 March 2007, and Answers to 
Questions 115 to 120 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 
28 April 2007. In particular, Harry Singh understood that he could also render support by not putting in a 
quote.   
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B. Background of Termite Control Industry 
 
(i) Pest Control Services 

14. The Parties provide pest control services in Singapore.  In practice, pest 
control services include a wide range of services such as the control of 
vectors, i.e. mosquitoes, cockroaches, flies, rodents and fleas9 and non-
vectors such as ants, bees, hornets, wasps, snakes, and termites, etc. Only 
PCOs providing vector control services are required to be registered with 
the Environmental Health Department (“EHD”) of the NEA. In addition, 
the technicians and workers they employ have to be trained and certified by 
the Director-General of Public Health, NEA10 and the pesticides and 
repellents used in the control of the vectors must be registered with the 
EHD11. 

15. According to the Singapore Pest Management Association (“SPMA”) 
Membership Survey in 200412, the results of which were published on 19 
May 2005, the estimated value of the pest control industry was S$70 mil as 
at the end of 2004, with an estimated labour force of 2,000 people.  

    
(ii) Termite Management and Control  

16. Unlike the provision of vector control services, there is no licensing 
requirement for the provision of termite control services in Singapore. 
However, certain termiticides are regarded as hazardous substances under 
the Environmental Pollution Control (Hazardous Substances) Regulations 
and their import, sale, export, purchase, storage, and/or use are regulated. In 
addition, the NEA’s Pollution Control Department (“PCD”) regulates the 
use of certain termiticides for soil treatment in Singapore under the 
Environmental Pollution Control Act (Cap. 94A), as there are concerns 
with water pollution control and the introduction of hazardous substances 
into water catchment areas during the soil treatment process. 

17. The options for management and control of termites are the use of 
termiticides (usually to create a chemical barrier or for colony 

                                                 
9 See Section 2 of Control of Vectors and Pesticides Act (“CVPA”)(Cap. 59) for definition of vectors. The 
National Environment Agency Environmental Health Division has listed the five pests as vectors.  See 
http://app.nea.gov.sg/cms/htdocs/category_sub.asp?cid=92. 
10 See Sections 25 to 28 of the CVPA and http://app.nea.gov.sg/cms/htdocs/article.asp?pid=950. 
11 See Section 5 of the CVPA and also http://www.nea.gov.sg/cms/pcd/guidebookcontents.pdf. 
12 Provided by Andrew Chan to the Commission voluntarily, the receipt of which is duly acknowledged by 
the Commission on 14 June 2007 and marked as Exhibit AC-1.  
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management) or physical barriers (installing meshes in the soil to prevent 
termites from entering an area), dusting and termite baiting. The options 
may be used exclusively or in combination to achieve a better result, 
depending on the needs and circumstances.   

18. For the purposes of this Decision, the Commission proposes to focus on the 
provision of termite control services in Singapore using termiticides, in 
particular Agenda, as the infringements relate to projects in respect of 
termite control services using termiticides. 

 
(iii) Termite Control using Termiticides 

19. Soil and corrective treatments are used extensively for private or public 
residential, commercial or industrial properties and structures. Some 
examples of such properties are private landed residential homes, 
condominiums and apartments, HDB flats, flatted factories, commercial 
buildings including offices, hotels, shopping complexes and restaurants, as 
well as government buildings such as hospitals and schools.  

20. There are currently four termiticides approved for soil treatment in 
Singapore by the NEA13, namely Chlorpyrifos14, Imidacloprid (Premise), 
Fipronil (Agenda) and Fenvalerate (Wazary). 

21. The termiticides are usually supplied in a concentrate form, which requires 
dilution (with water) to a pre-determined concentration level, as 
recommended by the manufacturers of the termiticides, before application. 
The dilution level for each termiticide is different; as is the dilution level 
for soil and corrective treatments using the same termiticide. 

22. As in the case of Agenda, the application of Premise is restricted to a 
selected group of PCOs or authorised applicators (known as the Premise 
Principal Partners or PPPs for short) selected by the manufacturer and 
distributor in Singapore.     

 
C. Investigation and Proceedings 

23. In late September 2006, the Commission received a complaint that 
PestBusters, Aardwolf and Rentokil had engaged in collusive tendering or 
bid-rigging practices for a May 2006 tender for termite treatment at Raffles 
Hotel. The information indicated that PestBusters had asked Aardwolf and 
Rentokil to support PestBusters by submitting tender proposals to Raffles 

                                                 
13 See http://app.nea.gov.sg/cms/htdocs/article.asp?pid=1679. 
14 These are the names of the active chemical ingredients.  The names in parenthesis are the termiticides’ 
trade names, containing a pre-determined concentration of the respective active ingredient.    
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Hotel, with prices higher than PestBusters’.  Before submission of the 
proposals, Aardwolf and Rentokil agreed to support PestBusters. 

24. On 17 October 2006, the Commission decided that there were reasonable 
grounds for suspecting that PestBusters, Aardwolf and Rentokil had been 
engaged in collusive tendering or bid-rigging in relation to the provision of 
termite treatment services in Singapore, in breach of the prohibition under 
section 34 (“the section 34 prohibition”) of the Competition Act (Cap 50B) 
(“the Act”).  

25. The Commission commenced formal investigations under the Act and 
authorised its officers to enter the premises of PestBusters, Aardwolf and 
Rentokil under section 64 of the Act. On 23 November 2006, the 
Commission carried out unannounced visits concurrently at these premises. 

26. Based on information in the documents produced for inspection at the 
premises of PestBusters, Aardwolf and Rentokil, the Commission further 
authorised its officers to enter the premises of Alliance and Elite under 
section 64 of the Act. On 23 November 2006, the Commission conducted 
unannounced concurrent visits to Alliance and Elite’s premises.  

27. Through its investigations, the Commission obtained further information 
indicative of collusive tendering or bid-rigging arrangements in respect of 
the provision of termite treatment services in Singapore at the following 
properties: 

 
a) Alexandra Hospital; 
b) Hawaii Towers Condominium; 
c) River Place Condominium; 
d) Temasek Junior College; and 
e) Dimensions Education Group Campus at the former Serangoon 

Secondary School site. 

28. On 8 December 2006, the Commission sent notices requesting documents 
and information under section 63 of the Act to each of the owners of the 
projects in paragraph 27 to ascertain the number of proposals submitted, the 
prices and outcome of the proposals.  The Commission received the 
responses between 18 December 2006 and 30 January 2007. 

29. On 17 January 2007, the Commission authorised officers under section 64 
of the Act to enter the premises of Killem.  On 9 February 2007, the 
Commission officers carried out an unannounced visit at Killem’s premises. 
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30. On 17 January 2007, the Commission sent a notice requesting documents 
and information under section 63 of the Act to Bentz Jaz.  The Commission 
received a partial response on 23 January 2007 and the complete response 
on 2 February 2007. The Commission sent a further notice requesting 
documents and information under section 63 of the Act to Bentz Jaz on 21 
February 2007.  The Commission received the response on 2 March 2007. 

31. The Commission carried out a number of interviews of the relevant 
personnel of the Parties and third parties as detailed below under section 63 
of the Act: 

 
Name  Company / 

Position  
 

Date(s) of 
interviews 

In Attendance 

Peter Fernandis PestBusters  
Director of Sales 

8 Jan 2007  
10 Jan 2007  
30 May 2007 
11 Dec 2007 

Nil 
" 
" 
" 

Catherine Lau 
Sock Khim 

PestBusters 
Director / General 
Manager 

11 Dec 2007 Nil 
 

Francis Loh 
Chiew Mong 

Elite   
Director and 
General Manager 

12 Jan 2007  
 
 
1 June 2007 

Mr Dashan S. 
Purain (Darshan & 

Teo) 
Nil 

Steph Chua 
Yang Peng 

Bentz Jaz   
General Manager 

7 Feb 2007  
14 Feb 2007 

Nil 
" 

Harry Singh s/o 
Luckman Singh 

Killem   
Managing Director 

14 Feb 2007  
15 Feb 2007  
7 Mar 2007  
30 May 2007 
23 July 2007 
26 July 2007  

Nil 
" 
" 
" 
" 
" 

Lee Cheng Mui 
(Jennifer) (Ms) 

Killem  
Sales Manager 

24 July 2007 Nil 

Vasuki 
Ramachandran 
(Padmah) (Ms) 

Killem 
Personal Assistant 
to Managing 
Director 

25 July 2007 Nil 

Tan Cheng Hock 
(William) 

Killem 
Operations 
Director 

26 July 2007 Nil 
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Name  Company / 
Position  
 

Date(s) of 
interviews 

In Attendance 

Tan Chye Heng, 
Philip 

Alliance   
Director 

27 Feb 2007  
9 Mar 2007 

Nil 
" 

Chan Eng Loo, 
Andrew 

Alliance   
Director 

27 Feb 2007  
9 Mar 2007 

Nil 
" 

Chong Swee 
Phin, Patrick 

Aardwolf  
Director 

30 Mar 2007  
2 Apr 2007 

Nil 
" 

John Ho Hwa 
Hiong 

Aardwolf   
Director 

30 Mar 2007  
2 Apr 2007 

Nil 
" 

Julia Chew (Ms) Aardwolf   
Senior Surveyor 

2 Apr 2007 Nil 
 

Law Kum Peng 
(Jenny) (Ms) 

Aardwolf   
Sales Manager 

3 Apr 2007 Nil 
 

Ryan Peh Eng 
Hwa 

Aardwolf   
Quality Analyst 

3 Apr 2007 Nil 
 

Ong Koong Tak, 
James (Joseph) 

Rentokil  
Former General 
Manager 

28 Apr 2007  
30 Apr 2007 

Mr Mervyn Foo 
(Lee & Lee) 

" 
Yeong Chee 
Yao, Nicck 

Rentokil  
Sales and 
Technical Manager

8 May 2007 Mr Mervyn Foo 
(Lee & Lee) 

Yeoh Yen Hoon, 
Jessie (Ms) 

Rentokil  
Asst Sales 
Manager 

8 May 2007 Mr. Christopher 
De Souza (Lee & 
Lee) 

Loe Ching Heng 
(Dennis) 

Rentokil   
Former Sales 
Manager 

27 Mar 2007 Nil 
 

Jacqueline Ng 
Lee Mei (Ms) 

Rentokil  
Former Surveyor 

15 May 2007 Mr Mervyn Foo 
(Lee & Lee) 

Ng Wai Keong, 
Dennis 

Rentokil  
Former Surveyor 

15 May 2007 Mr Mervyn Foo 
(Lee & Lee) 

32. The Commission sent notices requesting documents and information on 
turnover under section 63 of the Act to each of the Parties on 3 April 2007.  
The Commission received the responses between 17 April 2007 and 15 
June 2007.   

 
D. The Projects 

33. The table below sets out, for each of the infringements specified by the 
Commission in paragraphs 86 to 346 below, the project in question, the 
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date the project was put out for a tender or quote, the contractors invited to 
tender or quote, the contractors who did tender or quote, the infringing 
parties, and whether the project was awarded. In each case, the Party 
receiving support from the other Parties in order to secure the project is 
highlighted in bold in the 'Infringing Parties' column.  

 
Name of 
Project 

Put out 
for 
Tender / 
quote 
 

Contractors 
Invited to 
Tender / Quote 

Contractors 
which tendered / 
put in quotes 

Infringing 
Parties 

Award of 
contract 
 

Raffles Hotel  5 May 
2006 

 Aardwolf  
 Origin 
Exterminators 
Pte Ltd 
 PestBusters  
 Rentokil 

 

 Aardwolf 
 Origin 
Exterminators 
Pte Ltd 
 PestBusters  
 Rentokil 

 

 Aardwolf  
 Alliance 
 PestBusters 
 Rentokil 

 

No 
(Voided and 
recalled) 

Alexandra 
Hospital 

19 May 
2006 

Public or Open 
Tender 
 Aardwolf  
 Alliance 
 Elite 
 Killem  
 PestBusters  
 Rentokil 

 

 Aardwolf  
 Alliance 
 Killem  
 PestBusters  
 Rentokil 

 

 Aardwolf 
 Alliance 
 Killem  
 PestBusters 
 Rentokil 

 

Yes 
(Awarded to 
PestBusters) 

Hawaii Tower Between 
6 Jan - 2 
Feb 2006 

 Aardwolf 
 Alliance 
 PestBusters 

 Aardwolf 
 Alliance 
 PestBusters 

 Aardwolf 
 Alliance 
 Elite 
 PestBusters  
 Rentokil 

  

Yes 
(Awarded to 
Alliance) 

River Place 
Condominium 

16 May 
2006 

 Aardwolf 
 Alliance 
 Killem 
 Rentokil 

 

 Aardwolf 
 Alliance 
 Killem 
 Rentokil 

 Aardwolf 
 Alliance  
 Elite  
 Killem 
 PestBusters  
 Rentokil 

 

Yes 
(Awarded to 
Alliance) 
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Name of 
Project 

Put out 
for 
Tender / 
quote 
 

Contractors 
Invited to 
Tender / Quote 

Contractors 
which tendered / 
put in quotes 

Infringing 
Parties 

Award of 
contract 
 

Temasek 
Junior College 

Between 
22 and 25 
Feb 2006 

 Dynamic Pest 
Control Pte 
Ltd 

 Elite  
 Killem 
 PestBusters 

 

 Dynamic Pest 
Control Pte 
Ltd 

 Elite  
 Killem 
 PestBusters 

 

 Alliance 
 Elite  
 Killem  
 PestBusters 

 

Yes 
(Awarded to 
Elite) 

Dimensions 
Education 
Group Campus 

Between 
1 January 
2006 and  
22 April 
2006 

 Alliance 
(invited by 
PestBusters) 

 PestBusters 
 

 Alliance 
 PestBusters 

 Alliance 
 PestBusters 

Yes 
(Awarded to 
Jankin 
Services) 
 

 
SECTION II: LEGAL AND ECONOMIC ASSESSMENT 
 
A. Structure of this Section 

34. This section begins by setting out the economic and legal framework 
against which the Commission has considered the evidence.  The section 
then sets out, in relation to each infringement, the facts of each project, the 
evidence of collusion and the Commission’s analysis of the evidence on 
which it relies. 

 
B. The Section 34 Prohibition 

35. Section 34 of the Act prohibits any agreements between undertakings, 
decisions by associations of undertakings or concerted practices which have 
as their object or effect the prevention, restriction or distortion of 
competition within Singapore.15  

36. Section 34(2) of the Act states that 
 

… agreements, decisions or concerted practices may, in particular, have 
the object or effect of preventing, restricting or distorting competition 
within Singapore if they – 

a) directly or indirectly fix purchase or selling prices or any other trading 
conditions; 

                                                 
15   The Section 34 prohibition came into force on 1 January 2006. 
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b) limit or control production, markets, technical development or investment;  
c) share markets or sources of supply; …  

37. The section 34 prohibition is modelled after the Chapter I prohibition of the 
United Kingdom (“UK”) Competition Act 1998 and Article 81 of the 
European Community Treaty. As competition law is a new area of law in 
Singapore, cases from these jurisdictions may be persuasive or useful in 
assisting the Commission in reaching its decision. However, the value of 
any foreign competition cases will depend very much on the overall context 
and the extent to which the facts of such cases are applicable to the local 
context and the facts of the present case. 

 
C. Application of Section 34 Prohibition to Undertakings 

38. Section 2 of the Act defines “undertaking” to mean “any person, being an 
individual, a body corporate, an unincorporated body of persons or any 
other entity, capable of carrying on commercial or economic activities 
relating to goods or services.” The Parties are “undertakings” within the 
meaning of the Act.    

 
D. Agreements  

39. An agreement is formed when parties arrive at a consensus on the actions 
each party will, or will not, take. The section 34 prohibition applies to both 
legally enforceable and non-enforceable agreements, whether written or 
oral, and to so-called gentlemen’s agreements. An agreement may be 
reached via a physical meeting of the parties or through an exchange of 
letters or telephone calls or any other means16.     

40. The fact of agreement may be express or implicit in the participants’ 
behaviour. In Viho Europe BV /Toshiba Europa (I.E.) Gmbh17, the 
agreements between Toshiba Europa (IE) GmbH (TEG) and its exclusive 
distributors in some Member States in respect of photocopiers contained an 
export prohibition clause. The European Commission in its 1991 decision, 
held that Article 85(1), the predecessor of Article 81(1), applied to such 
agreements as well as to those where the written agreements did not contain 
such a clause but where the evidence demonstrated that there was an 
understanding that such an export prohibition should apply.      

41. The mere fact that a party does not abide fully by an agreement that is 
manifestly anti-competitive does not relieve that party of responsibility for 

                                                 
16 Paragraph 2.10 of the CCS Guidelines on the Section 34 Prohibition. 
17 OJ 1991 L287/39 at paragraph 22. 

 16



 

it. In Tréfileurope v European Commission18, Tréfileurope admitted 
participating in meetings, the purpose of which was to fix prices and quotas 
with a view to limiting imports of welded steel mesh into France. However, 
it denied participating in or adhering to the price and quota agreements. The 
Court of First Instance (“CFI”) in its 1995 decision concluded that 
Tréfileurope had participated in agreements whose object was to fix prices 
and quotas on the French market and was not exculpated by the fact that it 
did not respect the prices and quotas19.  

 
E. Concerted Practices 

42. The section 34 prohibition also applies to concerted practices. A concerted 
practice would be found to exist if parties, even if they did not enter into an 
agreement, knowingly substituted the risks of competition with co-
operation between them20. The concept of a concerted practice must be 
understood in the light of the principle that each economic operator must 
determine independently the policy it intends to adopt on the market. 

43. The case of Sukie Unie and others v Commission21 was a case, where major 
petrochemical producers of polypropylene had, by a series of price 
initiatives, regularly set target prices and developed a system of annual 
volume control to share out the available market between them according to 
agreed percentage or tonnage levels.  In that case, the principles, of which 
are applicable to our present case, the European Court of Justice (“ECJ”) in 
its decision in 1975 said at ¶ 26, 27, and 173 to 175:  

 
26 The concept of a ‘concerted practice’ refers to a form of 

coordination between undertakings, which, without having been 
taken to the stage where an agreement properly so-called has been 
concluded, knowingly substitutes for the risks of competition, 
practical cooperation between them, which leads to conditions of 
competition which do not correspond to the normal conditions of 
the market, having regard to the nature of the products, the 
importance and number of the undertakings as well as the size and 
nature of the said market. 

 
27 Such practical cooperation amounts to a concerted practice, 

particularly if it enables the persons concerned to consolidate 
established positions to the detriment of effective freedom of 

                                                 
18 Case T-141/89 [1995] ECR II-791. 
19 Case T-141/89 [1995] ECR II-791 at paragraph 60. 
20 Paragraph 2.16 of the CCS Guidelines on the Section 34 Prohibition. 
21 Joined cases 40 to 48, 50, 54 to 56, 111, 113 and 114/73 [1975] ECR-1 1663. 
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movement of the products in the common market and of the 
freedom of consumers to choose their suppliers.   

… 
173  The criteria of coordination and cooperation laid down by the 

caselaw of the court, which in no way require the working out of 
an actual plan, must be understood in the light of the concept 
inherent in the provisions of the treaty relating to competition that 
each economic operator must determine independently the policy 
which he intends to adopt on the common market, including the 
choice of the persons and undertakings to whom he makes offers 
or sells.    

 
174  Although it is correct to say that this requirement of independence 

does not deprive economic operators of the right to adapt 
themselves intelligently to the existing and anticipated conduct of 
their competitors, it does, however strictly preclude any direct or 
indirect contact between such operators, the object or effect 
whereof is either to influence the conduct on the market of an 
actual or potential competitor or to disclose to such a competitor 
the course of conduct which they themselves have decided to adopt 
or contemplate adopting on the market.   

 
175  The documents quoted show that the applicants contacted each 

other and that they in fact pursued the aim of removing in advance 
any uncertainty as to the future conduct of their competitors.  

 
F. Agreement and/or Concerted Practice 

44. It is well established in European Community (“EC”) law that it is not 
necessary for the purposes of finding an infringement, to characterize 
conduct as exclusively an agreement or a concerted practice. In SA 
Hercules Chemicals v Commission22, the CFI in its decision in 1991, found 
that Hercules took part, over a period of years, in an integrated set of 
schemes constituting a single infringement, which progressively manifested 
itself in both unlawful agreements and unlawful concerted practices. As 
such, the European Commission was entitled to characterize that single 
infringement as “an agreement and a concerted practice” since the 
infringement involved at one and the same time factual elements to be 
characterized as “agreements” and factual elements to be characterized as 
“concerted practices”. The CFI held that the dual characterization by the 
European Commission of such a complex infringement must be understood 
not as requiring, simultaneously and cumulatively, proof that each of those 
factual elements presents the constituent elements both of an agreement and 

                                                 
22 Case T-7/89 [1991] ECR II-711. 
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of a concerted practice, but rather as referring to a complex whole 
comprising a number of factual elements some of which were characterized 
as agreements and others as concerted practices for the purposes of Article 
85(1), the predecessor of Article 81(1)23.      

45. Conduct may one and the same be a concerted practice and an agreement. 
In the case of The Community v Interbrew NV and others (re the Belgian 
beer cartel)24, where there were long term and complex restrictive 
agreements relating to the Belgian beer market, the European Commission 
in its decision in 2001, was of the view that it was not necessary, 
particularly in the context of a complex infringement over a long period, for 
the Commission to classify the infringement as consisting exclusively of 
one or the other form of illegal behaviour. The European Commission said,  

 
223 The concepts of “agreement” and “concerted practice” are variable 

and may overlap. Realistically, it may even be impossible to make 
such a distinction, since an infringement may simultaneously have 
the characteristics of both forms of prohibited behaviour, whereas, 
taken separately, some of its elements may correctly be regarded as 
one rather than the other form. It would also be artificial from an 
analytical point of view to split what is clearly a continuous, 
collective enterprise with a single objective into several forms of 
infringement. A cartel may for instance constitute an agreement 
and a concerted practice at the same time.  

46. In the UK, the Competition Appeal Tribunal (“CAT”) has taken the 
position that it is not necessary for the Office of Fair Trading (“OFT”) to 
characterise an infringement as either an agreement or a concerted practice; 
it is sufficient that the conduct in question amounts to one or the other. In 
JJB Sports plc and Allsports Limited v Office of Fair Trading25, the CAT 
held in its decision in 2004, that a supplier and two retailers were parties to 
the same agreement or concerted practice where the supplier, acting as an 
intermediary in passing on pricing information, dealt separately with the 
two retailers. In that case, the parties had either agreed to or confirmed their 
respective intentions not to discount from a certain price or at the very least 
knowingly gave an intimation or assurance to that effect26. Similarly, in 
Argos Limited and Littlewoods Limited v Office of Fair Trading27, the CAT 
in its decision in 2004, found that there had been two bilateral agreements 
or concerted practices which had operated in parallel.  

                                                 
23 Case T-7/89 [1991] ECR II-711 at paragraph 264. 
24 Case IV/37.614/F3 [2004] CMLR 2.  
25 [2004] CAT 17 at paragraph 654. 
26 [2004] CAT 17 at paragraph 207. 
27 [2004] CAT 24 at paragraph 778. 
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47. In the Polypropylene28case, where major suppliers of polypropylene were 
found to have met regularly to share the available market according to 
agreed tonnage or percentages and to set target prices, the European 
Commission in its decision in 1986, was of the view that the important 
distinction to be drawn in such cases is between collusive and non-collusive 
behaviour: 

 
The importance of the concept of a concerted practice does not thus result 
so much from the distinction between it and an ‘agreement’ as from the 
distinction between forms of collusion falling under Article 85(1) [now 
Article 81(1)] and mere parallel behaviour with no element of 
concertation.   

 
G. Object or Effect of Preventing, Restricting or Distorting Competition     

48. Section 34(1) of the Act prohibits “agreements between undertakings … or 
concerted practices, which have as their object or effect the prevention, 
restriction or distortion of competition within Singapore”. In accordance 
with its plain reading, “object” and “effect” are alternative and not 
cumulative requirements. 

49. The object of an agreement or concerted practice means not the subjective 
intention of the parties when entering into the agreement, but the objective 
meaning and purpose of the agreement considered in the economic context 
in which it is to be applied. Where an agreement has as its object the 
restriction of competition, it is unnecessary to prove that the agreement 
would have an anti-competitive effect in order to find an infringement of 
section 34.   

50. In Tréfilunion v Commission29, Tréfilunion SA admitted participating in 
several meetings concerning the Belgian and Dutch markets at which price 
agreements were concluded. However, it argued that those agreements had 
no influence on market shares. In response to such argument, the CFI in its 
decision in 1995, said 

 
79  … It must be stated that non-observance of the agreed prices does 

not change the fact that the object of those meetings was anti-
competitive and that, therefore the applicant participated in the 
agreements: at most, it might indicate that the applicant did not 
implement the agreements in question. There is no need to take 
account of the concrete effects of an agreement, for the purposes of 
applying Article 85(1) of the Treaty, where it appears, as it does in 

                                                 
28 Case 86/398 OJ 1986 L 230/1 at paragraph 87. 
29 Case T-148/89 [1995] ECR II-1063. 
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the case of the agreements referred to in the Decision, that the 
object pursued is to prevent, restrict or distort competition within 
the Common Market  

51. Similarly, there can be a concerted practice in the absence of an actual 
effect on the market. In P. Hüls AG v. Commission30, where it was found 
that a number of polypropylene producers had set target prices and operated 
a system of volume control to share the available market by an agreed 
tonnage or percentage, the ECJ in its decision in 1999, held that given that 
Hüls had participated regularly in meetings the purpose of which was to fix 
price and sales volume targets, the Commission did not have to adduce 
evidence that the concerted practice had manifested itself in conduct on the 
market or that it had had effects restrictive of competition. It followed from 
the actual text of Article 81(1) that concerted practices were prohibited, 
regardless of their effect, when they have an anti-competitive object31. 

52. In The Community v Interbrew NV and others (re the Belgian beer cartel)32, 
four brewers had discussed and exchanged information about customers, 
volumes and prices with regard to private-label beer in Belgium with the 
intent that whenever there was a new invitation to tender, there would be no 
undercutting of prices. The brewer who had the contract would bid his 
price, and the other would make a higher bid. The European Commission 
found it clear that the aim of these meetings were “firstly, to prevent a price 
war and adopt a position on prices and, secondly, to share out customers by 
not making (real) offers to the customers of other brewers.” The European 
Commission went on to hold that the aims of the meetings were clearly 
anti-competitive and that it was not necessary to show that their 
consequences were also harmful to competition33. 

53. In Argos Limited and Littlewoods Limited v OFT, the OFT had sought to 
support its case that there was a price-fixing agreement and/or concerted 
practice by drawing attention to the difference in prices in the relevant 
catalogues before the alleged agreements or concerted practices and the 
high degree of similarity in the relevant prices thereafter. In response, the 
CAT said 

 
357. However, the OFT does not in our judgment need to rely on the 

similarity of prices to prove its case if other evidence shows that 
relevant agreements or concerted practices came into existence. It 
is trite law that once it is shown that such agreements or practices 

                                                 
30 Case C-199/92 [1999] ECR I-4287. 
31 Case C-199/92 [1999] ECR I-4287 at paragraphs 164 to 168. 
32 Case IV/37.614/F3 [2004] CMLR 2.  
33 Case IV/37.614/F3 [2004] CMLR 2 at paragraph 254. 
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had the object of preventing, restricting or distorting competition, 
there is no need for the OFT to show what the actual effect was: 
see Cases 56 and 58/64 Consten and Grundig v Commission 
[1996] ECR 299, 342 and many subsequent cases. 

54. In respect of the OFT’s finding that there was in place an agreement or 
concerted practice between a manufacturer and retailers directed at 
maintaining the retailers’ selling prices at or near recommended retail 
prices (RRPs), a retailer argued that the industry had “innocently 
gravitated” towards RRPs in that it had, itself, moved to RRPs, a move 
which had been “correctly anticipated” by a competitor retailer.  The CAT 
rejected that argument and said 

 
708.  …If an agreement or concerted practice is established on the facts, 

the question of what the pricing position might have been in the 
absence of that agreement or concerted practice is irrelevant to the 
issue of liability.           

           The principle in this case, which also involved a vertical pricing 
arrangement (which is prohibited under the UK Competition Act but 
permitted under the Singapore Competition Act), is nonetheless applicable. 

 
H. Appreciably Prevent, Restrict or Distort Competition 

55. An agreement or concerted practice will fall within the scope of the section 
34 prohibition if it has as its object or effect the appreciable prevention, 
restriction or distortion of competition within Singapore. 

56. The Commission takes the view that an agreement and/or concerted 
practice will generally have no appreciable adverse effect on competition if 
the aggregate market share of the parties does not exceed 20% on any of the 
relevant markets affected by the agreement or concerted practice where the 
agreement or concerted practice is made between actual or potential 
competitors on any of the markets. The Commission also takes the view 
that agreements between small or medium enterprises (“SMEs”) are rarely 
capable of distorting competition appreciably34. 

57. However, the Commission regards agreements or concerted practices 
involving price-fixing, bid-rigging, market-sharing or output limitations as 
always having an appreciable adverse effect on competition, 
notwithstanding that the aggregate market share of the parties falls below 

                                                 
34 See paragraph 2.19 and footnote 3 of the CCS Guidelines on the Section 34 Prohibition where SMEs are 
defined as follows: For manufacturing SMEs, if they have Fixed Assets Investment (FAI) of less than S$15 
million; and for services SMEs, if they have less than 200 workers.  
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the 20% threshold and even if the parties to such agreements are SMEs35.   
The Commission notes that this is the view adopted by competition 
authorities and courts in jurisdictions such as the UK and the EC. 

 
I. Collusive Tendering or Bid-Rigging Arrangements 

58. The Commission regards collusive tendering or bid-rigging arrangements 
as restrictive of competition to an appreciable extent by their very nature36. 
Tendering procedures are designed to provide competition in areas where it 
might otherwise be absent. An essential feature of the system is that 
tenderers prepare and submit bids independently. Any tenders submitted as 
a result of collusion or co-operation between tenderers will, by their very 
nature, be regarded as restricting competition appreciably37.   

59. This is illustrated in the case of Apex Asphalt and Paving Co Limited v 
Office of Fair Trading [2005] CAT 4, where a building contractor, Apex 
had sent another building contractor, Briggs a fax containing figures for 
Briggs in respect of two projects with the Birmingham City Council for 
maintenance and improvement services for flat roofs. Briggs declined to 
quote but five contractors submitted bids, including Apex which was 
eventually awarded the contract. The CAT said this of the nature of the 
tendering process: 

 
208. The essential feature of a tendering process conducted by a local 

authority is the expectation on the part of the authority that it will 
receive, as a response to its tender, a number of independently 
articulated bids formulated by contractors wholly independent of 
each other. A tendering process is designed to produce competition 
in a very structured way. 
 

209. The importance of the independent preparation of bids is 
sometimes recognised in tender documentation by imposing a 
requirement on the tenderers to certify that they have not had any 
contact with each other in the preparation of their bids. This is 
important from the standpoint of the customer, since the tendering 
process is designed to identify the contractor that is prepared to 
make the most cost-effective bid. The competitive tendering 
process may be interfered with if the tenders submitted are not the 
result of individual economic calculation but of knowledge of the 
tenders by other participants or concertation between participants. 
Such behaviour by undertakings leads to conditions of competition 
which do not correspond to the normal conditions of the market.  

                                                 
35 See paragraph 2.20 of the CCS Guidelines on the Section 34 Prohibition. 
36 See paragraph 3.2 of the CCS Guidelines on the Section 34 Prohibition. 
37 See paragraph 3.8 of the CCS Guidelines on the Section 34 Prohibition. 
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210. When the tendering process is selective rather than open to all 

potential bidders, the loss of independence through knowledge of 
the intentions of other selected bidders can have an even greater 
distorting effect on the tendering process. In a selective tender 
process the contractors invited to tender will in general be those 
considered most likely to have the required specialist skills. The 
Tribunal understands that selective tendering is commonly used by 
local authorities (and others commissioning construction and 
maintenance work). Selective tendering processes ensure that the 
workload involved in analyzing the various bids submitted can be 
kept within manageable bounds.  
 

211. Accordingly, since the selective tendering process by its nature has 
a restricted number of bidders, any interference with the selected 
bidders’ independence can result in significant distortions of 
competition.  

60. The principle in Apex was followed by the OFT in a recent case in 2006, in 
which it had concluded that a number of roofing contractors had colluded in 
relation to the making of tender bids for flat roof and car park surfacing 
contracts  in England and Scotland38. In the case, the OFT set out the four 
types of agreements that can result in a pre-selected supplier winning the 
contract: 

 
a) Cover bidding or cover pricing occurs when a contractor that is not 

intending to win the contract, submits a price for it after 
communicating with the designated winner. The price is decided 
upon in conjunction with another contractor that wishes to win the 
contract. Cover pricing gives the impression of competitive 
bidding but, in reality, contractors agree to submit token bids that 
are higher than the bid of the contractor that is seeking the cover. 

 
b) Bid-suppression, which takes place when contractors agree 

amongst themselves either to abstain from bidding or to withdraw 
bids. 

 
c) Bid-rotation, which is a process whereby the pre-selected 

contractor submits the lowest bid on a systematic or rotating basis. 
 
d) Market division/sharing when contractors agree amongst 

themselves not to compete in designated geographic regions or for 
specific customers.  

                                                 
38 CA 98/01/2006 (Joined Cases CE/3123-03 and CE/3645-03). 
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61. In the Apex case, Apex, the building contractor, had argued that there was 
an innocent explanation for the submission of a cover bid because if a 
contractor fails to submit a realistic bid following an invitation, there is a 
significant risk that the tenderee will not approach it again or invite it to 
submit on the next occasion that an appropriate contract arises. The CAT 
found that such explanation did not absolve Apex of liability and said 

 
250. …Concertation the object of which is to deceive the tenderee into 

thinking that a bid is genuine when it is not, plainly forms part of 
the mischief which section 2 of the Act is seeking to prevent. The 
subjective intentions of a party to a concerted practice are 
immaterial where the obvious consequences of the conduct is to 
prevent, restrict or distort competition. 
 

251. We accept the submission of the OFT that submitting a cover-bid 
in these circumstances has an anti-competitive object or effect: 
 

a) it reduces the number of competitive bids submitted in respect of that 
particular tender; 

 
b) it deprives the tenderee of the opportunity of seeking a replacement 

(competitive) bid; 
 

c) it prevents other contractors wishing to place competitive bids in respect 
of that particular tender from doing so; 

 
d) it gives the tenderee a false impression of the nature of competition in the 

market, leading at least potentially to future tender processes being 
similarly impaired. 

62. Apex had also argued that the fact that Briggs, another building contractor, 
did not submit bids as per the figures contained in the fax meant that the 
conduct could not amount to a concerted practice. In rejecting this 
argument, the CAT said 

 
224. In our judgment the conduct of Apex and Briggs in Apex 

providing, and Briggs receiving and considering, a price for this 
purpose, has as its object the prevention, restriction or distortion of 
competition. The placing of a bid by Briggs at the price submitted 
or at all is not in our judgment a necessary ingredient for the 
conduct of Briggs and Apex to amount to a concerted practice. 

… 
 
235. …The principal object of the cooperation between Apex and 

Briggs was that Briggs would not win the contract. It was not that 
Briggs would put in a bid. We therefore accept the OFT’s 
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argument that it is immaterial that Briggs did not bid. Furthermore, 
that conclusion is consistent with the fact that once it is shown that 
the object of the concerted practice was anti-competitive, it is no 
longer necessary to show that it had an anti-competitive effect. 
 

236. We accept the submission of the OFT that the concerted practice is 
made out at a stage prior to consideration of whether the person 
receiving the price actually puts in a tender. We are satisfied that 
there was a concerted practice in place between Apex and Briggs 
to provide non-competitive prices such that Briggs would not win 
the FHH Contracts. The fact that in relation to the FHH Contracts 
Briggs did not put in a tender at all is not material to the question 
whether a concerted practice was in place. Likewise the reason for 
Briggs not putting in the tender is immaterial. 

 
J. Burden and Standard of Proof 

63. The burden of proof rests on the Commission to prove the infringements in 
question. Infringements of the section 34 prohibition are not classified as 
criminal offences, in contrast to the criminal offences created under 
sections 75 to 78 and 81 of the Act. Decisions taken by the Commission 
under the Act follow a purely administrative procedure. Directions and any 
penalties imposed are enforceable by civil proceedings under section 85 by 
registering the directions in a District Court in accordance with the Rules of 
Court. The structure of the Act points to the conclusion that the standard of 
proof to be applied in deciding whether an infringement of the section 34 
prohibition has been established is the civil standard, commonly known as 
the balance of probabilities. 

64. The Commission is mindful that an allegation of an infringement of the 
section 34 prohibition is a serious matter which may involve the issue of 
directions and the imposition of financial penalties. The quality and weight 
of the evidence must therefore be sufficiently strong before the 
Commission concludes that the allegation is established on a balance of 
probabilities. The evidence likely to be sufficiently convincing to prove an 
infringement will depend on the circumstances and the facts. In JJB Sports 
plc and Allsports Limited v OFT39, the CAT was of the view that given the 
hidden and secret nature of cartels where little or nothing may be 
committed in writing, even a single item of evidence, or wholly 
circumstantial evidence, depending on the particular context and the 
particular circumstances may be sufficient to meet the required standard. 

                                                 
39 [2004] CAT 17 at paragraph 206. 
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K. The relevant market 
 

(i)  Introduction 

65. The Commission recognises that market definition is the first step in a full 
competition analysis and that market definition can usually help determine 
if an agreement and/or concerted practice would have an appreciable 
adverse effect on competition under the section 34 prohibition40.  

66. However, a distinct market definition is not necessary in this case for the 
Commission to establish an infringement of the section 34 prohibition.  
Agreements and/or concerted practices that have as their object the 
prevention, restriction and distortion of competition by way of price fixing, 
collusive tendering or bid-rigging, market sharing or output limitations, are, 
by their very nature, regarded as preventing, restricting or distorting 
competition appreciably41.  The present case is such an example as it 
involves agreements and/or concerted practices involving collusive 
tendering or bid-rigging. 

67. The Commission notes that this is the position taken by the CAT in Argos 
Limited & Littlewoods Limited v Office of Fair Trading42, in which it was 
held: 

In our judgment, it follows that in Chapter I cases involving price-fixing it 
would be inappropriate for the OFT to be required to establish the relevant 
market with the same rigour as would be expected in a case involving the 
Chapter II prohibition. In a case such as the present, definition of the 
relevant product market is not intrinsic to the determination of liability, as 
it is in a Chapter II case. In our judgment, it would be disproportionate to 
require the OFT to devote resources to a detailed market analysis, where 
the only issue is the penalty.… In our view, it is sufficient for the OFT to 
show that it had a reasonable basis for identifying a certain product market 
for the purposes of Step 1 of its calculation. 

68. However, the exercise of defining the relevant product and geographic 
market is relevant for the purpose of assessing the appropriate level of 
penalties43, by providing a starting point. 

69. The process of defining the relevant market starts with the product that is 
the subject of investigation (“focal product”).  The next step is to define all 
the products that buyers regard as reasonable substitutes for the focal 
product, and then to identify all the sellers who supply the focal product 

                                                 
40 See paragraph 1.6 and 1.7 of the CCS Guidelines on Market Definition. 
41 See paragraph 3.2 of the CCS Guidelines on the Section 34 Prohibition. 
42 [2005] CAT 13 at paragraphs 178 and 179. 
43 See paragraph 2.1 of the CCS Guidelines on the Appropriate Amount of Penalty. 
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and its substitutes, or could potentially supply them.  This exercise of 
market definition includes defining the geographical reach of the relevant 
market, which may extend beyond the area under investigation and in 
which the focal product/service is sold.  

70. The relevant market will be identified according to the particular facts of 
the case in hand and the information available to the Commission. 

 
(ii) The Relevant Product Market 

71. As stated in paragraph 18 above, the Commission proposes to focus on the 
provision of termite control services in Singapore using termiticides in this 
Decision. In this context, the general observations of the Commission set 
out in Section I sub-section B “Background of the Termite Control 
Industry" should be noted. 

72. As a starting point for determining the relevant product market, the 
Commission adopted termite control services using the termiticide Agenda 
as the focal product given that the agreements and/or concerted practices at 
hand principally involved the use of Agenda. The issue then is whether the 
other three termiticides that are approved for use in Singapore by the NEA 
stated in paragraph 20, namely, Chlorpyrifos, Imidacloprid (Premise) and 
Fenvalerate (Wazary), may be considered potential substitutes for Agenda. 

73. The four termiticides can be divided into two groups – repellent and non-
repellent termiticides. Repellent termiticides kill termites in the treated area 
on contact and act as a repellent barrier preventing termites from re-
entering a treated area. Due to soil movement, gaps may appear, breaking 
the barrier, allowing termites to gain entry through the gaps and leading to 
recurrence of termite infestations. Chlorpyrifos and Wazary are repellent 
termiticides. 

74. Non-repellent termiticides (also known as colony management 
termiticides), on the other hand, do not kill or repel termites immediately 
upon contact. These termiticides have a slower reacting effect and work by 
allowing termites passing through the treated area to come into contact with 
the termiticide and return to the termite nest/colony to transfer the 
termiticide to other termites in the nest/colony before dying, leading to 
colony elimination. Agenda and Premise are colony management 
termiticides. 
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75. The Commission understands from statements given by the relevant 
personnel of the Parties44 that termite control services using repellent 
termiticides (Chlorpyrifos and Wazary) are significantly cheaper than 
termite control services using colony management termiticides (Premise 
and Agenda).  On average, termite control services using colony 
management termiticides cost about twice as much, as compared to using 
repellent termiticides, on a linear meter basis45. 

76. The Commission considers that as the two groups of termiticides have 
different product characteristics, customers will decide which termiticide to 
use, based on their preferences and circumstances. Specifically, customers 
will select which termiticide to use for termite treatment based on the 
nature of the property/structure to be treated and the severity of termite 
infestation. The Commission understands that colony management 
termiticides are more effective at controlling severe termite infestations 
compared with repellent termiticides, given their colony management 
characteristics, and the lower probability of recurrence46.  Where the 
customers are more concerned with the bottomline or are more price-
sensitive, they are more likely to use repellent termiticides over colony 
management termiticides due to the significant price difference between the 
two. On the other hand, the use of colony management termiticides is 
popular where cost is less of an issue and effectiveness of treatment is more 
essential. 

77. In addition, the Commission notes that there is a difference in treatment 
technique using Agenda and Premise. For Agenda, corrective treatment 
only requires application along the external perimeter of a treatment site. 
On the other hand, Premise requires application along both the internal and 
external perimeter of a treatment site and that would mean drilling and 

                                                 
44 See Answer to Question 17 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 12 Jan 2007, 
Answer to Question 8 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 8 Jan 2007, 
Answer to Question 42 of Andrew Chan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 27 Feb 2007, and 
Answer to Question 33 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 30 Mar 2007. 
45 From our investigations, it would appear that there are minimum prices for post-construction Premise and 
Agenda treatment at $50 and $70 per linear meter respectively. There is no minimum price for Chlorpyrifos 
and Wazary treatment and the average post-construction price charged is probably about $15-$20 and $25-
$35 per linear meter respectively. See Answers to Question 66 and 67 of Francis Loh’s Notes of 
Information/Explanation Provided on 12 Jan 2007, Answer to Question 175 of Harry Singh’s Notes of 
Information/Explanation Provided on 14 February 2007, and Answer to Question 2 of Peter Fernandis’ 
Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 January 2007.  
46 See Answer to Question 42 of John Ho’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 30 March 2007, 
Answer to Question 17 of Loe Ching Heng’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 27 March 
2007, Answer to Question 19 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 12 January 
2007, Answer to Question 24 of Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 14 February 
2007, and Answer to Question 43 and 44 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of 
Information/Explanation Provided on 28 April 2007. 
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coring holes into an existing structure47, for example, into the floor of a 
house, which would result in a lot of inconvenience for the occupants.  
Agenda Treatment also comes with a longer manufacturer-backed warranty 
against re-infestation: five years as opposed to three years for Premise. 
Accordingly, where price is a secondary consideration, customers will opt 
for Agenda to be spared the inconvenience and for a longer warranty 
period. 

78. From the information stated in paragraphs 73 to 77 above, the Commission 
considers that repellent termiticides may not be considered good 
substitutes48 for colony management termiticides, given their distinct 
product characteristics and the different customer segments that they would 
normally cater to. 

79. As far as the use of Agenda for termite treatment and control is concerned, 
Agenda is distributed exclusively for use by the AAAs in Singapore. Other 
PCOs are not able to provide Agenda Treatment given that they will not be 
able to obtain supplies of Agenda from Bentz Jaz, the sole distributor in 
Singapore. In effect, the only competitors that an AAA may face for 
Agenda-specified corrective termite treatment projects are other AAAs. 

80. The Commission notes that although the use of Agenda is restricted to the 
AAAs, non-AAA PCOs in Singapore may be able to obtain and use 
termiticides which contain the same active ingredient as Agenda (i.e. 
Fipronil), through the parallel import of these termiticides from countries 
such as Malaysia, Vietnam, China, Australia and the Philippines49. These 
parallel imported termiticides with Fipronil as the active ingredient, are 
either manufactured by Bayer (the same company which produces Agenda) 
or are generics containing Fipronil which are imported from China. 

81. The Commission notes that while these parallel-imported termiticides with 
similar chemical characteristics as Agenda, may be considered a substitute 

                                                 
47 See Answer to Question 18 and 31 of Jacqueline Ng’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 15 
May 2007, Answer to Question 77 of Jessie Yeoh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 8 May 
2007, Answers to Question 33 and 34 of Nicck Yeong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 8 
May 2007, and Answer to Question 16 and 17 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided 
on 27 February 2007. 
48 See Answer to Question 30 of Jacqueline Ng’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 15 May 
2007. 
49 See Answer to Question 3 of Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 7 March 
2007, Answer to Question 43 of Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 14 February 
2007,  Answer to Question 33, 34 and 51 of Andrew Chan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 
27 February 2007, and Answer to Question 76-81 of Steph Chua’s Notes of Information/Explanation 
Provided on 7 February 2007. 
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for Agenda50, there are several differences between the use of Agenda and 
the use of parallel imported Fipronil.  Specifically, Agenda is an emulsion 
concentrate (“EC”) termiticide, while parallel imported substitutes are 
suspended concentrate (“SC”) termiticides.  This means that Agenda (EC) 
used in Singapore is oil-based and is environmentally safer, as it will not 
leech into the water table near treated areas, while parallel imports (SC) is 
water-based and may raise water pollution concerns51.  In addition, termite 
control services using parallel imported generics do not come with a 
manufacturer-backed 5-year warranty52. 

82. The Commission also notes that Premise is exclusively distributed in 
Singapore for use by the PPPs only (the PPP group comprises eight or nine 
PCOs). Other PCOs are not able to provide Premise treatment, given that 
they will not be able to obtain supplies of Premise from Agro Technic Pte 
Ltd, the sole local distributor. Further, out of the eight or nine PPPs, four 
are AAAs (namely, Elite, Killem, PestBusters and Rentokil) and there is a 
limited extent as to how much competitive constraint will be posed by 
Premise as a substitute In this respect, the Commission understands that 
some of the PCOs who sell both Agenda and Premise favour using Agenda 
over Premise in corrective termite treatment. This is because Agenda is 
more effective and easier to apply, i.e., application along the external 
perimeter of a treatment site for Agenda compared with application along 
both the internal and external perimeters of a treatment site for Premise)53.    

83. The Commission considers that the relevant product market may extend 
beyond Agenda Treatment to include termite treatment or control using 
parallel-imported Fipronil or other termiticides. However, as set out earlier, 
a distinct market definition is not necessary in this case for the Commission 
to establish an infringement of the section 34 prohibition. The exercise of 
defining the relevant product market is undertaken purely for the purpose of 
calculating penalties.  In order to avoid any detriment to the Parties, the 
Commission considers that it is most appropriate in the present case to 

                                                 
50 See Answer to Question 82 of Steph Chua’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 7 February 
2007, Answer to Question 38, 82 and 85 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information Explanation Provided on 27 
February 2007.  
51 See Answer to Question 82 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information Explanation Provided on 27 February 
2007. 
52 See Answer to Question 84 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 27 February 
2007. 
53 See Answer to Question 18 and 31 of Jacqueline Ng’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 15 
May 2007, Answer to Question 17, 27 and 43 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s  Notes of 
Information/Explanation Provided on 28 April 2007, Answer to Question 15, 24 and 33 of Nicck Yeong’s  
Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 8 May 2007, Answer to Question 8 of Peter Fernandis’ 
Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 8 January 2007, and Answer to Question 12 of Peter 
Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 30 May 2007.  
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calculate penalties on the basis of a narrower market (i.e. that of termite 
control services using Agenda). 

 
(iii) The Relevant Geographic Market 

84. For the same reason above, the Commission considers that a distinct 
geographic market definition is not necessary in this case for the 
Commission to establish an infringement of the section 34 prohibition. For 
the purposes of calculating relevant turnover and determining penalties in 
this case, the Commission considers that the relevant geographic market is 
Singapore, as a customer for such services would usually choose a supplier 
in Singapore.  

 
L. The Evidence relating to the Agreements and/or Concerted Practices, the 
Commission's Analysis of the Evidence and the Commission’s Conclusions on 
the Infringements 

85. The structure of analysis of each infringement is as follows: 
a) an outline of the facts and evidence; 
b) the Commission's analysis of evidence; and 
c) the Commission's conclusions on the infringement. 

 
(i) Raffles Hotel 
 
The facts and the evidence  

86. On 5 May 2006, Hospitalitybex Pte Ltd (“Hospitalitybex”), on behalf of 
Raffles Hotel Singapore, issued a request for proposal on corrective 
treatment / slab injection against subterranean termites at Raffles Hotel 
(“the RH Tender”) to four pest control operators, namely, PestBusters, 
Rentokil, Aardwolf and Origin Exterminators Pte Ltd54.  

87. Three pest control operators attended the site visit conducted on 9 May 
200655.  At the close of the RH Tender on 15 May 2006, all four invited 
pest control operators had submitted the following proposals: 

 

                                                 
54 See tabulation of the Tender Results dated 2 June 2006 provided by Hospitalitybex to the Commission at 
a meeting on 26 September 2006 and email from Hospitalitybex to the Commission dated 6 October 2006 
at 9.26am. These documents were subsequently marked as Exhibit HB-2 and HB-10 respectively.  
55 See tabulation of the Tender Results dated 2 June 2006 provided by Hospitalitybex to the Commission at 
a meeting on 26 September 2006 which showed that Aardwolf’s representative did not attend the site visit. 
The document was subsequently marked as Exhibit HB-2. 
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Name of pest control 
operator submitting 

proposal56

 

Proposal Price Date on proposal 

PestBusters S$114,000 (S$98,000 for Agenda 
Treatment and S$16,000 for 
installation of Exterra baiting 
stations) 

11 May 2006 

Aardwolf S$122,000 (Agenda Treatment) 15 May 2006 
Origin Exterminators 
Pte Ltd 

S$126,980 (Exterra Termite 
Interception &  Baiting System) 

15 May 2006 

Rentokil S$128,800 (Agenda Treatment) No date stated 
 

88. Attached to Aardwolf’s tender proposal was an email exchange on 10 May 
2006 on the RH tender between Patrick Chong (Aardwolf) and Peter 
Fernandis (PestBusters) indicative of collusive tendering.   Joseph Ong 
(Rentokil) was also a recipient of the originating email57. 

89. The RH Tender was voided58 and a new tender called on 12 September 
200659. Three additional pest control operators, including New Concept 
Enterprise Pte Ltd (“New Concept Enterprise”), were invited to submit 
proposals in the new tender.60 The project was subsequently awarded to 
New Concept Enterprise on 3 January 200761. 

90. During our investigations62, we uncovered a number of email exchanges 
between 9 May and 11 May 2006 involving PestBusters, Aardwolf and 
Rentokil. They are as follows:  

 

 
 
                                                 
56 Proposals provided by Hospitalitybex to the Commission at a meeting on 26 September 2006. These 
proposals were subsequently marked as Exhibits HB-6, HB-7, HB-8 and HB-9. 
57 See Aardwolf’s proposal provided by Hospitalitybex to the Commission at a meeting on 26 September 
2006. The proposal was subsequently marked as Exhibit HB-7. 
58 See email from Hospitalitybex to the Commission dated 26 September 2006 at 11.35am. The email was 
subsequently marked as Exhibit HB-4. 
59 See email from Hospitalitybex to the Commission dated 6 October 2006 at 9.26am. The email was 
subsequently marked as Exhibit HB-11. 
60 See tabulation of the Tender Results dated 27 September 2006 provided by Hospitalitybex to the 
Commission at a meeting on 5 January 2007. The tabulation was subsequently marked as Exhibit HB-14. 
61 See email from Hospitalitybex to the Commission dated 27 December 2006 at 4 pm. 
62 Email exchanges provided by Peter Fernandis during the Commission’s entry into PestBusters’ premises 
on 23 November 2006 respectively pursuant to Section 64 of the Act. 
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(a) Email from Peter Fernandis to Patrick Chong and Joseph Ong of 9 May 
2006:  

 
“From: Peter Fernandis 
Date: 05/09/06 17:18:33 
To: ‘Joseph Ong – Rentokil\(Email\)’; ‘Patrick Chong\(Email\)’ 
Subject: Raffles Hotel Termite quote  
 
Hi Guys, 
 
Thanks for your support. I will give you the costing for Agenda and Exterra 
Baiting by tomorrow. 
 
Cheers 
 
PETER FERNANDIS 
PestBusters Pte Ltd 
140 Paya Lebar Road 
#08-06 A – Z Building 
Singapore 409015 
Tel: (65) 62882828 
Fax: (65) 67487388 
Mob: (65) 98563283 
E-Mail: peterfernandis@pestbusters.com.sg 
Website: www.pestbusters.com.sg” 

 
(b) Email response from Patrick Chong to Peter Fernandis of 9 May 2006: 

 
“From: Patrick [Patrick@aardwolfpestkare.com] 
Date: Tuesday, May 09, 2006 5:30 PM 
To: Peter Fernandis 
Cc: Jenny Law; Julia Chew 
Subject: Re: Raffles Hotel Termite quote  
 
Peter, sorry we did not turn up today. I confused the sales. 
 
We will call Dickson to notify that we are quoting. Will await your details 
before quoting. 
 
All the best. 
 
Patrick Chong” 
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(c) Email from Peter Fernandis to Patrick Chong and Joseph Ong of 10 May 
2006: 

 
“From: Peter Fernandis 
Date: 05/10/06 12:47:37 
To: ‘Patrick Chong\(Email\)’; ‘Joseph Ong – Rentokil\(Email\)’  
Subject: Raffles Hotel   
 
Hi Pat/Joseph, 
 
Could you quote for corrective treatment with Agenda for entire landscape 
areas abutting the building and along roadside landscape area along North 
Bridge Road and Bras Basah Road including crawl space of Blocks C & D 
above $120,000. 
 
To install termite baiting station around the planters areas at Palm Garden, 
Palm Court, the Lawn & Fern Court above $48k.  
 
Thank you for your support owe you guys. 
 
PETER FERNANDIS 
PestBusters Pte Ltd 
140 Paya Lebar Road 
#08-06 A – Z Building 
Singapore 409015 
Tel: (65) 62882828 
Fax: (65) 67487388 
Mob: (65) 98563283 
E-Mail: peterfernandis@pestbusters.com.sg 
Website: www.pestbusters.com.sg” 

 
(d) Email response from Patrick Chong to Peter Fernandis of 10 May 2006: 

 
“From: Patrick [Patrick@aardwolfpestkare.com] 
Date: Wednesday, May 10, 2006 3:44 PM 
To: Peter Fernandis; Julia Chew; Jenny Law 
Subject: Re: Raffles Hotel  
 
Peter, will do. Julia will work on this and will contact you if she needs 
more info. All the best as always. 
 
Julia – Please work on this. Thanks. 
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Cheers… 
Patrick Chong” 

 
(e) Email response from Joseph Ong to Peter Fernandis of 11 May 2006: 

 
“From: Joseph Ong [josephong@rentokil.com.sg] 
Date: Thursday, May 11, 2006 8:10 AM 
To: Peter Fernandis 
Subject: Re: Raffles Hotel  
 
Peter,  
 
We will not quote for this project, will explain when next time we meet up. 
 
Best of luck for this project. 
 
Joseph Ong 
General Manager, Rentokil Pest Control 
 
Rentokil Initial (S) Pte Ltd 
16 & 18 Jalan Mesin 
Singapore 368815 
Tel: 65-63478138 
Fax: 65-63478102 
www.rentokil-initial.com 
Co Reg. No :195900145N” 

 
(f) Second email response from Joseph Ong to Peter Fernandis of 11 May 

2006: 
 

“From: Joseph Ong [josephong@rentokil.com.sg] 
Date: Thursday, May 11, 2006 8:50 AM 
To: Peter Fernandis 
Subject: Re: Raffles Hotel  
 
Peter,  
 
Please ignore earlier email. Will quote only $120K for agenda and not 
baiting station as we don’t have it. 
 
Joseph Ong 
General Manager, Rentokil Pest Control 
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Rentokil Initial (S) Pte Ltd 
16 & 18 Jalan Mesin 
Singapore 368815 
Tel: 65-63478138 
Fax: 65-63478102 
www.rentokil-initial.com 
Co Reg. No :195900145N” 

91. In brief, the email exchange started on 9 May 2006 with Peter Fernandis 
thanking Patrick Chong and Joseph Ong for their support and telling them 
that he would provide the costing for both Agenda and Exterra baiting 
stations the next day. Patrick Chong replied on the same day that he would 
await details from Peter Fernandis before quoting. He copied his reply to 
Julia Chew (Patrick Chong’s wife), a senior Aardwolf surveyor and Jenny 
Law, Aardwolf’s sales manager.    

92. On 10 May 2006, Peter Fernandis emailed Patrick Chong and Joseph Ong 
with a request to quote above S$120,000 for Agenda Treatment and above 
S$48,000 for installing termite baiting stations. Patrick Chong emailed 
“will do” and instructed Julia Chew to follow up.  

93. Although Joseph Ong initially emailed Peter Fernandis on 11 May 2006 
that Rentokil would not be submitting any proposal for the RH Tender, 
Joseph Ong sent another email shortly thereafter, agreeing to quote 
S$120,000 for Agenda Treatment but not for baiting stations, which 
Rentokil did not have.   

94. Interview of PestBusters personnel63 - Peter Fernandis said that PestBusters 
had been the existing general pest control contractor for Raffles Hotel and 
had had a good working relationship with their staff64. When he was 
approached by the Raffles Hotel Chief Engineer in 2005 on how much to 
set aside for termite control services in 2006, he had advised a sum of 
S$120,00065.  

95. Peter Fernandis said that before sending his email of 9 May 2006, he had 
spoken to Patrick Chong and Joseph Ong, who confirmed that Aardwolf 
and Rentokil had been invited to the site show round at Raffles Hotel66.  

                                                 
63 See Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 8 and 10 January 2007 and 30 May 
2007. 
64 See Answer to Question 43 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 8 January 
2007. 
65 See Answer to Question 55 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 8 January 
2007. 
66 See Answer to Question 46 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 8 January 
2007. 
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When he informed them that PestBusters was the existing pest control 
contractor for Raffles Hotel, they in turn told him that they would not take 
this contract away from him.  

96. After the site show round on 9 May 2006, Peter Fernandis called Patrick 
Chong and Joseph Ong to tell them that he would be quoting using Agenda 
and Exterra Baiting, that he would be giving them the costing and they 
could support him by quoting above the costing. After they agreed to 
support him, Peter Fernandis followed up with the 9 May 2006 email 
referred to in paragraph 90(a) to thank them for their support67. The next 
day, he sent the figures in the email referred to in paragraph 90(c) 68.  

97. When asked how he had arrived at $120,000 for corrective treatment with 
Agenda and $48,000 for the installation of termite baiting stations stated in 
his 10 May 2006 email to Patrick Chong and Joseph Ong, he stated69: 

 
A:  …It was an estimated costing for Agenda based on my experience with 

RH, my feel during the showround and based on the minimum price of 
$70 per linear meter. I am asking them to quote above the prices and I will 
quote below the prices. For the baiting system, it is a lump sum figure 
based on the number of visits to be made by my men. 

98. Peter Fernandis understood the email response by Patrick Chong in 
paragraph 90(d) to be a confirmation that the latter would quote at the 
figures stated in his email in paragraph 90(c) and the response from Joseph 
Ong in paragraph 90(f) to be an affirmative reply to his request for 
support70. Peter Fernandis was not aware why Joseph Ong had changed his 
mind on not submitting a quote. 

99. Peter Fernandis also said that he had called Philip Tan (Alliance) and 
Francis Loh (Elite) to ask if Alliance and Elite had been invited to the site 
show round at Raffles Hotel71. When they told him that they had not been 
invited, he hung up72. He did not inform them that he was the resident pest 

                                                 
67 See Answer to Question 47 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 8 January 
2007. 
68 See Answer to Question 48 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 8 January 
2007. 
69 See Answer to Question 48 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 8 January 
2007. 
70 See Answers to Questions 49 and 50 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 8 
January 2007. 
71 See Answer to Question 46 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 8 January 
2007 and Answer to Question 5 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 30 May 
2007. 
72 See Answer to Question 5 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 30 May 
2007. 
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control contractor at Raffles Hotel73. However, he stated that if Alliance 
and Elite knew he was the resident pest control contractor at Raffles Hotel 
which, according to him, was well known in the industry, they would know 
that he was calling to request for a support quote74.  

100. He stated that he did not call Harry Singh (Killem) on the RH Tender as he 
did not communicate well with him75. 

101. Interview of Rentokil personnel76 – Joseph Ong said that when Peter 
Fernandis called to tell him that PestBusters was the general pest contractor 
for Raffles Hotel and asked Rentokil to provide a support quote77, he 
agreed.  Peter Fernandis then sent the email of 9 May 2006 referred to in 
paragraph 90(a) thanking him and Patrick Chong for verbally agreeing to 
provide a support quote and promising to revert with the costs for Agenda 
and Exterra treatment78. Joseph Ong also confirmed receiving Peter 
Fernandis’ email the next day asking them to quote above S$120,000 for 
termite treatment using Agenda and above S$48,000 for baiting stations79.  

102. Joseph Ong said that he had initially emailed on 10 May 2006 to Peter 
Fernandis that he would not quote for the project because he had found out 
that his subordinate, Nicck Yeong, had already surveyed Raffles Hotel 
before Peter Fernandis’ call80. It would seem that Rentokil had an 
understanding that it would put in a support quote at a higher price only if 
requested to do so, before a site show round81. After his initial email, Peter 
Fernandis had called for his help in getting Rentokil to put in a quote as 
Raffles Hotel only wanted proposals from the big companies.  Joseph Ong 

                                                 
73 See Answer to Question 7 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 30 May 
2007. 
74 See Answer to Question 6 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 30 May 
2007. 
75 See Answer to Question 3 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 30 May 
2007. 
76 See Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 30 April 2007 and 
Nicck Yeong’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 8 May 2007. 
77 See Answers to Questions 2, 9 & 11 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of 
Information/Explanation Provided on 30 April 2007. 
78 See Answer to Question 11 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information/Explanation 
Provided on 30 April 2007. 
79 See Answer to Question 13 & 14 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information/Explanation 
Provided on 30 April 2007. 
80 See Answer to Question 16 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information/Explanation 
Provided on 30 April 2007. 
81 See Answer to Question 69 of Nicck Yeong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 8 May 
2007. 
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then agreed to help Peter Fernandis and sent the email referred to in 
paragraph 90(f) to indicate his change of mind82.    

103. Joseph Ong said that Rentokil’s quote at $128,800 for Agenda Treatment at 
Raffles Hotel was in line with his instructions to Nicck Yeong, his 
subordinate, to quote at about $128,000 to provide support to Peter 
Fernandis. Nicck Yeong had intended to quote at S$106,610 based on S$70 
per linear metre on a measurement of 1523 linear metres for the project, but 
Joseph Ong told him that they had received a request for a support quote 
and they had to abide by the agreement to put in a support quote above 
S$128,00083.  According to Joseph Ong, Rentokil’s quote was at $128,800 
as they did not want to quote a round figure84. Had he not agreed to provide 
a support quote, Rentokil would have quoted at about S$106,000 to 
S$107,000, based on S$70 per linear meter85.  

104. Nicck Yeong confirmed that he had initially prepared a proposal for 
S$106,610 based on his site measurements of 1523 linear meters at S$70 
per linear meter86. When he went to see Joseph Ong with the proposal, 
Joseph Ong told him of the support quote arrangement and to quote a 
higher price. They eventually agreed to quote at S$128,00087. The support 
quote arrangement was not new to Nicck Yeong because Joseph Ong had 
previously told the entire sales team that there was an arrangement with 
Rentokil’s competitors for each AAA to put in a support quote at a higher 
price if they were requested to do so before the site show round. This would 
apply to cases where a tender involving Agenda treatment was being called 
by an existing client of the AAA making the request for support88. When 
Nicck Yeong was shown Peter Fernandis’ email of 10 May 2006, which 
stated the areas for corrective termite treatment using Agenda, he confirmed 
that Rentokil’s proposal was for the same areas priced at $128,800, higher 
than the $120,000 stated in the email89. Nicck Yeong said that if Joseph 

                                                 
82 See Answer to Question 20 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information/Explanation 
Provided on 30 April 2007. 
83 See Answer to Question 32 and 33 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of 
Information/Explanation Provided on 30 April 2007. 
84 See Answer to Question 37 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information/Explanation 
Provided on 30 April 2007. 
85 See Answer to Question 44 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information/Explanation 
Provided on 30 April 2007. 
86 See Answer to Question 62 of Nicck Yeong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 8 May 
2007. 
87 See Answer to Question 80 of Nicck Yeong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 8 May 
2007. 
88 See Answers to Question 69 to 76 of Nicck Yeong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 8 
May 2007. 
89 See Answer to Question 102 to 103 of Nicck Yeong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 8 
May 2007. 
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Ong had not agreed to put in a support quote, Rentokil’s proposal would 
have been about S$106,000 based on S$70 per linear metre90. 

105. Interview of Aardwolf personnel91 - Patrick Chong confirmed that Peter 
Fernandis had called him on the RH tender before he received the latter’s 
email dated 9 May 2006 referred to in paragraph 90(a).  He said that he did 
not know why Peter Fernandis had thanked him. He added, however, that 
whenever an AAA approached him for support, he would always agree and 
channel the request to his sales team92.  

106. He understood Peter Fernandis’ email dated 9 May 2006 in paragraph 90(a) 
as a request by Peter Fernandis for both him and Joseph Ong to support 
PestBusters by submitting a proposal at a price higher than that specified by 
Peter Fernandis to help PestBusters get the project93. Patrick Chong said 
that he copied his reply to Peter Fernandis on 9 May 2006 to Julia Chew, 
who was supposed to attend the site show round and to Jenny Law, Julia 
Chew’s reporting officer94. He also said that while his email response  
referred to in paragraph 90(d) was an agreement to support Peter Fernandis 
and quote as he requested, it was his “usual pleasantries” and he was just 
giving Peter Fernandis the impression that he was going to support him95, 
when in fact, he wanted Aardwolf to compete for the project96.  

107. Patrick Chong said that he did not give any instructions to Julia Chew or 
Jenny Law when he channelled Peter Fernandis’ request to them97. Julia 
Chew would have used the figures stated in Peter Fernandis’ email dated 10 
May 2006 to Aardwolf’s advantage. Had she not known of the figures, she 
would have quoted a higher figure than the S$122,000 stated in Aardwolf’s 
quotation98. As such, Aardwolf benefited from knowing the figures given. 
While Patrick Chong did not know how Julia Chew arrived at Aardwolf’s 

                                                 
90 See Answer to Question 114 of Nicck Yeong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 8 May 
2007. 
91 See Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information / Explanation Provided on 2 April 2007 and Julia Chew’s 
Notes of Information / Explanation Provided on 2 April 2007. 
92 See Answer to Question 9 and 10 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information / Explanation Provided on 2 
April 2007. 
93 See Answer to Question 10 to 16 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 
April 2007. 
94 See Answer to Question 18 to 21 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 
April 2007. 
95 See Answer to Question 28 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
96 See Answer to Question 11 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
97 See Answer to Question 44 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
98 See Answer to Question 20, 40 to 42 and 47 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation 
Provided on 2 April 2007. 
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proposal of S$122,00099, he believed that Aardwolf’s figure was lower than 
PestBusters’ because PestBusters would have quoted a total of $168,000 
(S$120,000 for Agenda Treatment and $48,000 for Exterra baiting 
stations)100. However, when asked to clarify if Aardwolf’s proposal at 
S$122,000 was for termite control using mainly Agenda and that this figure 
was above the S$120,000 figure for termite treatment using Agenda101 
given by Peter Fernandis, he agreed. 

108. Julia Chew said that as she did not attend the site show round, she went for 
a Raffles Hotel site visit on another day and was given a plan with a scale 
from which she worked out the quote of S$122,000102. She was unable to 
produce any internal working papers to show how she had arrived at 
S$122,000, saying that her paperwork was very bad103.  

109. She was unable to say how many linear metres the project entailed or the 
price per linear metre she had used for the quote.  She said that she had 
applied a mark-up on the figure of S$70 per linear metre104. She had also 
costed in S$2,720 for a TermiCam105 inspection (infrared thermal imaging 
to detect termites) based on S$680 per man day for 4 man-days and 
S$4,000 to S$5,000 for a 5-day job for the rodding of trees106 (injection of 
termiticide around the base of trees). According to Julia Chew, baiting 
stations are needed only where there is infestation107. The quote would have 
included the installation of termite baiting stations around the planter areas 
at Palm Garden, Palm Court, The Lawn and Fern Court if termites were 
found108.  

110. Aardwolf’s quotation dated 15 May 2006 states:- 

                                                 
99 See Answer to Question 36 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
100 See Answer to Question 24, 35 and 42 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information / Explanation Provided 
on 2 April 2007. 
101 See Answer to Question 35 and 43 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information / Explanation Provided on 2 
April 2007. 
102 See Answers to Questions 105 to 107, 204 & 231 of Julia Chew’s Notes of Information / Explanation 
Provided on 2 April 2007. 
103 See Answer to Question 108 of Julia Chew’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
104 See Answer to Question 117 of Julia Chew’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
105 Aardwolf holds the franchise in Singapore for TermiCam, the technology of using thermal imaging to 
detect termite infestations in houses and buildings. 
106 See Answer to Question 85 to 93, 107 & 122 of Julia Chew’s Notes of Information/Explanation 
Provided on 2 April 2007. 
107 See Answer to Question 90 of Julia Chew’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
108 See Answer to Question 113 of Julia Chew’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
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(a) We will conduct a thorough inspection to determine areas of Subterranean 

Termite infestation and “smoke” the shelter mud tubes with a Termiticide 
Dust to effectively eradicate the Termite colony. This Termiticide Dust is 
non-arsenic and is a special formulation developed by Aardwolf Pestkare. 

 
(b) We will next use an Electronic Cable Detector to trace the live-electrical 

supply lines underground so as to prevent damage to them. 
 
(c) Injection holes of 18 mm diameter each (about the size of a 10-cent coin) 

are then created at 300 mm intervals and 150 mm distance from the wall, 
along the concrete external perimeter walls of the building. 

 
(d) 5 litres of Termiticide solution are pressure-injected into each hole so that 

a Termiticide Zone is created immediately underneath the building soil 
structure. Where necessary Trenching will be carried out to reinforce the 
Treated Zone. 

 
(e) Each hole is then painstakingly sealed with granite chips (to reinforce the 

base) and waterproof cement, and finally touched-up with the appropriate 
surface materials.  

 
According to Julia Chew, items (a) to (e) were standard procedures for 
Agenda Treatment109.  

111. Julia Chew also said that she should have received the emails Patrick 
Chong copied to her as referred to in paragraph 90(b) and (d)110. Her 
response to the email in paragraph 90(b) was to wait and see the costing 
from Peter Fernandis before doing her costing111. Her understanding of the 
email in paragraph 90(d) was that Patrick Chong had agreed to quote above 
S$120,000 for Agenda Treatment and above S$48,000 for baiting stations 
and that she was to work out a quote above S$120,000 based on those 
figures112. Julia Chew said that Patrick Chong did not speak to her on the 
emails. She also said that she did not follow Patrick Chong’s instructions in 
the email. Her interview notes in this respect are reproduced below113: 

 

                                                 
109 See Answer to Question 104 of Julia Chew’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
110 See Answer to Question 211 of Julia Chew’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007 
111 See Answer to Question 206 of Julia Chew’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007 
112 See Answer to Question 215 to 216 and 218 of Julia Chew’s Notes of Information / Explanation 
Provided on 2 April 2007. 
113 See Julia Chew’s Notes of Information / Explanation Provided on 2 April 2007. 
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Q222. How did you use the information in these emails in your quotation of May 
2006? 

A: I don’t remember whether I have worked out the costing based on Peter’s 
figures or whether I did my own costing.  

 
Q223. You can see from JC-3 that AW submitted a quote of $122,000 for 

Agenda treatment in May 2006. Are you saying that it is not based on this 
email? 

A: I don’t think I have costed based on what Peter said because I did not cost 
in the baiting stations as Peter wanted me to.  

 
Q224. But you agree that the Agenda quote is higher than Peter’s figures? 
A: Yes but I wanted to quote to get this project but I did not follow what he 

told me to do. Assuming he has quoted $100,000, I will take the extra 
$22,000 I quoted to do my anti-termite treatment and rodding.  

 
Q225. Why did you assume that he will quote $100,000? 
A: I don’t know. I am just thinking. 
 
Q226. If you know that Peter is asking you to quote above $120,000 and you 

want to win the project, why did you not quote below $120,000? 
A: Because I remember that my costing cannot go below $120,000 because I 

would have to include Termi-Cam and rodding. 
 
Q227. The difference is just $2,000 and it is a big project which you want to get. 

Why did you not go to Jenny or Patrick to ask for permission to go below 
$120,000? 

A: I don’t think it is something I have to ask them. 
 
Q228. Why not? 
A: It never occurred to me.  
 
Q229. You said that Patrick did not speak to you about the emails? 
A: No, he did not speak to me. 
 
Q230. So in Patrick’s mind, you would put in a quote higher than Peter’s quote to 

support him to increase Peter’s chances of getting a quote? 
A: Yes.  
 
Q231. Did you tell Patrick that you were not going to support Peter? 
A: No.  

  

112. When Jenny Law was shown Aardwolf’s proposal and asked how the 
$122,000 had been worked out, she said that she did not know as she did 
not do the survey but she presumed that the bulk of it was for Agenda 
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treatment at $70 per linear metre with possibly TermiCam, rodding and 5 
years warranty and inspection.   No mention was made of the inclusion of 
baiting stations114.   

113. Interview of Alliance personnel115 – Philip Tan said that he had received a 
request for a support quote from Peter Fernandis for the RH Tender: 116: 

 
A: I believed he called me on the phone and he told me that Raffles Hotel is 

calling for Agenda quote and if invited, to support quote. I think he told 
me that he is the general pest contractor. If invited, I would quote above 
$70 / lm if Peter does not say anything about the price to quote. I think 
there was going to be a site showround in this case and he would tell me 
what price to quote if I was invited and turned up there. I agreed to support 
quote if I was invited. 

114. Interview of Elite personnel117 – Francis Loh said that he did not receive 
any call from Peter Fernandis on the RH Tender and that he first knew 
about the termite treatment project at Raffles Hotel at the end of 2006 when 
New Concept Enterprise approached Elite for manpower to carry out 
termite treatment using Wazary treatment at Raffles Hotel118. 

115. Interview of Killem personnel119 – Harry Singh said that he did not receive 
any call from Peter Fernandis on the RH Tender120 and that he first knew 
about the termite treatment project at Raffles Hotel only when he received a 
section 63 notice requesting information121. 

The Commission's analysis of the evidence  
 
PestBusters and Rentokil 

116. Peter Fernandis admitted calling Joseph Ong and requesting for a cover bid 
for the RH Tender. Joseph Ong admitted that he had received such a call 
and that he had agreed to provide a cover bid.  The agreement between 
Peter Fernandis and Joseph Ong for Rentokil to submit a cover bid to 

                                                 
114 See Answer to Question 46 of Law Kum Peng’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 3 April 
2007. 
115 See Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 9 March 2007. 
116 See Question 160 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 9 March 2007. 
117 See Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 1 June 2007. 
118 See Answer to Question 1 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 1 June 2007 
and Answers to Questions 141 to 142 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 12 
January 2007. 
119 See Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 30 May 2007. 
120 See Answer to Question 4 of Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 30 May 
2007. 
121 See Answer to Question 3 of Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 30 May 
2007. 
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increase PestBusters’ chances of securing the RH Tender is evidenced by 
Peter Fernandis’ email dated 9 May 2006, in which he thanked Joseph Ong 
and Patrick Chong for their support. Peter Fernandis then followed up by 
providing, in his email dated 10 May 2006, the figures for Rentokil’s use in 
its cover bid.  

117. After Joseph Ong received Peter Fernandis’ email of 10 May 2006  
enclosing the cover bid figures, he had emailed Peter Fernandis (see 
paragraph 90(f)) that he would quote only S$120,000 for Agenda 
Treatment and not baiting stations as Rentokil did not have baiting stations. 
He had then given instructions to Nicck Yeong to prepare a cover bid at 
S$128,000. Nicck Yeong confirmed that he had, pursuant to Joseph Ong’s 
instructions, prepared and submitted to Raffles Hotel, Rentokil’s proposal 
at S$128,800. The Commission considers that Rentokil’s proposal, above 
that requested by PestBusters at S$120,000 and PestBusters’ proposal at 
S$114,000, is consistent with an agreement between PestBusters and 
Rentokil to collude in fixing prices. 

118. The Commission considers that the evidence above makes out the elements 
of an agreement, or at the very least, a concerted practice in breach of the 
section 34 prohibition. The telephone call and email exchange from 9 to 11 
May 2006 between PestBusters and Rentokil, who were competitors, show 
that the conduct of PestBusters and Rentokil was not unilateral and that the 
quotes submitted were subject to collusion. The conduct of PestBusters and 
Rentokil infringes the principle that each undertaking must determine 
independently the policy it intends to adopt in a market.  It is clear from 
Peter Fernandis’ conduct in seeking a cover bid and Joseph Ong’s conduct 
in agreeing to provide a cover bid that PestBusters and Rentokil did not 
determine or intend to determine their proposal prices independently. The 
conduct of PestBusters and Rentokil had as its intention or consequence the 
disclosure by PestBusters to Rentokil and by Rentokil to PestBusters of the 
course of action that they were going to adopt or were contemplating 
adopting in the tendering process i.e. that PestBusters would be likely to 
submit a quote of less than $120,000 for Agenda Treatment and less than 
S$48,000 for Exterra baiting stations and that Rentokil was likely to submit 
a quote of S$120,000 or more for Agenda Treatment and not quote for 
baiting stations. The disclosure by PestBusters influenced the conduct of 
Rentokil on the market in that Rentokil took into account the figures 
provided in Peter Fernandis’ 10 May 2006 email, when submitting their 
proposal. The disclosure by Rentokil must have influenced the conduct of 
PestBusters on the market in that PestBusters must have taken into account 
the confirmation it received from Rentokil that it was, as requested, going 
to submit a bid for Agenda Treatment at S$120,000.  The result was that 
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PestBusters and Rentokil substituted practical cooperation for the risks of 
competition. Their cooperation substantially eliminated the uncertainty 
which each faced as to the conduct of the other in the tender process. The 
conduct of PestBusters providing, and Rentokil receiving, agreeing to use 
and using, a price for the purpose of submission to Hospitalitybex, had as 
its object the prevention, restriction or distortion of competition.  

119. The fact that the RH Tender was voided does not affect the Commission's 
conclusion that the evidence demonstrates the existence of an agreement 
and/or concerted practice between PestBusters and Rentokil to fix prices 
and for the latter to provide a cover bid for the RH Tender. As the CAT 
held in Richard W Price (Roofing Contractors) Limited v OFT122, the fact 
that the customer decided not to proceed with the project and no contractor 
was appointed is irrelevant to the question of whether a concerted practice 
existed in relation to the tendering process. 

 
PestBusters and Aardwolf 

120. Peter Fernandis admitted calling Patrick Chong and requesting for a cover 
bid in respect of the RH Tender. Patrick Chong acceded to his request. The 
fact that there had been an agreement between Peter Fernandis and Patrick 
Chong that Aardwolf would submit a cover bid to increase PestBusters’ 
chance of securing the RH Tender is evidenced by Peter Fernandis’ email 
dated 9 May 2006, in which he thanked Joseph Ong and Patrick Chong for 
their support. Peter Fernandis then followed up by providing, in his email 
dated 10 May 2006, figures for Aardwolf’s use in its cover bid.  

121. Patrick Chong confirmed receiving the email dated 9 May 2006 from Peter 
Fernandis. Although he claimed that he did not know why Peter Fernandis 
had thanked him, the Commission finds this hard to believe, given his 
statement that he would always agree whenever an AAA approached him 
for support. Patrick Chong conceded that he had emailed Peter Fernandis to 
accede to his request for a cover bid. However, he claimed that this was 
merely to maintain appearances and that Aardwolf was going to use the 
figures which Peter Fernandis had provided to its advantage to compete for 
the project. The Commission notes that Patrick Chong’s statement in this 
regard was not corroborated by Julia Chew who said that she understood 
Patrick Chong to be telling her to put in a quote higher than PestBusters’ 
request to increase PestBusters’ chances of securing the RH Tender.  

122. The Commission was unable to accept Patrick Chong’s statement that 
Aardwolf’s proposal at S$122,000 was competitive and lower than Peter 

                                                 
122 [2005] CAT 5 see paragraph 53. 
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Fernandis’ request to submit a quote of above S$168,000. Peter Fernandis 
had requested a quote of above S$120,000 for Agenda Treatment and a 
quote of above S$48,000 for termite baiting stations. A plain reading of 
Aardwolf’s quotation shows only standard procedures for corrective termite 
treatment using Agenda and no mention of the provision of any baiting 
stations. This is in stark contrast to the quotations of PestBusters and 
Origin, both of which refer to and price for Exterra baiting stations. The 
Commission also notes that in tabulating the tender proposals, 
Hospitalitybex had compared Aardwolf’s figure of S$122,000 against 
PestBusters’ figure of S$98,000 for Agenda Treatment as opposed to 
PestBusters’ combined figure of S$114,000 for Agenda Treatment and 
Exterra baiting stations123. This suggests that Hospitalitybex had considered 
Aardwolf’s proposal to be for Agenda Treatment without the provision of 
baiting stations. 

123. The Commission also notes that Julia Chew could not satisfactorily explain 
how she had arrived at the figure of S$122,000 for Aardwolf’s quotation. 
She could not produce Aardwolf’s quotation for the RH Tender or any of 
her working papers. Julia Chew was not consistent in her answers as to 
whether baiting stations were included in Aardwolf’s proposal. On one 
hand, she stated that baiting stations would be included in the proposal if 
termites were found. On the other, she stated that she did not think she 
costed based on what Peter Fernandis said because she did not cost in the 
baiting stations as Peter Fernandis wanted her to. It would also appear from 
her answers to questions number 224 to 226 highlighted in paragraph 111 
that she was under the impression that Aardwolf’s quote was higher than 
PestBusters’ quote.  

124. In any event, it would not matter if Patrick Chong did not intend to 
implement or adhere to the agreement to provide a cover bid and wanted to 
compete for the project. It was clear from Julia Chew’s statement that she 
waited to see Peter Fernandis’ costing before doing her own costing that the 
disclosure by Peter Fernandis that he was likely to quote below S$120,000 
was taken into account by Aardwolf in preparing its proposal.  

125. The mere fact that a party does not abide fully by an agreement that is 
manifestly anti-competitive does not relieve that party of responsibility for 
it. In Tréfileurope v European Commission124, the brief facts of which are 
set out in paragraph 41, Tréfileurope argued that it was offered a quota of 
1300 tonnes a month at a meeting on 20 October 1981 but did not accept it. 
In respect of the Benelux market, Tréfileurope admitted participating in the 

                                                 
123 See tabulation of the Tender Results dated 2 June 2006 marked as Exhibit HB-2. 
124 Case T-141/89 [1995] ECR II-791. 
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meetings at which agreements were concluded on the prices of standard and 
catalogue mesh but maintained that it attended them only to familiarize 
itself with market conditions and that it played a purely passive role. 

126. The CFI considered that the notes of the meeting on 20 October 1981 
indicated that Tréfileurope’s representative did not display opposition to the 
principle of market sharing and made express reference to the latest 
arrangements and its share. The Court concluded that Tréfileurope had 
participated in agreements whose object was to fix prices and quotas on the 
French market and was not exculpated by the fact that it did not respect the 
prices and quotas125. The Court also found that Tréfileurope took an active 
part in the meetings in respect of the Benelux market. It was always 
regarded as a habitual participant in the meetings and was perceived by its 
partners as an undertaking whose opinion should be ascertained in order to 
establish a common position. In addition, it had chaired some meetings. 
The Court concluded that Tréfileurope had participated in the agreements 
on prices concerning the Benelux market and was of the view at ¶ 80 that: 

 
In any event, even if it is assumed that the applicant refrained, at least in 
part, from participating actively in the meetings, the Court considers that, 
having regard to the manifestly anti-competitive nature of the meetings, 
…, the applicant, by taking part without publicly distancing itself from 
what occurred at them, gave the impression to the other participants that it 
subscribed to the results of the meetings and would act in conformity with 
them. 

127. Similarly, a participant who “cheats” by attempting to gain market share at 
the expense of other members through acting differently from the cartel’s 
agreed line is not absolved. In Re Polypropylene126, the European 
Commission held that the fact that on some occasions producers might not 
have maintained their initial resolve and gave concessions to customers on 
price which undermined the price initiatives agreed upon did not preclude 
an unlawful agreement having been reached. 

128. In the circumstances, the Commission considers that an agreement would 
still be caught under the section 34 prohibition even if it was not the 
intention of an undertaking so agreeing to implement or adhere to the terms 
of the agreement. 

129. The Commission considers that the evidence above makes out the elements 
of an agreement, or at the very least, a concerted practice in breach of the 
section 34 prohibition. The email exchange from 9 to 10 May 2006 

                                                 
125 Case T-141/89 [1995] ECR II-791 at paragraph 60. 
126 Case 86/398 OJ 1986 L 230/1 at paragraph 85. 
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between PestBusters and Aardwolf, who were competitors, shows that the 
conduct of PestBusters and Aardwolf was not unilateral and that the quotes 
submitted were subject to collusion. The conduct of PestBusters and 
Aardwolf infringes the principle that each undertaking must determine 
independently the policy it intends to adopt in a market.  It is clear from 
Peter Fernandis’ conduct in seeking a cover bid and Patrick Chong’s 
conduct in agreeing to provide a cover bid that PestBusters and Aardwolf 
did not determine or intend to determine their proposal prices 
independently. The conduct of PestBusters and Aardwolf had as its 
intention or consequence the disclosure by PestBusters to Aardwolf of a 
course of action that it was to adopt or was contemplating adopting in the 
tendering process i.e. that PestBusters would be likely to submit a quote of 
less than $120,000 for Agenda Treatment. Such disclosure by PestBusters 
influenced the conduct of Aardwolf on the market in that Aardwolf took 
into account the information it received from PestBusters when submitting 
its proposal. The result was that PestBusters and Aardwolf substituted 
practical cooperation for the risks of competition. Their cooperation 
substantially eliminated the uncertainty which each faced as to the conduct 
of the other in the tender process. The conduct of PestBusters providing, 
and Aardwolf receiving and considering, a price for the purpose of 
submission to Hospitalitybex, had as its object the prevention, restriction or 
distortion of competition. The fact that the RH Tender was voided does not 
affect the Commission's conclusion that the evidence demonstrates the 
existence of an agreement and/or concerted practice between PestBusters 
and Aardwolf to fix prices and for the latter to provide a cover bid for the 
RH Tender. 

 
PestBusters and Alliance 

130. Peter Fernandis admitted that he had called Philip Tan (Alliance) to inform 
him of the RH Tender and to ask if Alliance had been invited to the site 
show round. He had hung up when Philip Tan told him that Alliance was 
not invited to the site showround. While he did not tell Philip Tan that 
PestBusters was the resident pest control contractor at Raffles Hotel, such 
fact was well known in the industry. As such, if Philip Tan was aware that 
PestBusters was the resident pest control contractor at Raffles Hotel, he 
would have understood Peter Fernandis’ call as an implicit request for a 
support quote. 

131. Philip Tan admitted that he had received Peter Fernandis’ call. Peter 
Fernandis had told him that PestBusters was the resident pest control 
contractor at Raffles Hotel and asked him to put in a support quote for the 
RH Tender. Philip Tan admitted that he had agreed to provide a cover bid if 
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Alliance was invited to tender. Although no figure(s) was given to Philip 
Tan for Alliance to provide a cover bid during the call, Philip Tan’s 
understanding was that if Alliance was invited to tender, Peter Fernandis 
would provide him with the figure to quote or he would just quote above 
S$70 per linear metre. The Commission notes that that there is some 
discrepancy between the version given by Peter Fernandis and that given by 
Philip Tan as to the contents of their conversation. Peter Fernandis had 
made a number of phone calls to request for support quotes in respect of the 
RH Tender. Given that Philip Tan has been frank and forthcoming as to 
Alliance’s involvement in his interviews, as between the party requesting 
for support and the recipient of the request, the Commission’s view is that 
the version of events put forth by Philip Tan, in that Peter Fernandis had 
asked him to put in a cover bid in respect of the RH Tender and he agreed, 
may be more logical. Although Alliance was not invited to submit a 
proposal for the RH Tender, the Commission considers that such an 
agreement would still be caught under the section 34 prohibition. 

132. As was mentioned earlier in paragraph 43 in connection with the case of 
Sukie Unie and others v Commission, the requirement of independence 
strictly precludes any direct or indirect contact between economic 
operators, the intention or consequence of which was to either influence the 
conduct on the market of an actual or potential competitor or to disclose to 
such a competitor the course of conduct which they themselves have 
decided to adopt or contemplate adopting on the market.  

133. This principle was developed upon in P. Hüls AG v. Commission127, when 
the ECJ added that subject to proof to the contrary, which the economic 
operators concerned must adduce, the presumption must be that the 
undertakings taking part in the concerted action and remaining active on the 
market take account of the information exchanged with their competitors 
for the purposes of determining their conduct on the market128.     

134. In Cimenteries v Commission129, a case where some cement producers were 
found to have engaged in anti-competitive practices, the CFI, in its decision 
in 2000, dealt with the argument that merely letting a competitor know of 
its intention could not have amounted to a concerted practice in the 
following fashion: 

 
1849.  In that connection, the Court points out that the concept of 

concerted practice does in fact imply the existence of reciprocal 

                                                 
127 Case C-199/92 [1999] ECR I-4287. 
128 Case C-199/92 [1999] ECR I-4287 at paragraph 162. 
129 Case T-25/95 [2000] ECR II-491. 
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contacts (Opinion of Advocate General Darmon in Woodpulp II, 
cited at paragraph 697 above, points 170 to 175). That condition is 
met where one competitor discloses its future intentions or conduct 
on the market to another when the latter requests it or, at the very 
least, accepts it … 

… 
1852 ...In order to prove that there has been a concerted practice, it is not 

therefore necessary to show that the competitor in question has 
formally undertaken, in respect of one or several others, to adopt a 
particular course of conduct or that the competitors have colluded 
over their future conduct on the market. …. It is sufficient that, by 
its statement of intention, the competitor should have eliminated, 
or at the very least, substantially reduced uncertainty as to the 
conduct [on the market to be expected on his part]. 

135. A similar argument was dealt with in similar fashion in Tate & Lyle plc v 
Commission130 which concerned a series of meetings between British Sugar 
and its competitors, Tate & Lyle and Napier Brown. The CFI in its decision 
in 2004, held: 

 
54 Moreover, the fact that only one of the participants at the meetings 

in question reveals its intentions is not sufficient to exclude the 
possibility of an agreement or concerted practice.  

… 
57 In the present case, it is undisputed that there were direct contacts 

between the three applicants, whereby British Sugar informed its 
competitors, Tate & Lyle and Napier Brown, of the conduct which 
it intended to adopt on the sugar market in Great Britain. 

 
58 In Case T-1/89 Rhone-Poulenc v Commission 1991 ECT II -867, 

in which the applicant had been accused of taking part in meetings 
at which information was exchanged amongst competitors 
concerning, inter alia, the prices which they intended to adopt on 
the market, the Court of First Instance held that an undertaking by 
its participation in a meeting with an anti-competitive purpose, not 
only pursued the aim of eliminating in advance uncertainty about 
the future conduct of its competitors but could not fail to take into 
account, directly or indirectly, the information obtained in the 
course of those meetings in order to determine the policy which it 
intended to pursue on the market (Rhone Poulenc, paragraphs 122 
and 123). This Court considers that that conclusion also applies 
where, as in this case, the participation of one or more 
undertakings in meetings with an anti-competitive purpose is 

                                                 
130 Case T-202/98, T-204/98 and T-207/98 [2001] ECR II-2035 (upheld by the Court of Justice in its 
judgment of 29 April 2004 in Case C-359/01P British Sugar plc v Commission). 
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limited to the mere receipt of information concerning the future 
conduct of their market competitors. 

136. The Commission considers that the evidence above makes out the elements 
of an agreement, or at the very least, a concerted practice in breach of the 
section 34 prohibition. The telephone call between PestBusters and 
Alliance, who were competitors, shows that the conduct of PestBusters and 
Alliance was not unilateral and that any quotes submitted were subject to 
collusion. The conduct of PestBusters and Alliance infringes the principle 
that each undertaking must determine independently the policy it intends to 
adopt in a market.  It is clear from Peter Fernandis’ conduct in seeking a 
cover bid and Philip Tan’s conduct in agreeing to provide a cover bid that 
PestBusters and Alliance did not determine or intend to determine their 
proposal prices independently. The conduct of PestBusters and Alliance 
had as its intention or consequence the disclosure by PestBusters to 
Alliance of a course of action that it was to adopt or was contemplating 
adopting in the tendering process, i.e. that it was likely to tender at S$70 
per linear metre.  Such disclosure by PestBusters would have influenced the 
conduct of Alliance on the market in that Alliance would have taken into 
account the information it received from PestBusters if it was invited to 
tender. The result was that PestBusters and Alliance intended to substitute 
practical cooperation for the risks of competition. Their cooperation would 
substantially eliminate the uncertainty which each faced as to the conduct 
of the other in the tender process. The conduct of PestBusters in providing, 
and Alliance in receiving and considering, a price for the purpose of 
submission to Hospitalitybex, had as its object the prevention, restriction or 
distortion of competition. 

137. As set out earlier in Tréfilunion v Commission and P. Hüls AG v. 
Commission, there can be an agreement or a concerted practice in the 
absence of an actual effect on the market. Given that the object of the 
agreement or concerted practice between PestBusters and Alliance was 
clearly anti-competitive, it was not necessary to demonstrate that the 
agreement and/or concerted practice had manifested itself in conduct on the 
market or that it had had effects restrictive of competition. As the CAT held 
in Apex, a concerted practice is made out at a stage prior to consideration of 
whether the person receiving the price actually puts in a tender. 

 
PestBusters and Elite 

138. Peter Fernandis admitted that he had called Francis Loh to inform him of 
the RH Tender and to ask him if Elite was invited to the site showround. He 
had hung up when Francis Loh told him that Elite was not invited to the site 
show round. While he did not tell Francis Loh that PestBusters was the 
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resident pest control contractor at Raffles Hotel, such a fact was well-
known in the industry. As such, if Francis Loh was aware that PestBusters 
was the resident pest control contractor at Raffles Hotel, he would have 
understood Peter Fernandis’ call as an implicit request for a support quote. 

139. Francis Loh denied receiving any such call or request for a cover bid from 
Peter Fernandis. He stated that he had first come to know of the RH Tender 
sometime at the end of 2006 from New Concept Enterprise. The evidence 
of any contact between Peter Fernandis and Francis Loh given by Peter 
Fernandis, was not supported by Francis Loh or any other documents and 
evidence. The Commission also notes that for the rest of the projects, 
Francis Loh had been frank and forthright on Elite’s involvement in his 
interviews131. The Commission considers that there is insufficient evidence 
to show that Elite was party to an agreement and/or concerted practice with 
PestBusters to provide a cover bid and fix prices for the RH Tender. 

 
PestBusters and Killem  

140. Peter Fernandis said that he did not call Harry Singh or request for a cover 
bid from him. This is consistent with Harry Singh’s statements that he did 
not receive any request and that he did not even know about the RH Tender 
prior to receiving the Commission’s section 63 notice requesting him to 
provide documents and information. The Commission therefore considers 
that there is no evidence to show that Killem was a party to an agreement 
and/or concerted practice with PestBusters to provide a cover bid and fix 
prices for the RH Tender. 

 
The Commission’s conclusions on the infringement 

141. The Commission concludes that the totality of the evidence, as set out and 
analysed at paragraphs 86 to 140 above, establishes that an agreement 
and/or concerted practice was in place between – 
a) PestBusters and Rentokil; 
b) PestBusters and Aardwolf; and 
c) PestBusters and Alliance,   
which had the object of fixing the prices in relation to the proposals 
submitted for the RH Tender, in breach of the section 34 prohibition. 

                                                 
131 See Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 12 January 2007 and 4 June 2007. 
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(ii) Alexandra Hospital 
 
The facts and the evidence 

142. On 19 May 2006, Alexandra Hospital (“AH”) issued an open tender for the 
provision of corrective treatment against subterranean termite infestation in 
Alexandra Hospital (MMD/06028) (“the AH Tender”)132. All interested 
pest control operators had to attend a compulsory site show round on 23 
May 2006 and purchase the tender documents for S$30133. 

143. Interested pest control operators were required to make proposals for 2 
options134: 

a) Option 1 - use of termiticide for all areas to be treated; and 
b) Option 2 - use of termiticide for some areas to be treated and use of 

baiting stations for the remaining areas to be treated. 
The tender documents also provided the measurements (in linear meters) of 
the areas to be treated for both options. 

144. The 2 options were necessary as AH had not secured the necessary funding 
from the Ministry of Health (“MOH”) for total corrective treatment using 
termiticide at the time of calling the AH Tender135. 

145. The compulsory site show round on 23 May 2006 was attended by the 
following136: 

 
Name of pest control operator 

 
Representative’s name 

Aardwolf Julia Chew 
Alliance Philip Tan 
Killem William Tan 

                                                 
132 See Request to Proposal and information provided by Alexandra Hospital in their letter to the 
Commission dated 21 Dec 2006 pursuant to the Commission’s section 63 notice to request for information 
and documents dated 5 December 2006. 
133 See Request to Proposal and information provided by Alexandra Hospital in their letter to the 
Commission dated 21 Dec 2006 pursuant to the Commission’s section 63 notice to request for information 
and documents dated 5 December 2006. 
134 See Information and Appendices 1 to 2 of Section 3 provided by Alexandra Hospital in their letter to the 
Commission dated 21 Dec 2006 pursuant to the Commission’s section 63 notice to request for information 
and documents dated 5 December 2006. 
135 See Information provided by Alexandra Hospital in their letter to the Commission dated 21 Dec 2006 
pursuant to the Commission’s section 63 notice to request for information and documents dated 5 
December 2006. Also see Answer to Question 14 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation 
Provided on 10 January 2007. 
136 See Information and Exhibit C provided by Alexandra Hospital in their letter to the Commission dated 
21 Dec 2006 pursuant to the Commission’s section 63 notice to request for information and documents 
dated 5 December 2006. 
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Name of pest control operator 
 

Representative’s name 

PestBusters Peter Fernandis 
Rentokil Dennis Loe with Desmond Ng 

146. At the close of the AH Tender on 2 June 2006, proposals were received 
from all five pest control operators who attended the compulsory site show 
round as follows137: 

 
Name of pest control 
operator submitting 

proposal 
 

Proposal Price 
for Option 1 

Proposal Price 
for Option 2 

Date of 
submission of 

Proposal 

Aardwolf  S$513,200 S$313,500 2 June 2006 
Alliance  S$404,402 S$258,492 1 June 2006 
Killem  S$393,070 S$313,140 2 June 2006 
PestBusters  S$359,240 S$242,745 2 June 2006 
Rentokil  S$359,450 Nil 2 June 2006 
   

147. According to Peter Fernandis (PestBusters), AH requested him to revise his 
quote and PestBusters revised its proposal prices to S$349,000 (Option 1) 
and S$235,000 (Option 2)138. AH awarded the tender to PestBusters under 
Option 1 at the price of S$349,000 on 6 March 2007139. The job 
commenced on 6 March 2007 and was completed on 7 April 2007140. 

148. During our investigations141, we uncovered a number of email exchanges 
between 19 and 22 May 2006: 

 

 
 

                                                 
137 See Information and Copy of Tender Information for each pest control operator provided by Alexandra 
Hospital in their letter to the Commission dated 21 Dec 2006 pursuant to the Commission’s section 63 
notice to request for information and documents dated 5 December 2006. 
138 See Answer to Question 37 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 
January 2007 and see PestBusters’ letters of 5 and 10 October 2006 to AH provided by Peter Fernandis 
during the Commission’s entry into PestBusters’ premises on 23 November 2006 pursuant to Section 64 of 
the Act marked PF-17A on 23 November 2006. 
139 See Purchase Order Number 4530036471 provided by AH to the Commission via telefax on 6 March 
2007. 
140 See email from Lynette Goh of AH to the Commission dated 2 June 2007 at 12.24 am. 
141 Email exchange provided by Peter Fernandis and Francis Loh during the Commission’s entry into 
PestBusters’ and Elite’s premises on 23 November 2006 respectively pursuant to Section 64 of the Act. 
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(a) 1st Email from Peter Fernandis to Patrick Chong (Aardwolf), Philip Tan 
(Alliance), Francis Loh (Elite), Harry Singh (Killem) and Joseph Ong 
(Rentokil) of 19 May 2006 

 
“From: Peter Fernandis 
To: Patrick Chong (E-mail)’; ‘Joseph Ong’; ‘Killem Pest’; Francis Loh (E-
mail)’; ‘Philip Tan (Alliance) (E-mail)’ 
Sent: Friday, May 19, 2006 6:57 PM 
Subject: FW: Alexandra Hospital – Anti-Termite Tender 

 
Dear AAAs,  
Kindly note that Alexandra Hospital is calling for the tender and attendance 
for showaround on Tues 23 May at 10am is compulsory.  The chemical is 
Agenda and the linear meters will be provided. 
 
Thank you very much SIRS and soon institute of Mental Health will also 
call for the tender and I will keep you posted.   
 
Have a great weekend 
 
PETER FERNANDIS 
PestBusters Pte Ltd 
140 Paya Lebar Road 
#08-06 A – Z Building 
Singapore 409015 
Tel: (65) 62882828 
Fax: (65) 67487388 
Mob: (65) 98563283 
E-Mail: peterfernandis@pestbusters.com.sg 
Website: www.pestbusters.com.sg” 

 
(b) 2nd Email from Peter Fernandis to Patrick Chong, Philip Tan, Francis Loh, 

Harry Singh and Joseph Ong of 19 May 2006   
 

“From: Peter Fernandis 
To: Patrick Chong (E-mail)’; ‘Killem Pest’; ‘Joseph Ong’; ‘Philip Tan 
(Alliance) (E-mail)’; Francis Loh (E-mail)’  
Sent: Friday, May 19, 2006 7:02 PM 
Subject: Tender Fee for AH 
 
Hi guys,  
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I will reimburse to tender fee to you guys in cash when we meet in person.  
We will arrange for a night out once we secure the works OK. 
 
Cheers 
 
PETER FERNANDIS 
PestBusters Pte Ltd 
140 Paya Lebar Road 
#08-06 A – Z Building 
Singapore 409015 
Tel: (65) 62882828 
Fax: (65) 67487388 
Mob: (65) 98563283 
E-Mail: peterfernandis@pestbusters.com.sg 
Website: www.pestbusters.com.sg” 

 
(c) Email response from Patrick Chong to Peter Fernandis, copied to Caroline 

Lim, Jenny Law, Julia Chew, Lily Lim and Ryan Peh (all of Aardwolf) of 
20 May 2006 in reply to email in (a)   
 
“From: Patrick [mailto:Patrick@aardwolfpestkare.com] 
Sent: Saturday, May 20, 2006 10:53 AM 
To: Peter Fernandis 
Cc: Caroline Lim; Jenny Law; Julia Chew; Lily Lim; Ryan Peh 
Subject: Re: FW: Alexandra Hospital – Anti-Termite Treatment 

 
Peter, I was told that we need to pay $30 to collect tender documents fro 
Alexandra.  We will do so and bear the cost in this instance.  Want to make 
sure you get this project and then you can buy me 2 beers at 8am in the 
morning k.  
 
Haha.. all the best.. 
 
Julia – Many Thanks – Please see this through and gv Peter all the support. 

 
Jenny – Take note of Institute of Mental Health.  Thanks.” 

 
(d) Email response from Philip Tan to Peter Fernandis of 20 May 2006 in reply 

to email in (a) 
 

 
“From: Philip [mailto:philip@alliancepest.com.sg] 
Sent: Saturday, May 20, 2006 11:29 AM 
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To: Peter Fernandis 
Subject: Re: Alexandra Hospital – Anti-Termite Tender 

 
 Hi Peter,  
 
 Noted.  Good Luck! 
 
 Regards 
 Philip Tan” 
 

(e) Email response from Joseph Ong to Peter Fernandis, Patrick Chong, Philip 
Tan, Francis Loh and Harry Singh of 22 May 2006 in reply to email in (b)    

 
“From: Joseph Ong 
To: Peter Fernandis; ‘Patrick Chong (E-mail)’; ‘Killem Pest’; ‘Philip Tan 
(Alliance) (Email)’; Francis Loh (E-mail)’ 
Sent: Monday, May 22, 2006 8:53 AM 
Subject: Re: Tender Fee for AH 

 
 Peter, 
 
 No need to reimburse me the tender fee.  Best of Luck. 
 
 Joseph Ong 
 General Manager, Rentokil Pest Control 
 

Rentokil Initial (S) Pte Ltd 
16 & 18 Jalan Mesin 
Singapore 368815 
Tel: 65-6347 8138 
Fax: 65-6347 8102 
www.rentokil-initial.com 
Co Reg. No: 195900145N 
 
This message may contain confidential and privileged information. Unless 
you are the intended addressee, any distribution, copying or disclosure of 
such information is strictly prohibited. If you have received this message in 
error, please advise the sender immediately and delete all copies of this 
message from your system. Although reasonable precautions have been 
taken to ensure the integrity of this message and that it is virus free, the 
company cannot be responsible for any change made to this message or the 
presence of any virus therein without its knowledge and/or consent. You 
can request a hard copy of this message for verification.” 
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149. In brief, the email exchange started on 19 May 2007 with Peter Fernandis  
informing Patrick Chong, Philip Tan, Francis Loh, Harry Singh and Joseph 
Ong of the AH Tender and thanking them. Peter Fernandis also offered to 
reimburse the Parties the S$30 purchase fee for the AH Tender documents 
when they next met after PestBusters had secured the works. Patrick Chong 
emailed saying that he would bear the cost of the tender fee, make sure that 
Peter Fernandis got the project and wished Peter Fernandis all the best.  
Philip Tan and Joseph Ong also emailed wishing Peter Fernandis luck on 
the AH Tender. 

150. Interview of PestBusters personnel142 - Peter Fernandis said that 
PestBusters had been the general pest contractor for AH and had carried out 
corrective termite treatment on some areas using Agenda. AH had wanted 
to carry out corrective termite treatment using Agenda for the whole 
premises but lacked funding. As such, Peter Fernandis carried out the 
measurements for AH on a block by block basis as some blocks required 
critical treatment143. He sent the email in paragraph 148(a) to the AAAs, 
most of whom knew that he was the existing pest control service contractor 
for AH, to inform them of the AH Tender and to request support quotes144. 
He did so because he was aware that a minimum of 3 quotes were needed 
for government tenders145. He had thanked them in the email because he 
had assumed that they would accede to the request given the mutual 
understanding that they would provide support quotes if a request was 
made in respect of an existing client146. Although he had offered to 
reimburse the tender fee to them in his email dated 19 May 2006 referred to 
in paragraph 148(b), Peter Fernandis said that they did not want to be 
reimbursed147. 

151. Peter Fernandis confirmed receiving the email responses from Patrick 
Chong, Philip Tan and Joseph Ong referred to in paragraph 148(c), (d) and 
(e) respectively. His understanding of their responses was that they had 
agreed to support him and would quote above S$70 per linear metre148. 

                                                 
142 See Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information / Explanation Provided on 10 January 2007 and 30 May 
2007. 
143 See Answer to Question 14 and 16 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 
January 2007  
144 See Answer to Question 19 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 
January 2007. 
145 See Answer to Question 21 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 
January 2007. 
146 See Answer to Question 20 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 
January 2007. 
147 See Answer to Question 34 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information / Explanation Provided on 10 
January 2007. 
148 See Answer to Question 26 to 32 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information / Explanation Provided on 10 
January 2007. 
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When asked how he knew that they would quote above S$70 per linear 
metre to support him, he stated149: 

 
A:  This is based on the understanding that we are not to go below the $70 per 

linear meter minimum price. If I don’t tell them a price to quote, they will 
know that I will have quote at $70 per linear meter because that is the 
minimum price. They can then support quote by quoting at $70 per linear 
meter or above that. Even if they quote at $70 per linear meter, I am the 
incumbent and the client will be unlikely to use them given that the client 
would already have had a working relationship with me and also because 
there is no costs saving. 

152. Peter Fernandis also stated that he had called Philip Tan, Patrick Chong, 
Joseph Ong and Francis Loh to request for support quotes and they had all 
agreed150. After his phone call to Francis Loh, Francis Loh had called 
saying that he could not make it for the compulsory site showround. As 
such, he was aware that Francis Loh did not submit a proposal for the AH 
Tender151. 

153. Peter Fernandis said he did not call Harry Singh as he was not close to 
him152. He was also aware that Harry Singh had made known his position 
that he would not provide a support quote in respect of public tenders or 
tenders advertised in the newspapers153. When he sent the email to Harry 
Singh, he was not expecting Harry Singh to provide support; it was more to 
keep him in the loop154. Harry Singh did not respond to his emails155. 

154. Interview of Alliance personnel156 - Philip Tan said that he was informed of 
the AH Tender by Peter Fernandis either by way of an email or a phone 
call157. He said that he should have received the emails from Peter 

                                                 
149 See Answer to Question 30 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 30 May 
2007. Also see Answer to Question 21 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information / Explanation Provided on 
10 January 2007. 
150 See Answer to Question 19 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 
January 2007. 
151 See Answer to Question 31 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 30 May 
2007. 
152 See Answer to Question 19 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 
January 2007. 
153 See Answer to Question 28 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 30 May 
2007. 
154 See Answer to Question 19 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information / Explanation Provided on 10 
January 2007 and Answer to Question 26 and 27 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information / Explanation 
Provided on 30 May 2007. 
155 See Answer to Question 19 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 
January 2007. 
156 See Philip Tan’s Notes of Information / Explanation Provided on 9 March 2007. 
157 See Answer to Question 2 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 2007. 
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Fernandis referred to in paragraph 148(a) and (b)158. He understood that the 
purpose of the email in paragraph 148(a) was to notify them of the AH 
Tender and to tell them to attend the compulsory site show round. During 
the site show round, Peter Fernandis approached him to put in a support 
quote for the AH Tender and informed him that PestBusters was the general 
pest contractor for AH159. 

155. When asked for his response to Peter Fernandis’ email in paragraph 148(a), 
Philip Tan said160: 

 
A:  I am not sure if I replied to him. But as I have stated earlier, I attended the 

site show round and during the site show round, Peter Fernandis asked for 
my support. Since I was not very keen in government projects and did not 
wish to get the project and I also thought I will support Peter, so I quote 
high. 

156. Philip Tan subsequently confirmed that he did respond to Peter Fernandis’ 
email in paragraph 148(a) via his email referred to in paragraph 148(d) to 
wish Peter Fernandis good luck in respect of getting the job with his 
support161. 

157. Philip Tan also said that the understanding between the AAAs was that if 
an AAA requesting for a support quote did not state the figure on which the 
rest should quote in order to render support, then the other AAAs should 
render support by quoting above $70 per linear meter, the baseline price162. 

158. He stated that Alliance’s proposal for the AH Tender was plucked from 
nowhere and not justified by any cost calculations; it just had to be a figure 
above S$70 per linear meter163. As to whether he would have quoted 
differently had he not agreed to provide support to Peter Fernandis, he 
stated164: 
 
A: I am not sure if it would very different. But I would definitely have given 

more consideration to all factors and circumstances surrounding the tender 
in coming up with a quotation so that I can hopefully get the project. 
When I am asked to support quote, I would just pluck a figure from 

                                                 
158 See Answer to Question 3 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 2007. 
159 See Answer to Question 4 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 2007. 
160 See Answer to Question 5 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 2007. 
161 See Answers to Questions 13 and 14 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 
March 2007. 
162 See Answer to Question 11of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 2007. 
163 See Answer to Question 11of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 2007. 
164 See Answer to Question 15 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 
2007. 
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nowhere or quote the requested figure without any consideration for the 
surrounding factors or circumstances. 

159. Interview of Rentokil personnel165 – Joseph Ong confirmed that he had 
received Peter Fernandis’ emails referred to in paragraph 148(a) and (b). He 
understood the email in paragraph 148(a) as requesting for support quotes 
for the AH Tender and other projects166. He had replied to Peter Fernandis 
via his email in paragraph 148(e) to refuse reimbursement and to wish Peter 
Fernandis the best of luck167. 

160. According to Joseph Ong, he had told his subordinate, Dennis Loe, of his 
agreement to provide support to Peter Fernandis and instructed Dennis Loe 
to prepare the proposal in accordance with the figures that he would give to 
Dennis Loe, when he obtained them from Peter Fernandis168. He stated that 
Dennis Loe had agreed to follow his instructions to provide support to Peter 
Fernandis169. He had chosen Dennis Loe to prepare the proposal because he 
did not want to waste Nicck Yeong’s time given that it was a support quote 
and Rentokil would not win the project ultimately. The exposure to big 
projects would however benefit Dennis Loe, who had been with Rentokil 
for some time170. According to Joseph Ong, Nicck Yeong had asked him 
why he was not selected to do the proposal. Joseph Ong had told Nicck 
Yeong that Rentokil would be providing a support quote and there was no 
point in wasting Nicck Yeong’s time171. 

161. Joseph Ong said that as he was clearing his leave after he resigned from 
Rentokil on 24 or 25 May 2006, he was not involved in the preparation of 
the proposal dated 1 June 2006172. When showed Rentokil’s proposal at 
S$359,450 for Option 1, he said that there was no support given to Peter 

                                                 
165 See Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information / Explanation Provided on 28 and 30 April 
2007, Nicck Yeong’s Notes of Information / Explanation Provided on 8 May 2007, and Loe Ching Heng 
(Dennis)’ Notes of Information / Explanation Provided on 27 March 2007. 
166 See Answer to Question 58 and 59 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of 
Information/Explanation Provided on 30 April 2007. 
167 See Answer to Question 63 and 64 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information / 
Explanation Provided on 30 April 2007. 
168 See Answers to Question 66 and 75 to 76 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information / 
Explanation Provided on 30 April 2007. 
169 See Answer to Question 81 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information / Explanation 
Provided on 30 April 2007. 
170 See Answer to Question 67 and 68 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information / 
Explanation Provided on 30 April 2007. 
171 See Answer to Question 86 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information/Explanation 
Provided on 30 April 2007. 
172 See Answer to Question 72 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information/Explanation 
Provided on 30 April 2007. 
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Fernandis as it was based on S$70 per linear meter173. In his view, an AAA 
requesting for support would provide an indicative figure or percentage, 
e.g. quote at $x or at x% above $y and that it would be a waste of time if an 
AAA sought support but did not provide any figure174. 

162. Dennis Loe said that he was not aware of any arrangement for the AH 
Tender175. He said that Joseph Ong instructed him to attend the compulsory 
site show round176 and left Rentokil shortly thereafter177. As such, Dennis 
Loe approached Hong Ann, the Financial Controller, and Nicck Yeong for 
assistance on the pricing. Nicck Yeong gave instructions to price Agenda 
Treatment at S$70 per linear metre and the sales administration staff 
completed the prices in an excel spreadsheet for submission to AH. As for 
the pricing of the baiting stations, Dennis Loe said that Robin Lee, the 
Managing Director, gave directions to provide free baiting stations to AH 
as an incentive. Robin Lee and Hong Ann also made a decision not to 
proceed with Option 2 because Rentokil was already giving the baiting 
stations free of charge under Option 1178.  Dennis Loe was asked why item 
5 of Option 1 of Rentokil’s proposal in respect of Blk 7, Ward 8-14 set out 
the area to be treated as 415 linear metres when the tender documents stated 
the area to be 412 linear metres. Dennis Loe was of the view that the 
discrepancy was a typographical error by the sales administration personnel 
who prepared the excel spreadsheet179. 

163. Nicck Yeong said that Dennis Loe had found out after the site show round 
at AH that he was to provide a support quote180. He said that he thought that 
when the proposal was being prepared, Robin Lee, the Managing Director, 
and Yeo Hong Ann, the Finance Director, would have been aware of 

                                                 
173 See Answer to Question 73 and 74 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of 
Information/Explanation Provided on 30 April 2007. 
174 See Answer to Question 116 to 117 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of 
Information/Explanation Provided on 28 April 2007. 
175 See Answer to Question 51 of Loe Ching Heng (Dennis)’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 
27 March 2007. 
176 See Answer to Question 43 of Loe Ching Heng (Dennis)’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 
27 March 2007. 
177 See Answer to Question 48 of Loe Ching Heng (Dennis)’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 
27 March 2007. 
178 See Answer to Question 46 and 50 of Loe Ching Heng (Dennis)’ Notes of Information/Explanation 
Provided on 27 March 2007. 
179 See Answer to Question 49 of Loe Ching Heng (Dennis)’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 
27 March 2007. 
180 See Answer to Questions 158 of Nicck Yeong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 8 May 
2007. 
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Joseph Ong’s agreement to provide a support quote in respect of the AH 
Tender181. 

164. He also said that immediately after Joseph Ong’s departure from Rentokil, 
there had been a meeting with Robin Lee who gave instructions for the 
proposal to be prepared as “per normal”182. According to Nicck Yeong, 
Rentokil’s proposal for Option 1 of the AH Tender was based on S$70 per 
linear meter183. 

165. Interview of Aardwolf personnel184 – Patrick Chong said that he was alerted 
to the AH Tender by Peter Fernandis’ email in paragraph 148(a) and he 
reckoned that Peter Fernandis would be requesting for a support quote185. 

166. As for his response in his email in paragraph 148(c) where he said: 
 

“…Want to make sure you get this project and then you can buy me 2 beers at 
8am in the morning k.  

 
Haha.. all the best.. 
 
Julia – Many Thanks – Please see this through and gv Peter all the support…”, 

he said that basically these were his “normal pleasantry”; he had no 
intention of doing anything for Peter Fernandis, and he was channelling the 
request down to Julia Chew for her to attend to and win the project for 
Aardwolf186. He also said that he was not sure how he was to render support 
to Peter Fernandis as Peter Fernandis had not provided him with the figures 
to quote or the figures that PestBusters would quote, as was usually the 
case. In his view, Aardwolf would just support by going in to quote187. 
Patrick Chong explained that Aardwolf did not quote for baiting stations for 
Option 2 as they did not believe that baiting stations would work on their 
own. He believed that even though they were not separately listed, Julia 

                                                 
181 See Answer to Question 174 of Nicck Yeong’s Notes of Information / Explanation Provided on 8 May 
2007. 
182 See Answer to Question 158 of Nicck Yeong’s Notes of Information / Explanation Provided on 8 May 
2007. 
183 See Answer to Question 170 of Nicck Yeong’s Notes of Information / Explanation Provided on 8 May 
2007. 
184 See Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 2007, Julia Chew’s Notes of 
Information / Explanation Provided on 2 April 2007, Ryan Peh’s Notes of Information/Explanation 
Provided on 3 April 2007 and Jenny Law’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 3 April 2007. 
185 See Answer to Question 72 to 74 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 
April 2007. 
186 See Answer to Question 77, 80 and 82 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided 
on 2 April 2007. 
187 See Answer to Question 96 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
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Chew would have included the baiting stations into the quote for 
termiticide at S$100 per linear metre for both Option 1 and Option 2 
because Aardwolf provided a total solution for termite control188.  Julia 
Chew was expected to attend to it and get the job.   

167. Julia Chew said that she could not remember if she received the emails 
referred to in paragraph 148(a) and (c)189. Her understanding of Patrick 
Chong’s response in his email in paragraph 148(c) copied to her and the 
entire Aardwolf’s sales team was that he was telling the sales team to quote 
higher than Peter Fernandis to increase Peter Fernandis’ chances of getting 
the job190. She also stated that Patrick Chong thanked her in the email as he 
assumed that she would help191.   Patrick Chong did not speak to her on the 
emails. 

168. Julia Chew was not able to produce Aardwolf’s proposal as she had thrown 
the proposal away192. She said that she came up with the price of S$100 per 
linear meter for both Option 1 and Option 2 of Aardwolf’s proposal193.  
Aardwolf did not quote for the baiting stations for Option 2 because they 
did not use baiting stations alone194. 

169. Her answers to questions on how she had arrived at the price in Aardwolf’s 
proposal are shown below195: 
 
Q174.  Why did you decide on the price of $100 per linear metre? 
A: Because I have to cost in the baiting stations and I cannot estimate the 

numbers so I just marked it up. I have to admit that my chances of getting 
this project is not very high because the hospital may be moving.  

 
Q175.  Do you have internal working papers on how you worked out the figures? 
A: No. These are simple calculations of linear metres multiply by 100. 
 

                                                 
188 See Answers to Question 89 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
189 See Answer to Question 239 of Julia Chew’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
190 See Answers to Question 241 and 247 of Julia Chew’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 
April 2007. 
191 See Answers to Questions 246 and 247 of Julia Chew’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 
April 2007. 
192 See Answers to Questions 159 and 168 of Julia Chew’s Notes of Information / Explanation Provided on 
2 April 2007. 
193 See Answers to Questions 170 to 173 of Julia Chew’s Notes of Information / Explanation Provided on 2 
April 2007. 
194 See Answer to Question 172 of Julia Chew’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
195 See Julia Chew’s Notes of Information / Explanation Provided on 2 April 2007. 
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Q176. Why do you have working papers for Raffles Hotel and not Alexandra 
Hospital? 

A: I must say that for Raffles Hotel, my chances are high. My chances for this 
is not so high so I did not put in 100%. 

 
Q177.  At $100 per linear metre, the mark up is about 42%, as opposed to your 

usual mark up of 20 to 25%. Why did you mark up the project so high? 
A: Because we had a low chance of getting the project anyway. In any case, 

they had constraints such as only working on weekends so unless I get it at 
a high price, there was no point in getting the project. 

 
Q178.  Why bother putting in a bid? 
A: It is not so nice not putting in the bid after we have attended the site visit. 

If we had known that they were calling for the tender just in case, I would 
not even have attended the site visit. 

 
Q179. Were there any other termite treatment services offered to Alexandra 

Hospital under this quotation? 
A: I cannot remember whether I did. At this rate, even if they want extra 

services, it can cover the cost of Termi-Cam. 

170. Julia Chew also said that she would not say that she was supporting Peter 
Fernandis although she quoted higher than her normal rates; she did so as 
the tender might not be awarded because the hospital might be moving196. 

171. She said that Peter Fernandis’ request for support quote was advantageous 
to Aardwolf in assessing how much to quote197. As far as she was 
concerned, Aardwolf’s prices were higher than PestBusters and if Aardwolf 
wanted to win the AH Tender, they would have to cost lower198. She also 
stated that she would not have quoted differently in the absence of the 
email exchange in paragraph 148 because AH had operational constraints 
which made a quote at S$70 per linear meter impossible199. 

172. Interview of Killem personnel200 - Harry Singh said that he received the 
emails in paragraph 148(a) and (b) from Peter Fernandis which he 
considered to be a call for support201. He said that he ignored Peter 

                                                 
196 See Answer to Questions 252 of Julia Chew’s Notes of Information / Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
197 See Answer to Question 254 of Julia Chew’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
198 See Answer to Question 253 of Julia Chew’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
199 See Answer to Question 255 of Julia Chew’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
200 See Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 7 March and 30 May 2007. 
201 See Answers to Questions 129 to 133 of Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 7 
March 2007. 
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Fernandis and did not bother to respond as Peter Fernandis would know his 
position of not providing support in respect of public tenders, advertised 
tenders in the newspapers or where he was invited to tender by customers, 
which position had been made known to the AAAs at previous AAA 
meetings202. 

173. He said that Killem’s quote for Option 1 worked out to $69 per linear 
metre, because they had quoted $23 per hole and AH’s tender specifications 
had required that the holes be 300 mm apart. Harry Singh claimed that this 
was lower than the minimum price of $70 per linear metre203. He added that 
the email from Peter Fernandis in paragraph 148(a) did not have an impact 
on his decision204.    

174. Interview of Elite personnel205 - Francis Loh said that he had received the 
emails in paragraph 148(a) and (b) from Peter Fernandis requesting a 
support quote206 but he did not respond207. He said he could not remember 
if Peter Fernandis had called him on the request; and said that Peter 
Fernandis did not have to call him since Peter Fernandis had sent him the 
emails in paragraph 148(a) and (b)208. He did not turn up for the 
compulsory site show round at AH as it clashed with another business 
appointment209 and consequently Elite did not put in any proposal. 

175. He said that if he had attended the site show round, he would have 
submitted a proposal and it would have been above S$70 per linear meter to 
support Peter Fernandis210. 

                                                 
202 See Answer to Question 18 of Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 30 May 
2007. 
203 See Answer to Question 157 of Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 7 March 
2007 
204 See Answer to Question 22 of Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 30 May 
2007. 
205 See Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 12 January and 1 June 2007. 
206 See Answer to Question 92 to 94 and 96 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 
12 January 2007. 
207 See Answer to Question 95 and 97 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 12 
January 2007. 
208 See Answer to Question 25 and 26 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 1 
June 2007. 
209 See Answer to Question 103 and 104 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 12 
January 2007. 
210 See Answer to Question 28 and 29 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information / Explanation Provided on 1 
June 2007. 
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The Commission's analysis of the evidence 
 
PestBusters and Alliance

176. Peter Fernandis had admitted to sending the email in paragraph 148(a) to 
Philip Tan and the other AAAs to inform them of the AH Tender and to 
request support quotes. In his email in paragraph 148(b), he had also 
offered to reimburse the AH Tender document fee of S$30 when they next 
met after PestBusters had secured the project. He confirmed that Philip Tan 
had responded positively to his request via the email in paragraph 148(d). 
In addition, he had made a call to Philip Tan to request for a cover bid and 
Philip Tan had agreed. 

177. Philip Tan said that he should have received the emails from Peter 
Fernandis and confirmed that he had responded positively to the request for 
a cover bid via his email in paragraph 148(d). 

178. Although Peter Fernandis did not follow up with the figures for the cover 
bid, he said that the AAAs knew that they were to quote at or above S$70 
per linear meter. He knew that as he was the existing pest control contractor 
for AH, he would be at an advantage as long as none of the AAAs quoted 
below S$70 per linear meter. This is because he had a good working 
relationship with AH; he had recommended the use of Agenda for termite 
treatment, and carried out the site measurements for them. It was unlikely 
that AH would consider switching to another pest control operator if there 
were no costs savings. 

179. Philip Tan shared the understanding that he was to quote above S$70 per 
liner metre in order to render support. Pursuant to that understanding, he 
had put in a proposal of S$404,402 for Option 1 and S$258,492 for Option 
2. The Commission considers that Alliance’s proposals, based on S$78.80 
per linear meter for Agenda Treatment, which is higher than the S$70 per 
linear meter, is consistent with an agreement between PestBusters and 
Alliance to collude in fixing prices and for the latter to provide a cover bid. 

180. The Commission considers that the evidence above makes out the elements 
of an agreement, or at the very least, a concerted practice in breach of the 
section 34 prohibition. The email exchange in paragraph 148 between 
PestBusters and Alliance, who were competitors, shows that the conduct of 
PestBusters and Alliance was not unilateral and that the quotes submitted 
were subject to collusion. The conduct of PestBusters and Alliance 
infringes the principle that each undertaking must determine independently 
the policy it intends to adopt in a market.  It is clear from Peter Fernandis’ 
conduct in seeking a cover bid and Philip Tan’s conduct in agreeing to 
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provide a cover bid that PestBusters and Alliance did not determine or 
intend to determine their proposal prices independently. The conduct of 
PestBusters and Alliance had as its intention or consequence the disclosure 
by PestBusters to Alliance of a course of action that it was to adopt or was 
contemplating adopting in the tendering process i.e. that it was likely to 
submit a proposal at S$70 per linear meter.  Such disclosure by PestBusters 
influenced the conduct of Alliance on the market in that Alliance took 
account of the information it received from PestBusters when submitting its 
proposal by drawing on the understanding between the AAAs in respect of 
the provision of cover bids. The result was that PestBusters and Alliance 
substituted practical cooperation for the risks of competition. Their 
cooperation substantially eliminated the uncertainty which each faced as to 
the conduct of the other in the tender process. The conduct of PestBusters 
providing, and Alliance receiving and using, a price for the purpose of 
submission to AH, had as its object the prevention, restriction or distortion 
of competition. 

 
PestBusters and Rentokil

181. Peter Fernandis had admitted sending the email in paragraph 148(a) to 
Joseph Ong and the other AAAs to inform them of the AH Tender and to 
request support quotes. In his email in paragraph 148(b), he had also 
offered to reimburse the AH Tender document fee of S$30 when they next 
met after PestBusters had secured the project. He confirmed that Joseph 
Ong had responded positively to his request, declining the reimbursement, 
via the email in paragraph 148(e). In addition, he had called Joseph Ong for 
a cover bid and Joseph Ong agreed. 

182. Joseph Ong confirmed that he had received Peter Fernandis’ emails which 
he understood as requesting for a support quote for the AH Tender. He 
confirmed sending an affirmative reply to Peter Fernandis and instructing 
Dennis Loe to prepare a proposal with the figures to be subsequently 
obtained from Peter Fernandis. He had also informed Nicck Yeong that he 
did not want to waste Nicck Yeong’s time in preparing a cover bid for a 
project Rentokil was not going to win. 

183. The Commission considers that even though no figures were provided by 
Peter Fernandis to Joseph Ong for the provision of a cover bid by Rentokil, 
Joseph Ong knew that S$70 per linear meter was the lowest price that an 
AAA could quote for Agenda Treatment211. Rentokil had been penalized in 
November 2004 with additional purchases of Agenda because they had 

                                                 
211 See Answer to Question 75 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information / Explanation 
Provided on 28 April 2007. 
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quoted below S$70 per linear meter212. Joseph Ong had also said in respect 
of the termite treatment projects for Raffles Hotel, Hawaii Tower and River 
Place that Rentokil would have quoted at S$70 per linear meter had they 
not agreed to provide cover bids to PestBusters and Alliance 
respectively213. Accordingly, the Commission considers that, 
notwithstanding Joseph Ong’s statement that if no figures were provided in 
a request for a cover bid, it would be a waste of time, Joseph Ong would 
know that PestBusters would not quote below S$70 per linear meter. 
Hence, Joseph Ong could quote above S$70 per linear metre in his cover 
bid in implementing the agreement. Peter Fernandis had expressed the view 
that even if an AAA (Joseph Ong in this case) were to quote at S$70 per 
linear metre, he, as an incumbent with a working relationship with the 
client, would  have an advantage as the client would be unlikely to switch 
where there would no cost savings.  

184. It is trite law, in EC214 and UK215, that the fact that an employee of an 
undertaking is not authorised to make an infringing agreement does not 
relieve the undertaking of its liability. Even though Joseph Ong had agreed 
to provide a cover bid and had left Rentokil by the time the proposal was 
prepared and submitted, and Peter Fernandis did not follow up with the 
figures for the cover bid, the Commission notes that Nicck Yeong, who was 
involved in the pricing of the proposal, was aware that a request for a 
support quote had been made in respect of the AH Tender and 
correspondingly that PestBusters, the resident pest control contractor, was 
likely to submit a proposal based on S$70 per linear metre, the baseline 
price. As dealt with earlier, it did not matter whether Rentokil did in fact 
implement or adhere to the agreement to provide a cover bid or was, on the 
contrary, competing for the project. Either way, the disclosure by 
PestBusters was taken into account in preparing for the proposal. An 
agreement would still be caught under the section 34 prohibition even if it 
was not the intention of an undertaking so agreeing to implement or adhere 
to the terms of the agreement.  

185. The Commission considers that the evidence above makes out the elements 
of an agreement, or at the very least, a concerted practice in breach of the 
section 34 prohibition. The email exchange in paragraph 148 between 
PestBusters and Rentokil, who were competitors, shows that the conduct of 
PestBusters and Rentokil was not unilateral and that the quotes submitted 

                                                 
212 See Answer to Question 95 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information / Explanation 
Provided on 28 April 2007. 
213 See Answer to Question 44, 113 and 131 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information / 
Explanation Provided on 30 April 2007. 
214 SA Musique Diffusion Francaise and Others v Commission [1983] ECR 1825 at paragraph 97. 
215 Argos Limited and Littlewoods Limited v Office of Fair Trading [2004] CAT 24 at paragraph 771. 
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were subject to collusion. Such contact between PestBusters and Rentokil 
infringes the principle that each undertaking must determine independently 
the policy it intends to adopt in a market.  It is clear from Peter Fernandis’ 
conduct in seeking a cover bid and Joseph Ong’s conduct in agreeing to 
provide a cover bid that PestBusters and Rentokil did not determine or 
intend to determine their proposal prices independently. The conduct of 
PestBusters and Rentokil had as its intention or consequence the disclosure 
by PestBusters to Rentokil of a course of action that it was to adopt or was 
contemplating adopting in the tendering process i.e. that it was going to 
submit a proposal at S$70 per linear meter.  Such disclosure by PestBusters 
influenced the conduct of Rentokil on the market in that Rentokil took 
account of the information it received from PestBusters when submitting its 
proposal by drawing on the understanding between the AAAs in respect of 
the provision of cover bids. The result was that PestBusters and Rentokil 
substituted practical cooperation for the risks of competition. Their 
cooperation substantially eliminated the uncertainty which they each faced 
as to the conduct of the other in the tender process. The conduct of 
PestBusters providing, and Rentokil receiving and considering, a price for 
the purpose of submission to AH, had as its object the prevention, 
restriction or distortion of competition. 

 
PestBusters and Aardwolf

186. Peter Fernandis had admitted sending the email in paragraph 148(a) to 
Patrick Chong and the other AAAs to inform them of the AH Tender and to 
request support quotes. In his email in paragraph 148(b), he had also 
offered to reimburse the AH Tender document fee of S$30 cash when they 
next met after PestBusters had secured the project. He confirmed that 
Patrick Chong had responded positively to his request via the email in 
paragraph 148(c). In addition, he had called Patrick Chong for a cover bid 
and Patrick Chong agreed. 

187. Patrick Chong confirmed that he had received Peter Fernandis’ emails and 
replied positively. However, he claimed that he was merely giving Peter 
Fernandis the impression that he was going to provide a cover bid. In actual 
fact, he wanted Julia Chew to compete and win the AH Tender. In this 
regard, the Commission notes that Patrick Chong’s statement was not 
corroborated by Julia Chew who understood Patrick Chong’s email as 
telling her to quote higher than Peter Fernandis to increase the latter’s 
chances of winning the tender. 

188. The Commission considers that even though no figures were provided by 
Peter Fernandis to Patrick Chong for the provision of a cover bid by 
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Aardwolf, Patrick Chong knew that S$70 per linear meter was the lowest 
price that an AAA could quote for Agenda Treatment216. Patrick Chong 
was also aware that Rentokil had been penalized in November 2004 with 
additional purchases of Agenda because they had quoted below S$70 per 
linear meter217. Accordingly, the Commission considers that, 
notwithstanding Patrick Chong’s statement that he was not sure how to 
provide a cover bid, Patrick Chong would know that PestBusters could not 
quote below S$70 per linear meter. Hence, Patrick Chong could quote 
above S$70 per linear meter if he wished to implement the agreement to 
provide a cover bid. 

189. In this regard, the Commission notes that Aardwolf’s proposal for Option 1 
and 2 was at S$100 per linear meter, a 42% mark-up as opposed to Julia 
Chew’s usual mark-up of 20 to 25%. Julia Chew cited the following 
reasons for giving a higher quote –  

 
a) AH may be moving and therefore the project may not be awarded218; 
b) there were operational constraints such as working on weekends 

only and restrictions on the use of certain equipment for Agenda 
Treatment so the project may not be worth the while unless she got it 
at a high price219; and 

c) she had to cost in baiting stations and she could not estimate the 
numbers so she just marked up the price220. 

190. The Commission has difficulty understanding how any impending move of 
AH and the fact that the project might not be awarded could be a reason for 
marking up Aardwolf’s proposal price. The Commission also notes that she 
could not explain why she could not estimate the number of baiting stations 
when she had attended the compulsory site show round at AH. The 
Commission considers that her explanation in paragraph 189(b) may be 
logical but notes that she did not explain how such operational constraints 
would result in a mark up of 42% from the S$70 per linear meter minimum 
price instead of her usual mark-up of 20 – 25%. In fact, the Commission 
notes that she stated that the mark-up was high enough for Aardwolf to 

                                                 
216 See Answer to Question 68 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information / Explanation Provided on 30 
March 2007. 
217 See Answer to Question 75 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information / Explanation Provided on 30 
March 2007. 
218 See Answer to Question 252 of Julia Chew’s Notes of Information / Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
219 See Answer to Question 167 of Julia Chew’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
220 See Answer to Question 174 of Julia Chew’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
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provide extra services like TermiCam if they were required221. Further 
when asked if she had internal working papers on Aardwolf’s proposal for 
the AH Tender, her answer was 222: 

 
A:  No. These are simple calculations of linear meters multiply by 100. 

191. The Commission notes that during her interview, Julia Chew had 
repeatedly claimed that Aardwolf had a low chance of succeeding in the 
AH Tender. She had also stated that Aardwolf’s prices were generally 
higher than PestBusters’ prices and if Aardwolf had wanted to win the AH 
Tender, they would have to quote lower. Given this, the mark-up of 42% in 
Aardwolf’s proposal clearly suggests that Aardwolf did not intend to win 
the tender. 

192. The Commission considers it reasonable to infer that Julia Chew must have 
considered Patrick Chong’s agreement to provide a cover bid to support 
Peter Fernandis in preparing Aardwolf’s proposal. As she considered that 
Aardwolf had a low chance of succeeding in the AH Tender, she decided 
that she would not put in 100% of her effort into the preparation of the 
Aardwolf proposal. She then prepared Aardwolf’s proposal using a simple 
calculation of S$100 per linear meter. 

193. The Commission also considers that Aardwolf’s proposal prices for the AH 
Tender at S$513,200 for Option 1 and S$313,500 for Option 2 (at S$100 
per linear meter), which are based on a per linear metre rate higher than the 
S$70 per linear meter stated by Peter Fernandis as forming the 
understanding amongst AAAs in providing cover bids, is consistent with an 
agreement between PestBusters and Aardwolf to provide a cover bid and 
fix prices. 

194. In any event, it would not matter if Patrick Chong did not intend to 
implement or adhere to the agreement to provide a cover bid and wanted to 
compete for the project (i.e. that he had instructed his staff to fight and win 
the project). The Commission considers that such an agreement would still 
be caught under the section 34 prohibition even if it was not the intention of 
an undertaking so agreeing to implement or adhere to the terms of the 
agreement. 

195. The Commission considers that the evidence above makes out the elements 
of an agreement, or at the very least, a concerted practice in breach of the 

                                                 
221 See Answer to Question 179 of Julia Chew’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
222 See Answer to Question 175 of Julia Chew’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
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section 34 prohibition. The email exchange in paragraph 148 between 
PestBusters and Aardwolf, who were competitors, shows that the conduct 
of PestBusters and Aardwolf was not unilateral and that the quotes 
submitted were subject to collusion. The conduct of PestBusters and 
Aardwolf infringes the principle that each undertaking must determine 
independently the policy it intends to adopt in a market.  It is clear from 
Peter Fernandis’ conduct in seeking a cover bid and Patrick Chong’s 
conduct in agreeing to provide a cover bid that PestBusters and Aardwolf 
did not determine or intend to determine their proposal prices 
independently. The conduct of PestBusters and Aardwolf had as its 
intention or consequence the disclosure by PestBusters to Aardwolf of a 
course of action that it was to adopt or was contemplating adopting in the 
tendering process i.e. that it was going to submit a proposal at S$70 per 
linear meter.  Such disclosure by PestBusters influenced the conduct of 
Aardwolf on the market in that Aardwolf took into account the information 
it received from PestBusters when submitting its proposal by drawing on 
the understanding between the AAAs in respect of the provision of cover 
bids.  The result was that PestBusters and Aardwolf substituted practical 
cooperation for the risks of competition. Their cooperation substantially 
eliminated the uncertainty which they each faced as to the conduct of the 
other in the tender process. The conduct of PestBusters providing, and 
Aardwolf receiving and using, a price for the purpose of submission to AH, 
had as its object the prevention, restriction or distortion of competition. 

 
PestBusters and Killem   

196. Peter Fernandis had admitted sending an email in paragraph 148(a) to 
Harry Singh and the other AAAs to inform them of the AH Tender and to 
request support quotes. In his email in paragraph 148(b), he had also 
offered to reimburse the AH Tender document fee of S$30 when they next 
met after PestBusters had secured the project. He stated that this was to 
keep Harry Singh in the loop; it was not sent with the intention of seeking a 
cover bid from Harry Singh nor was he expecting any response from Harry 
Singh. He also did not call Harry Singh to ask for a cover bid. 

197. The Commission has difficulty understanding why there was a need to keep 
Harry Singh in the loop if there was no intention to seek a cover bid from 
Killem. The Commission also notes that Killem understood the email to be 
a request for a support quote and could not fail to have taken it into account 
in submitting its proposal to AH. In addition, Killem put in a quotation for 
Option 1 at S$393,070 which, at a total of 5132 linear metres, worked out 
to be a rate of S$76.59 per linear metre. Clearly then, the statement given 
by Harry Singh that Killem’s quote was at S$69 per linear metre was 
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incorrect and misleading. Even though no figures were provided by Peter 
Fernandis for the provision of a cover bid, Harry Singh must have known 
that S$70 per linear metre was the lowest price that an AAA could quote 
for Agenda Treatment and that PestBusters would not quote below this 
figure. The Commission considers that Killem’s proposal, based on 
S$76.59 per linear metre, which is higher than S$70 per linear metre, is 
consistent with a concerted practice between PestBusters and Killem to 
collude in the fixing of prices and for the latter to provide a cover bid. 

198. As set out earlier in the case of Sukie Unie and others v Commission, the 
requirement of independence precludes any direct or indirect contact 
between competitors, the object or effect of which was either to influence 
the conduct on the market of a competitor or to disclose to such a 
competitor the course of conduct which they themselves have decided to 
adopt or contemplate adopting on the market. While Killem may argue that 
it had received an unsolicited email, it could not argue that it had to act in 
the way it did as it could have, among other courses of action, reported the 
matter to the authorities. In Tréfileurope v European Commission223, the 
brief facts of which are set out in paragraph 41 and which was referred to 
earlier in paragraph 125 and 126, the CFI rejected Tréfileurope’s argument 
that it took part in the meetings because it was forced to do so in order to 
avoid negative reactions, since the French producers brought considerable 
pressure to bear on it. 

 
58. The Court considers that the applicant cannot rely on the fact that it 

participated in the meetings against its will. It could have 
complained to the competent authorities about the pressure brought 
to bear on it and lodged a complaint with the Commission under 
Article 3 of Regulation No 17 rather than participating in such 
meetings (see the judgment of the Court of First Instance in Case 
T-9/89 Huels v Commission [1992] ECR II-499, paragraph 128).     

199. In Huels v Commission, Huels participated in a series of meetings, the 
purpose of which was, in particular, to fix target prices and sales volumes. 
Huels claimed that as a small producer it was obliged to attend the 
meetings. The argument was rejected by the CFI: 
 

123 The applicant cannot claim that as a small producer it could not 
afford to stay away from the meetings; after all, since it could have 
reported them to the Commission and asked it to order them to be 
brought to an end. 

                                                 
223 Case T-141/89 [1995] ECR II-791. 
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200. The Commission considers that the evidence is sufficient to establish the 
elements of a concerted practice in breach of the section 34 prohibition. The 
email exchange in paragraph 148, where they involve PestBusters and 
Killem, who were competitors, shows that the conduct of PestBusters and 
Killem was not unilateral and that the quotes submitted were subject to 
collusion. The conduct of PestBusters and Killem infringes the principle 
that each undertaking must determine independently the policy it intends to 
adopt in a market.  It is clear from Peter Fernandis’ conduct in seeking a 
cover bid and Harry Singh’s conduct in submitting a quote above the 
minimum price of S$70 per linear metre that PestBusters and Killem did 
not determine or intend to determine their proposal prices independently. 
The conduct of PestBusters and Killem had as its intention or consequence 
the disclosure by PestBusters to Killem of a course of action that it was to 
adopt or was contemplating adopting in the tendering process i.e. that it was 
going to submit a proposal at S$70 per linear meter.  Such disclosure by 
PestBusters influenced the conduct of Killem on the market in that Killem 
took into account the information it received from PestBusters when 
submitting its proposal by drawing on the understanding between the AAAs 
in respect of the provision of cover bids.  The result was that PestBusters 
and Killem substituted practical cooperation for the risks of competition. 
Their cooperation substantially eliminated the uncertainty which they each 
faced as to the conduct of the other in the tender process. The conduct of 
PestBusters in providing, and Killem in receiving and taking into account 
information for the purpose of submission to AH, had as its object the 
prevention, restriction or distortion of competition.  

 
PestBusters and Elite 

201. Peter Fernandis had admitted sending an email in paragraph 148(a) to 
Francis Loh and the other AAAs to inform them of the AH Tender and to 
request support quotes. In his email in paragraph 148(b), he had also 
offered to reimburse the AH Tender document fee of S$30 when they next 
met after PestBusters had secured the project. In addition, he had made a 
call to Francis Loh for a cover bid and Francis Loh agreed. 

202. Francis Loh said that he could not remember receiving any call from Peter 
Fernandis for a cover bid for the AH Tender. He stated that there was no 
need for Peter Fernandis to call him since Peter Fernandis had already 
emailed. He said that he did not respond to Peter Fernandis’ emails or 
attend the site show round or put in a proposal. Besides the email to which 
Francis Loh did not respond, the evidence of any other contact between 
them given by Peter Fernandis was not supported by Francis Loh or any 
other documents and evidence. Further, no representative from Elite 
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attended the compulsory site show round and Elite did not submit any 
proposal for the AH Tender. Given that Francis Loh has been forthcoming 
on Elite’s involvement on other projects during his interviews224, the 
Commission considers that there is insufficient evidence to show that Elite 
was party to an agreement and/or concerted practice with PestBusters to 
provide a cover bid and fix prices for the AH Tender. 

 
The Commission's conclusions on the infringement 

203. The Commission concludes that the totality of the evidence, as set out and 
analysed at paragraphs 142 to 202 above, establishes that an agreement 
and/or concerted practice was in place between – 
a) PestBusters and Alliance; 
b) PestBusters and Rentokil;  
c) PestBusters and Aardwolf; and 
d) PestBusters and Killem,   
which had the object of fixing the prices in relation to the proposals for the 
AH Tender, in breach of the section 34 prohibition. 

 
iii) Hawaii Tower Condominium 
 
The facts and the evidence 

204. Sometime between 6 January 2006 and 2 February 2006, Hawaii Tower 
(Management Corporation Strata Title Plan No 920), at 77 Meyer Road, 
Singapore 437903 (“Hawaii Tower”), invited Aardwolf, Alliance and 
PestBusters to submit quotes for termite treatment for the estate225. 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
224 See Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 12 January 2007 and 4 June 2007. 
225 See information provided by Hawaii Tower in their letter to the Commission dated 30 January 2007 
pursuant to the Commission’s section 63 notice to request for information and documents dated 5 
December 2006. 
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205. As at 17 March 2006, three quotes were received by Hawaii Tower as 
follows226: 

 
Name of pest 

control operator 
submitting quote 

Quote price 
(corrective 

treatment of 
common areas) 

Quote price 
(inspection 

per unit) 

Date on Quote 

Alliance227  S$44,780 S$18 2 February 2006 
Aardwolf228 S$56,100 S$50 3 February 2006 
PestBusters229 S$62,000 S$65 2 February 2006 

206. According to Hawaii Tower, Alliance, their existing estate pest control 
maintenance contractor, had included in their quotation, a yearly inspection 
of the entire common area and installation of 30 termite monitoring stations 
around the landscape area to monitor termite invasion, while the other 
quotes did not. Hawaii Tower decided on 17 April 2006 to award the 
project to Alliance at S$44,780 for corrective treatment of common areas 
and for inspection of individual units at $18 per unit as they provided the 
lowest quotes230. Alliance carried out and completed the treatment by 4 July 
2006231. 

207. During our investigations232, we uncovered the following email: 
 

“From: Philip [philip@alliancepest.com.sg] 
Sent: Thursday, February 02, 2006 5.38 PM 
To: Peter (PestBuster) 
Subject: Support Quote 

                                                 
226  See Information and Documents provided by Hawaii Tower in their letter to the Commission dated 30 
January 2007 pursuant to the Commission’s section 63 notice to request for information and documents 
dated 5 December 2006.  
227 Quote was provided by Philip Tan during the Commission’s entry into Alliance’s premises on 23 
November 2006 pursuant to Section 64 of the Act. Quote was also provided by Hawaii Tower in their letter 
to the Commission dated 30 January 2007 pursuant to the Commission’s section 63 notice to request for 
information and documents dated 5 December 2006. 
228 Quote was provided by Patrick Chong to the Commission on 30 March 2007 pursuant to the 
Commission’s section 63 notice to request for information and documents dated 22 March 2007.  
229 Quote was provided by Peter Fernandis during the Commission’s entry into PestBusters’ premises on 23 
November 2006 pursuant to Section 64 of the Act and marked PF10A. 
230 See Minutes of the 3rd Management Council Meeting held on 17 April 2006 and information provided 
by Hawaii Tower in their letter to the Commission dated 30 January 2007 pursuant to the Commission’s 
section 63 notice to request for information and documents dated 5 December 2006. 
231 See Alliance’s invoices dated 26 May 2007 and 4 July 2007 provided by Hawaii Tower in their letter to 
the Commission dated 30 January 2007 pursuant to the Commission’s section 63 notice to request for 
information and documents dated 5 December 2006. 
232 Provided by Peter Fernandis during the Commission’s entry into PestBusters’ premises on 23 November 
2006 pursuant to Section 64 of the Act. 
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 Hi Peter,  
 

Gong Xi Fa Cai, Can you support the Agenda quote for Hawaii Tower, our 
existing Client. Details are below :- 
 
Hawaii Tower – MCST No : 920 
77 Meyer Road  
#01-01 Management Office 
Singapore 437903 
Mr Loh 

 
Please exclude Timbograph233 for the inspection and please quote above 
$55k for the corrective treatment. Consist of 3 Blocks, a Club House, 
Guard House and BBQ Hut. 
 
For individual units inspection and treatment, please quote above $50 per 
unit. They have 135 units. 
  
Once ready Can you give me a call, I will collect it from you.  
 
Thanks a million 

  
Philip Tan” 

208. Interview of Alliance personnel234 - Philip Tan said that Alliance had been 
the general pest contractor for Hawaii Tower since 1987235.  The 
development had had termite infestation problems for some time, for which 
Alliance had submitted proposals for Agenda Treatment. When a new 
Management Council was appointed, Alliance submitted another proposal 
for Agenda Treatment and provided a list of the other AAAs whom the 
Management Council could approach for a quotation for Agenda 
Treatment236. 

209. Philip Tan said that after he provided the list, he contacted all the AAAs, 
namely, Peter Fernandis (PestBusters), Joseph Ong (Rentokil), Patrick 
Chong (Aardwolf), Harry Singh (Killem) and Francis Loh (Elite), either by 

                                                 
233 Timbograph is the detection of termites through a hand held device using graphs.  
234 See Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 2007.  
235 See Answer to Question 73 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 
2007. 
236 See Answer to Question 74 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 
2007. 
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email237, phone call or text messages (“SMS”)238, to request support quotes 
for the Agenda Treatment project at Hawaii Tower239. 

210. Philip Tan said that he spoke with Peter Fernandis, who told him that he 
was busy and to email him the details on the support quote240.  He followed 
up with the email referred to in paragraph 207 to Peter Fernandis241. As 
Peter Fernandis was busy, Phillip Tan offered to, and did, collect 
PestBusters’ quote in a sealed envelope for submission to Hawaii Tower242. 

211. Philip Tan also said that Alliance’s quote at S$44,780 for corrective 
treatment of the common area was based on S$70 per linear meter with 
additional costs for 30 termite monitoring stations243. The price of $18 for 
inspection and treatment per unit was a special price as Hawaii Tower has 
been their client for the longest time244. The market rate was S$50 per unit 
for inspection and treatment. 

212. When asked how he had arrived at the figure of S$55,000 for corrective 
treatment of the common area given to Peter Fernandis to quote to Hawaii 
Tower in the email referred to in paragraph 207, Philip Tan stated245: 

 
A: I just plucked out the figure from nowhere; it could be any figure as long 

as it was higher than the figure I intended to quote for Hawaii Tower. 

213. As for the other AAAs, namely, Joseph Ong, Patrick Chong, Harry Singh 
and Francis Loh, Philip Tan said that he told them to quote higher than 
Alliance’s quote of S$44,780 for the corrective treatment of the common 
area and S$18 for inspection and treatment of each unit246 and all of them 

                                                 
237 Philip Tan contacted Peter Fernandis for support quote through email (see email referred to in paragraph 
207). See Answer to Question 75 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 
2007. 
238 Philip Tan contacted Joseph Ong, Patrick Chong, Harry Singh and Francis Loh either through phone call 
or SMS. See Answer to Question 85, 89, 93 and 97 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation 
Provided on 9 March 2007. 
239 See Answer to Question 75, 76 & 77, 85 & 86, 89 & 90, 93 & 94 and 97& 98 of Philip Tan’s Notes of 
Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 2007. 
240 See Answer to Question 79 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 
2007. 
241 See Answer to Question 76 and 79 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 
March 2007. 
242 See Answer to Question 79 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 
2007. 
243 See Answer to Question 83 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 
2007. 
244 See Answer to Question 83 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 
2007. 
245 See Question 80 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 2007. 
246 See Answer to Question 84, 86, 90, 94 and 98 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation 
Provided on 9 March 2007. 
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agreed to support him247. Philip Tan said that if all the AAAs had decided 
not to render support, he might have just quoted S$35,000 for corrective 
treatment at S$70 per linear metre without including the cost of the 
monitoring system to make the quote more competitive. He would then 
have explained the monitoring system during the presentation and informed 
the Management Council of the additional costs involved248. 

214. Interview of PestBusters personnel249 - Peter Fernandis said that he 
received the email (referred to in paragraph 207) requesting a support quote 
from Philip Tan for the Agenda Treatment project at Hawaii Tower250. 
Although he did not respond to the email, he said that he should have called 
Philip Tan to tell him that he would support Philip Tan’s quote251.    

215. When asked how he arrived at PestBusters’ quote of S$62,000 for 
corrective treatment of the common area and S$65 for inspection and  
treatment of each unit, Peter Fernandis stated252: 

 
A: This was arbitrarily decided. I just quoted higher to support him. It could 

be any other figure that is higher. I do not have the measurements but I can 
guess from his email. 

216. Peter Fernandis also said that he would have quoted differently had he not 
received a request for support quote from Philip Tan. He would have gone 
down to Hawaii Towers to take measurements and would probably have 
quoted at S$75 - S$80 per linear meter253. 

217. Interview of Aardwolf personnel254 - Patrick Chong said that he received a 
request (through a SMS or phone call) from either Philip Tan or Andrew 
Chan from Alliance for a support quote for the Agenda Treatment project at 
Hawaii Tower255. The request was channelled to Jenny Law256. 

                                                 
247 See Answer to Question 87, 91, 95 and 99 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided 
on 9 March 2007. 
248 See Answer to Question 101 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 
2007. 
249 See Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 January 2007. 
250 See Answer to Question 55 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 
January 2007. 
251 See Answer to Question 58 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 
January 2007. 
252 See Question 62 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 January 2007. 
253 See Answer to Question 64 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 
January 2007. 
254 See Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 30 March 2007 and 2 April 2007 
and Jenny Law’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 3 April 2007.  
255 See Answer to Question 167 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
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218. On what had transpired with Alliance, Patrick Chong said257: 
 

A: He told me how much he was going to quote for the project and how we 
should quote for the project to support him. I agreed to support quote and I 
channeled the request down to sales and told them to quote according to 
what Alliance tell us to do. In this case, I cannot remember exactly what 
he said he was quoting or how much we should quote. But I am pretty sure 
that the quote that we gave to Hawaii Tower will be higher than what he is 
quoting and above his request. 

219. Patrick Chong said that he was sure that Aardwolf’s quote at S$56,100 for 
Agenda Treatment of the common area and S$50 for inspection and 
treatment of each unit at Hawaii Tower was above what Alliance had 
instructed him to quote as Aardwolf would have supported Alliance258. 

220. He said that Aardwolf supported Alliance as Alliance had given Aardwolf a 
lot of TermiCam jobs over the years and the sales staff benefited from the 
commission for such jobs. If Alliance got the project and TermiCam was 
used, then Alliance might give them the TermiCam job and benefit the 
sales staff259. In addition, Patrick Chong stated that the chance of Aardwolf 
getting the termite treatment jobs at condominiums was slim as Aardwolf 
was considered expensive260. 

221. When asked if Jenny Law would have considered Alliance’s request for 
support quote in coming to Aardwolf’s proposal, Patrick Chong stated261: 

 
A: Yes, she would have taken that in consideration. In the normal 

circumstances, she would have gone down to the site for an inspection and 
then quote based on a marked-up price. As to what is the amount of mark-
up, that will really depend on each sales person. In fact, you can tell from 
the quotations submitted by us for Hawaii Towers and Riverplace that 
they are very simple and straight forward, unlike those where we really 
want to get the project where there will lots of literature on the benefits of 
using us, etc. 

 

                                                                                                                                                 
256 See Answer to Question 173 and 174 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 
2 April 2007. 
257 See Question 168 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 2007. 
258 See Answer to Question 172 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
259 See Answer to Question 174 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
260 See Answer to Question 174 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
261 See Questions 175 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 2007. 
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222. Patrick Chong said that Aardwolf’s proposal would have been different and 
the price probably lower if he had not agreed to provide support to 
Alliance262. 

223. In her interview, Jenny Law said that Philip Tan had told her how much 
Alliance was quoting and she then quoted a higher price based on her 
costing to support Alliance.   Alliance was Aardwolf’s client, for whom the 
latter had carried out TermiCam jobs.   If Alliance were to get the project, 
Aardwolf might be given the TermiCam job263. She also said that Patrick 
Chong had instructed, and the sales team also understood, that they were to 
support Alliance, who was both a friendly competitor and a client264. 

224. When asked why Aardwolf would support Alliance in getting the project, 
she stated265: 

 
A: We get the sales commission for the supply of TermiCam service. Small 

component is better than zero component. Some clients require 3 quotes; 
that is their policy. For Hawaii Towers, Alliance is the existing pest 
contractor and they have certain advantages. We will be unlikely to get the 
treatment project and that is why it is better to get a small component, 
meaning the TermiCam service, than nothing. That is why I send a simple 
proposal; I did not put much effort in this proposal. But if the client invites 
me to do a presentation, then I will go and do so and if we get the project 
at a higher price, then so be it and then it’s a bonus!  We have always 
gotten projects at higher prices. 

225. Jenny Law said however that there would be no difference in Aardwolf’s 
prices even if they were not supporting Alliance as Aardwolf’s prices 
would have been higher than Alliance’s in any case. This was because they 
included TermiCam and baiting stations as a total termite solution266. 

226. When asked if Alliance had used TermiCam for Hawaii Towers, she 
stated267: 

 
A:  No, sad to say. I cannot control whether Alliance give us the TermiCam 

service.  I am grateful when they do.  There is no written agreement that 

                                                 
262 See Answer to Question 176 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
263 See Answers to Questions 132 and 134 of Law Kum Peng’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided 
on 3 April 2007. 
264 See Answers to Questions 135 of Law Kum Peng’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 3 
April 2007. 
265 See Question 136 of Law Kum Peng’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 3 April 2007. 
266 See Answer to Question 139 of Law Kum Peng’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 3 April 
2007. 
267 See Question 143 of Law Kum Peng’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 3 April 2007. 

 84



 

Alliance will give us the TermiCam job but just an understanding that they 
would. Riverplace is one of those that which they give us their TermiCam 
after we have provided a quote based on the relevant costing. 

227. Interview of Rentokil personnel268 - Joseph Ong said that the Agenda 
Treatment project at Hawaii Tower sounded familiar but he could not 
remember or recall what actually happened269. 

228. When informed that Philip Tan had admitted calling him to tell him that 
Alliance was the existing pest control operator at Hawaii Tower and had 
asked for a support quote for Agenda Treatment at Hawaii Tower, Joseph 
Ong said270: 

 
A: I should think that if Philip says so, then it is correct. Where is this project 

by the way? 
 
Q123. Hawaii Tower is at Meyer Road. 
A: Ok, it sounds familiar. I think it is correct. 

229. Joseph Ong said that if Philip Tan had called him with a request for a 
support quote, Philip Tan would have given him the amount to quote271. He 
said that he would have agreed to support Philip Tan272 and would, if 
invited by Hawaii Tower, have quoted as requested by Philip Tan to 
support Alliance273. But for Philip Tan’s request for a support quote, 
Rentokil would have quoted differently at $70 per linear meter if they had 
been invited to quote by Hawaii Tower274. 

230. Interview of Elite personnel275 – Francis Loh said that the name “Hawaii 
Tower” was familiar but he could not recall the details of the Agenda 
Treatment project at Hawaii Tower276. 

                                                 
268 See Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 30 April 2007. 
269 See Answer to Question 121 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information/Explanation 
Provided on 30 April 2007. 
270 See Question 122 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 
30 April 2007. 
271 See Answer to Question 125 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information/Explanation 
Provided on 30 April 2007. 
272 See Answer to Question 126 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information/Explanation 
Provided on 30 April 2007. 
273 See Answer to Question 130 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information/Explanation 
Provided on 30 April 2007. 
274 See Answer to Question 131 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information/Explanation 
Provided on 30 April 2007. 
275 See Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 1 June 2007. 
276 See Answer to Question 14 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 1 June 
2007. 
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231. When informed that Philip Tan had admitted calling him to say that 
Alliance was the existing pest control operator at Hawaii Tower and to ask 
for a support quote for Agenda Treatment at Hawaii Tower, Francis Loh 
said 277: 

 
A: I cannot remember but if Philip said that he did call me, then it is highly 

likely that he called me. If he had called me, then that will definitely be 
what he would have told me. 

232. He also said that he would have agreed to support Philip278. 

233. Interview of Killem personnel279 – Harry Singh said that he was not aware 
of the Agenda Treatment project at Hawaii Tower, he was not invited to 
quote and did not receive any request for support from Alliance for the 
project280. He said that he did not talk much to Alliance or for that matter, 
any of the AAAs except for Francis Loh281. 

 
The Commission's analysis of the evidence 
 
Alliance and PestBusters 

234. Philip Tan admitted that he had asked for a cover bid from Peter Fernandis 
for the termite treatment project at Hawaii Tower by a phone call or SMS. 
Peter Fernandis was busy and asked for an email on the details. Philip Tan 
then emailed Peter Fernandis (see paragraph 207), to quote above S$55,000 
for corrective treatment of the common area and S$50 for inspection and 
treatment of each individual unit. Philip Tan had also offered in the email to 
collect and did in fact collect PestBusters’ quote to submit to Hawaii Tower 
He believed that Peter Fernandis would have put in a cover bid. 

235. Peter Fernandis admitted receiving Philip Tan’s email and said that he 
would have responded positively to Philip Tan by agreeing to provide a 
cover bid, via a phone call. PestBusters then submitted a quote at S$62,000 
for corrective treatment of the common area and S$65 for inspection and 
treatment of each individual unit. The Commission considers that 
PestBusters’ quote of $62,000 for corrective treatment of the common area 
and $65 for inspection and treatment of each unit, which was higher than 

                                                 
277 See Question 15 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 1 June 2007. 
278 See Answer to Question 16 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 1 June 
2007. 
279 See Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 30 May 2007. 
280 See Answer to Question 10 and 11 of Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 30 
May 2007. 
281 See Answer to Question 12 of Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 30 May 
2007. 
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Philip Tan’s figures of $55,000 and $50 per unit as stated in the latter’s 
email and Alliance’s quote of S$44,780 for corrective treatment of the 
common area and S$18 for inspection and treatment for each unit, is also 
consistent with an agreement between Alliance and PestBusters for the 
latter to provide a cover bid and collude in fixing prices. 

236. The Commission considers that the evidence above makes out the elements 
of an agreement, or at the very least, a concerted practice in breach of the 
section 34 prohibition. The email of 2 February 2006 in paragraph 207 
between Alliance and PestBusters, who were competitors, shows that the 
conduct of Alliance and PestBusters was not unilateral and that the quotes 
submitted were subject to collusion. The conduct of Alliance and 
PestBusters infringes the principle that each undertaking must determine 
independently the policy it intends to adopt in a market.  It is clear from 
Philip Tan’s conduct in seeking a cover bid and Peter Fernandis in agreeing 
to provide a cover bid that Alliance and PestBusters did not determine or 
intend to determine their quote prices independently. The conduct of 
Alliance and PestBusters had as its intention or consequence the disclosure 
by Alliance to PestBusters of a course of action that it was to adopt or was 
contemplating adopting in the tendering process, i.e. that it was intending to 
submit a quote of less than S$55,000 for corrective treatment of the 
common area and S$50 for inspection and treatment of each individual unit.  
Such disclosure by Alliance influenced the conduct of PestBusters on the 
market in that PestBusters took into account the information it received 
from Alliance when submitting its quote by considering the figure provided 
in Philip Tan’s 2 February 2006 email. The result was that Alliance and 
PestBusters substituted practical cooperation for the risks of competition. 
Their cooperation substantially eliminated the uncertainty which they each 
faced as to the conduct of the other in the tender process. The conduct of 
Alliance providing, and PestBusters receiving and considering, a price for 
the purpose of submission to Hawaii Tower, had as its object the 
prevention, restriction or distortion of competition. 

 
Alliance and Aardwolf

237. Philip Tan admitted that he had requested a cover bid from Patrick Chong 
for the Agenda Treatment project at Hawaii Tower by a phone call or SMS 
and informed him of Alliance’s intended quote at S$44,780 for corrective 
treatment of the common area and S$18 for inspection and treatment of 
each unit. He said that Patrick Chong had agreed to provide a cover bid. 

238. Philip Tan’s statement was corroborated by Patrick Chong who admitted 
receiving a request from Alliance for a cover bid for the Agenda Treatment 
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project at Hawaii Tower. According to Patrick Chong, Philip Tan had given 
him information on how much he was quoting and how Aardwolf could 
support him. Patrick Chong admitted that he agreed to and Aardwolf did 
provide a cover bid at S$56,100 for corrective treatment of the common 
area and S$50 for inspection and treatment of each unit. The Commission 
considers that Aardwolf’s quote of $56,100 for corrective treatment of the 
common areas and $50 for inspection and treatment of each unit, which is 
higher than Alliance’s quote of S$44,780 and S$18 respectively, is 
consistent with an agreement between Alliance and Aardwolf to fix prices 
and for the latter to provide a cover bid. 

239. The Commission notes that Patrick Chong had alluded to a prior sub-
contracting relationship between Alliance and Aardwolf, where Alliance 
had appointed Aardwolf to carry out a number of TermiCam jobs over the 
years. Patrick Chong said that he had agreed to provide a cover bid for 
Alliance, their client, partly because Aardwolf hoped that if Alliance were 
to get the project and use TermiCam, Alliance might give Aardwolf the 
TermiCam job. 

240. The investigations show that the Parties did not appear to contemplate or 
discuss the provision of TermiCam service prior to the award of the Agenda 
Treatment project at Hawaii Tower to Alliance. In fact, no TermiCam was 
used for the project at Hawaii Tower.  The communications between 
Alliance and Aardwolf were not therefore for the purpose of discussing a 
possible TermiCam subcontract.   The Commission considers that even if 
Alliance and Aardwolf were communicating on a possible TermiCam 
subcontract, the communications would centre around the issues or details 
of such a subcontract and not the price of the Agenda Treatment project for 
Hawaii Tower.   

241. There was no reason for Alliance to provide Aardwolf with their intended 
quote unless Alliance wanted Aardwolf to put in a higher quote. If 
Aardwolf were to submit a quote higher than Alliance’s in the hope of 
getting a TermiCam sub-contract from Alliance, this would still amount to 
the provision of a cover bid. 

242. The Commission considers that the evidence above makes out the elements 
of an agreement, or at the very least, a concerted practice in breach of the 
section 34 prohibition. The phone call or SMS between Alliance and 
Aardwolf, who were competitors, shows that the conduct of Alliance and 
Aardwolf was not unilateral and that any quotes submitted were subject to 
collusion. The conduct of Alliance and Aardwolf infringes the principle 
that each undertaking must determine independently the policy it intends to 
adopt in a market.  It is clear from Philip Tan’s conduct in seeking a cover 
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bid and Patrick Chong’s conduct in agreeing to provide a cover bid that 
Alliance and Aardwolf did not determine or intend to determine their quote 
prices independently. The conduct of Alliance and Aardwolf had as its 
intention or consequence the disclosure by Alliance to Aardwolf of a course 
of action that it was to adopt or was contemplating adopting in the 
tendering process, i.e. that it was intending to submit a quote of S$44,780 
for corrective treatment of the common area and S$18 for inspection and 
treatment of each individual unit.  Such disclosure by Alliance influenced 
the conduct of Aardwolf on the market in that Aardwolf took into account 
the information it received from Alliance in submitting its proposal to 
Hawaii Tower. The result was that Alliance and Aardwolf substituted 
practical cooperation for the risks of competition. Their cooperation 
substantially eliminated the uncertainty which they each face as to the 
conduct of the other in the tender process. The conduct of Alliance 
providing, and Aardwolf in receiving and using, a price for the purpose of 
submission to Hawaii Tower, had as its object the prevention, restriction or 
distortion of competition. 

 
Alliance and Rentokil

243. Philip Tan admitted that he had requested a cover bid from Joseph Ong for 
the Agenda Treatment project at Hawaii Tower by a phone call or SMS and 
informed him of Alliance’s intended quote at S$44,780 for corrective 
treatment of the common area and S$18 for inspection and treatment of 
each unit. He said that Joseph Ong had agreed to provide a cover bid. 

244. Philip Tan’s statement was corroborated by Joseph Ong who, on being 
informed that Philip Tan had said that he, Joseph Ong, had agreed to render 
support when Philip Tan had called him to request a support quote for the 
Hawaii Tower project and informed him of the amount that Alliance would 
quote, was prepared to accept Philip Tan’s word and confirm the latter’s 
account of the events.     

245. The Commission considers that the evidence above makes out the elements 
of an agreement, or at the very least, a concerted practice in breach of the 
section 34 prohibition. The telephone call between Alliance and Rentokil, 
who were competitors, shows that the conduct of Alliance and Rentokil was 
not unilateral and that any quotes submitted were subject to collusion. The 
conduct of Alliance and Rentokil infringes the principle that each 
undertaking must determine independently the policy it intends to adopt in 
a market.  It is clear from Philip Tan’s conduct in seeking a cover bid and 
Joseph Ong’s conduct in agreeing to provide a cover bid that Alliance and 
Rentokil did not determine or intend to determine their quote prices 
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independently. The conduct of Alliance and Rentokil had as its intention or 
consequence the disclosure by Alliance to Rentokil of a course of conduct 
that it was to adopt or was contemplating adopting in the tendering process, 
i.e., that it was intending to submit a quote of S$44,780 for corrective 
treatment of the common area and S$18 for inspection and treatment of 
each unit.  Such disclosure by Alliance would have influenced the conduct 
of Rentokil on the market in that Rentokil would have taken into account 
the information it received from Alliance if it was invited to tender. The 
result was that Alliance and Rentokil intended to substitute practical 
cooperation for the risks of competition. Their cooperation would 
substantially eliminate the uncertainty which each faced as to the conduct 
of the other in the tender process. The conduct of Alliance in providing, and 
Rentokil in receiving and considering, a price for the purpose of submission 
to Hawaii Tower, had as its object the prevention, restriction or distortion 
of competition. 

246. Although Rentokil was not invited to quote for the Agenda Treatment 
project at Hawaii Tower, the Commission considers that the agreement or 
concerted practice between Alliance and Rentokil would still be caught 
under the section 34 prohibition. As set out earlier in Tréfilunion v 
Commission and P. Hüls AG v. Commission, there can be an agreement or 
concerted practice in the absence of an actual effect on the market. As the 
object of the agreement or concerted practice between Alliance and 
Rentokil was clearly anti-competitive, it is not necessary to demonstrate 
that the agreement and/or concerted practice had manifested itself in 
conduct on the market or that it had had effects restrictive of competition. 
As the CAT held in Apex, a concerted practice is made out at a stage prior 
to consideration of whether the person receiving the price actually puts in a 
tender. 

 
Alliance and Elite

247. Philip Tan admitted that he had requested a cover bid from Francis Loh for 
the Agenda Treatment project at Hawaii Tower by a phone call or SMS and 
informed him of Alliance’s intended quote at S$44,780 for corrective 
treatment of the common area and S$18 for inspection and treatment of 
each unit. He said that Francis Loh had agreed to provide a cover bid. 

248. On being informed that Philip Tan had said that he, Francis Loh, had 
agreed to render support when Philip Tan had called him to request a 
support quote for the Hawaii Tower project and informed him of the 
amount that Alliance would quote, Francis Loh was prepared to accept 
Philip Tan’s word and confirm the latter’s account of the events.    

 90



 

249. The Commission considers that the evidence above makes out the elements 
of an agreement, or at the very least, a concerted practice in breach of the 
section 34 prohibition. The telephone call between Alliance and Elite, who 
were competitors, shows that the conduct of Alliance and Elite was not 
unilateral and that any quotes submitted were subject to collusion. The 
conduct of Alliance and Elite infringes the principle that each undertaking 
must determine independently the policy it intends to adopt in a market.  It 
is clear from Philip Tan’s conduct in seeking a cover bid and Francis Loh’s 
conduct in agreeing to provide a cover bid that Alliance and Elite did not 
determine or intend to determine their quote prices independently. The 
conduct of Alliance and Elite had as its intention or consequence the 
disclosure by Alliance to Elite of a course of conduct that it was to adopt or 
was contemplating adopting in the tendering process, i.e. that it was 
intending to submit a quote of S$44,780 for corrective treatment of the 
common area and S$18 for inspection and treatment of each unit.  Such 
disclosure by Alliance would have influenced the conduct of Elite on the 
market in that Elite would have taken into account the information it 
received from Alliance if it was invited to tender. The result was that 
Alliance and Elite intended to substitute practical cooperation for the risks 
of competition. Their cooperation will substantially eliminate the 
uncertainty which they each face as to the conduct of the other in the tender 
process. The conduct of Alliance in providing, and Elite in receiving and 
considering, a price for the purpose of submission to Hawaii Tower, had as 
its object the prevention, restriction or distortion of competition. 

250. Although Elite was not invited to quote for the Agenda Treatment project at 
Hawaii Tower, the Commission considers that the agreement or concerted 
practice between Alliance and Elite would still be caught under the section 
34 prohibition. As set out earlier in Tréfilunion v Commission and P. Hüls 
AG v. Commission, there can be an agreement or concerted practice in the 
absence of an actual effect on the market. As the object of the agreement or 
concerted practice between Alliance and Elite was clearly anti-competitive, 
it is not necessary to demonstrate that the agreement and/or concerted 
practice had manifested itself in conduct on the market or that it had had 
effects restrictive of competition. As the CAT held in Apex, a concerted 
practice is made out at a stage prior to consideration of whether the person 
receiving the price actually puts in a tender. 

 
Alliance and Killem

251. Philip Tan admitted that he had requested a cover bid from Harry Singh for 
the Agenda Treatment project at Hawaii Tower by a phone call or SMS and 
informed him of Alliance’s intended quote at S$44,780 for corrective 
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treatment of the common area and S$18 for inspection and treatment of 
each unit. He said that Harry Singh had agreed to provide a cover bid. 

252. Harry Singh denied receiving any request for a cover bid from Philip Tan. 
The evidence of any contact between Philip Tan and Harry Singh given by 
Philip Tan was not supported by Harry Singh or any other documents and 
evidence. Further, the Commission gathers from the interviews with Peter 
Fernandis282, Francis Loh283, Joseph Ong284 and Patrick Chong285 that Harry 
Singh did not appear to be close to the rest of the AAAs and did not appear 
to be as involved in the support quote arrangement. This is consistent with 
Harry Singh’s statement that he does not talk much to Alliance or for that 
matter, any of the AAAs, except for Francis Loh. The Commission 
therefore considers that there is insufficient evidence to show that Killem 
was party to an agreement and/or concerted practice with Alliance to 
provide a cover bid and fix prices for termite treatment at Hawaii Tower. 

 
The Commission's conclusions on the infringement 

253. The Commission concludes that the totality of the evidence, as set out and 
analysed at paragraphs 204 to 252 above, establishes that an agreement 
and/or concerted practice was in place between – 
a) Alliance and PestBusters; 
b) Alliance and Aardwolf; 
c) Alliance and Rentokil; and 
d) Alliance and Elite,   
which had the object of fixing the prices in relation to the quotes submitted 
for termite treatment at Hawaii Tower, in breach of the section 34 
prohibition. 

                                                 
282 See Answer to Question 24 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 30 May 
2007. 
283 See Answer to Question 164 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 12 January 
2007. 
284 See Answers to Questions 136 to 137 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of 
Information/Explanation Provided on 28 April 2007. 
285 See Answers to Questions 120 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 30 
March 2007. 
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iv) River Place Condominium 
 
The facts and the evidence 

254. On or about 16 May 2006, River Place Condominium (Management 
Corporation Strata Title Plan No 2543) at 60 Havelock Road, Singapore 
169658 (“River Place”), invited Alliance, Aardwolf and Rentokil to submit 
quotes for termite treatment. In an email dated 19 May 2006 obtained from 
River Place, the then condominium manager, one Mr Andrew Pek, had said 
that he had also invited quotes from PestBusters, Elite and Killem286.   

255. By 19 May 2006, River Place had received the following three quotes287: 
 
 

Name of pest control operator 
submitting quote 

Quote price 
 

Date on Quote 

Alliance  S$120,000 17 May 2006 
Rentokil  S$168,000 19 May 2006 
Aardwolf  S$172,000 19 May 2006 

256. It would seem from another email dated 20 May 2006 obtained from River 
Place, that Dr Gong Ing San, Chairman of the Management Council and 
some other members of the Management Council had met with 
representatives of Alliance on the night of 19 May 2006. After negotiation, 
Alliance agreed to reduce their proposal price and the project was awarded 
to Alliance at S$102,000288. Alliance completed the Agenda Treatment by 
end June 2006289. 

257. The Commission received290 from Killem a copy of its quotation dated 19 
May 2006 at S$153,000 which Killem said it had sent to River Place by fax 
on 19 May 2006.  River Place, however, did not appear to have received it.    

258. During our investigations291, we uncovered the following email: 
                                                 
286 See email from Andrew Pek to Dr Gong Ing San sent on 19 May 2006, 2.31pm provided by River Place 
in their letter to the Commission dated 20 December 2006 pursuant to the Commission’s section 63 notice 
to request for information and documents dated 5 December 2006. 
287 Quotes provided by River Place in their letter to the Commission dated 20 December 2006 pursuant to 
the Commission’s section 63 notice to request for information and documents dated 5 December 2006.   
288 See email from Kit Blewitt to Andrew Pek, Anthony Lim and cc to Dr Gong Ing San, Raymond Ang, 
Jeofery Yeo; James Tan, Eric Wee and Bernard Yang sent on 20 May 2006, 9.55 am provided by River 
Place in their letter to the Commission dated 20 December 2006 pursuant to the Commission’s section 63 
notice to request for information and documents dated 5 December 2006. See also revised quote dated 20 
May 2006 from Alliance provided by River Place under the same letter.  
289 Information provided by River Place in their letter to the Commission dated 20 December 2006 pursuant 
to the Commission’s section 63 notice to request for information and documents dated 5 December 2006. 
290 Pursuant to the section 63 Notice issued by the Commission dated 24 May 2007. 
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“From: Peter Fernandis 
To: ‘Philip Tan (Alliance) (E-mail)’  
Sent: Saturday, May 20, 2006 11:05 AM 
Subject: Re: Alexandra Hospital – Anti Termite Tender 

 
Andrew called me with regards to Riverplace Condo but I have not heard 
from them as yet but will render support sir. 
 
Cheers 
 
PETER FERNANDIS 
PestBusters Pte Ltd 
140 Paya Lebar Road 
#08-06 A – Z Building 
Singapore 409015 
Tel: (65) 62882828 
Fax: (65) 67487388 
Mob: (65) 98563283 
E-Mail: peterfernandis@pestbusters.com.sg 
Website: www.pestbusters.com.sg” 

259. Interview of Alliance personnel292 – Andrew Chan said that Alliance had 
been the general pest control contractor for River Place since February 
2006. There was a termite infestation problem at River Place and Alliance 
had recommended corrective treatment using Agenda293. Andrew Chan 
informed River Place that there were only 6 authorised Agenda applicators 
and asked River Place to refer to the Agenda website for their contact 
details294. 

260. Andrew Chan said that he had contacted all the AAAs through SMS to 
inform them that River Place was Alliance’s existing customer and to 
request support quotes295. All of them agreed296 and he told them of 

                                                                                                                                                 
291 Provided by Peter Fernandis during the Commission’s entry into PestBusters’ premises on 23 November 
2006 pursuant to Section 64 of the Act. 
292 See Andrew Chan’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 9 March 2007. 
293 See Answer to Question 147 to 154 of Andrew Chan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 
March 2007. 
294 See Answer to Question 158 of Andrew Chan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 
2007. 
295 See Answer to Question 156 and 157 of Andrew Chan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 
9 March 2007. 
296 See Answer to Question 161 to 162 of Andrew Chan’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 9 
March 2007. 
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Alliance’s intended quote at about S$120,000297. Andrew Chan recalled 
that someone from one of the AAAs had asked the price at which to submit 
the cover bid and he had told that person to quote at S$145,000. Andrew 
Chan could not remember who that person was298. 

261. When asked whether “Andrew” in the body of the email referred to in 
paragraph 258, was a reference to him, he said299: 

 
A: I think it is referring to me, I cannot remember if I sent out an email, but I 

might have made a call to Peter. 

262. Andrew Chan said he had called Peter Fernandis to inform him that River 
Place might approach PestBusters for a quotation300. Peter Fernandis agreed 
to support Alliance301. 

263. Philip Tan confirmed receiving the email referred to in paragraph 258. His 
understanding of the email was that Peter Fernandis had received a call 
from Andrew Chan on a request for a support quote for River Place. Peter 
Fernandis would render support but had yet to hear from River Place302. 

264. Interview of Aardwolf personnel303 - Patrick Chong said that he received a 
request (through an SMS or phone call) from either Philip Tan or Andrew 
Chan of Alliance for a support quote for the Agenda Treatment project at 
River Place304. 

265. When asked if Alliance had informed him of anything else, Patrick Chong 
said305: 

 
A: He told me how much he was going to quote for the project and how we 

should quote for the project to support him. I agreed to support quote and I 
channeled request down to sales and told them to quote according to what 

                                                 
297 See Answer to Question 163 and 166 of Andrew Chan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 
9 March 2007. 
298 See Answer to Question 168 of Andrew Chan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 
2007. 
299 See Question 159 of Andrew Chan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 2007. 
300 See Answer to Question 158 of Andrew Chan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 
2007.  
301 See Answer to Question 160 of Andrew Chan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 
2007. 
302 See Answer to Question 110 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 
2007.  
303 See Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 30 March 2007 and 2 April 2007 
and Jenny Law’s as well as Ryan Peh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 3 April 2007. 
304 See Answer to Question 180 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
305 See Question 181of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 2007. 
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Alliance tell us to do. In this case, I cannot remember exactly what he said 
he was quoting or how much we should quote. But I am pretty sure that 
the quote that we gave to Riverplace will be higher than what he is quoting 
and above his request. 

The request was channeled to Jenny Law and Ryan Peh306. 

266. Patrick Chong said that he was sure that Aardwolf’s quote at S$172,000 for 
Agenda Treatment at River Place was above what Alliance had instructed 
him to quote as Aardwolf would have supported Alliance307. 

267. He also said that Aardwolf supported Alliance as Alliance had given 
Aardwolf a lot of TermiCam jobs over the years and the sales staff 
benefited from the commission for such jobs. If Alliance were to get the 
project and TermiCam was used, then Alliance might give Aardwolf the 
TermiCam job and the sales staff would benefit. Patrick Chong also said 
that Aardwolf’s chances of getting termite treatment jobs at condominiums 
were slim as Aardwolf was considered expensive308. Patrick Chong said 
that the sales staff would have taken Alliance’s request for a support quote 
into consideration when working out Aardwolf’s proposal, but the mark-up 
would depend on each sales person. The support proposal would be simple 
and straightforward, unlike those submitted in circumstances where there 
was no request for support quotes, which would contain literature on the 
benefits of using Aardwolf309. Patrick Chong said that Aardwolf’s proposal 
would have been different and the price probably lower if he had not agreed 
to provide support to Alliance310. 

268. In her interview, Jenny Law said that Philip Tan had told her how much 
Alliance was quoting and she then quoted a higher price to support 
Alliance.  Alliance was Aardwolf’s client, for whom the latter had carried 
out TermiCam jobs.   If Alliance were to get the project, Aardwolf might be 
given the TermiCam job311.  

                                                 
306 See Answer to Question 186 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007 and Answer to Question 145 of Law Kum Peng’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 3 
April 2007.. 
307 See Answer to Question 185 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
308 See Answer to Question 187 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
309 See Answer to Question 188 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
310 See Answer to Question 189 of Patrick Chong’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 2 April 
2007. 
311 See Answer to Question 145 and 146 of Law Kum Peng’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided 
on 3 April 2007. 
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269. Jenny Law said that Ryan Peh went down to survey River Place and she 
prepared the proposal, which she asked him to sign as River Place was in 
the area under his purview. She prepared the proposal because she had a 
standard simple format for such proposals. They did not spend too much 
effort on such proposals or put in much effort as they were supporting 
Alliance.   

270. Jenny Law said that there would be no difference in Aardwolf’s prices even 
if they were not supporting Alliance312 as Aardwolf’s prices would have 
been higher than Alliance in any case as they included TermiCam and 
baiting stations for  a total termite solution313. 

271. In his interview, Ryan Peh said that, prior to surveying River Place, Patrick 
Chong and Jenny Law told him that Aardwolf would not be competing 
against Alliance for the project314.  If Aardwolf was trying to win a project, 
Ryan Peh would usually try to look out for areas of termite infestation and 
take measurements. He did not do any of these things during his site visit to 
River Place and he merely collected the floor plans315. He also said that 
Jenny Law offered to use her standard format to help him prepare the 
proposal316 as Aardwolf was not going to get the project and there was no 
need to waste time preparing the proposal317. Ryan found the standard 
template quite simple when compared with quotes for projects they were 
trying to win where he would include photographs of termite infestation 
and survey findings and some write-up on TermiCam318. Jenny Law had 
come up with the price for Aardwolf’s proposal when she prepared the 
proposal.319 Ryan Peh said he did not know how Jenny Law came up with 
the price320. He had signed off on the proposal because he had done the 
survey and River Place was in his area321. 

272. Ryan Peh also said that when he went down to survey River Place, he was 
unaware that Aardwolf would be engaged to provide TermiCam services 

                                                 
312 See Answer to Question 149 of Law Kum Peng’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 3 April 
2007. 
313 See Answer to Question 148 of Law Kum Peng’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 3 April 
2007. 
314 See Answer to Question 93 to 95, 115 to 116, 124 to 125 of Ryan Peh’s Notes of 
Information/Explanation Provided on 3 April 2007. 
315 See Answer to Question 100 to 102 of Ryan Peh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 3 
April 2007. 
316 See Answer to Question 88 of Ryan Peh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 3 April 2007. 
317 See Answer to Question 90 of Ryan Peh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 3 April 2007. 
318 See Answer to Question 131 of Ryan Peh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 3 April 2007. 
319 See Answer to Question 122 of Ryan Peh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 3 April 2007. 
320 See Answer to Question 123 of Ryan Peh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 3 April 2007. 
321 See Answer to Question 128 of Ryan Peh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 3 April 2007. 
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for Alliance for the project322. He only knew about this after Aardwolf had 
submitted its proposal and after River Place had awarded the project to 
Alliance323. Aardwolf was then approached by Alliance to provide 
TermiCam services at a price of S$5,600324. 

273. Interview of Rentokil personnel325 - Joseph Ong confirmed that he received 
a call or SMS from either Andrew Chan or Philip Tan of Alliance on a 
request for a support quote for the Agenda Treatment project at River Place. 
Andrew Chan had also told him how to support Alliance’s quote326. Joseph 
Ong agreed to provide support327. Joseph Ong said that he must have told 
his subordinate, Jacqueline Ng, that this was a support quote and given her 
the figure to use in preparing the proposal to provide support328. 

274. When asked if he was aware how Jacqueline Ng arrived at the figure of 
S$168,000 on Rentokil’s quote, he said329: 

 
A:  Most probably, it is the figure I told her to put which I have obtained from 

Alliance. 

275. Joseph Ong also said that Rentokil’s quote at S$168,000 would be 
consistent with instructions given by Alliance in their request for a support 
quote330. Rentokil’s quote would have been different and the price would 
have been based on S$70 per linear meter had he not agreed to provide 
support to Alliance331. 

276. In her interview, Jacqueline Ng said that although she was aware of the 
support quote arrangement where Joseph Ong would tell her to quote at a 
certain price or above a certain price332, she could not recall being told by 

                                                 
322 See Answer to Question 98 of Ryan Peh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 3 April 2007. 
323 See Answer to Question 99 of Ryan Peh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 3 April 2007. 
324 See Answer to Question 136 of Ryan Peh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 3 April 2007. 
325 See Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 30 April 2007 and 
Jacqueline Ng’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 15 May 2007. 
326 See Answer to Question 94 to 96 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information/ 
Explanation Provided on 30 April 2007. 
327 See Answer to Question 97 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information/ Explanation 
Provided on 30 April 2007. 
328 See Answer to Question 103 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information/ Explanation 
Provided on 30 April 2007. 
329 See Question 107 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 
30 April 2007. 
330 See Answer to Question 110 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information/ Explanation 
Provided on 30 April 2007. 
331 See Answer to Question 113 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information/ Explanation 
Provided on 30 April 2007. 
332 See Answer to Question 55 to 59 of Jacqueline Ng’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 15 
May 2007. 
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Joseph Ong that the Agenda Treatment tender for River Place was a support 
quote333. She said that she had prepared the proposal334 but could not recall 
being given any instructions by Joseph Ong on how to prepare the proposal 
for termite treatment at River Place335. 

277. She could not remember the proposal price336 until she was shown a copy 
of Rentokil’s quote; neither could she remember how she arrived at the 
proposal price of S$168,000337. However, she remembered that she had 
spoken with Joseph Ong or Dennis Ng that she was preparing Rentokil’s 
quote based on S$70 per linear meter and he approved it338. 

278. She agreed that if Rentokil’s quote at S$168,000 was based on S$70 per 
linear meter price, the measured length for Agenda Treatment at River 
Place would have to be 2,400 linear meters339. 

279. Interview of Killem personnel340 – William Tan stated that he had received 
a call from Andrew Chan telling him that River Place was serviced by 
Alliance and that they were calling for quotes for Agenda Treatment. He 
was also informed that Killem may be invited to quote341. He understood 
the call as a request by Alliance for a support quote from Killem342. 

280. William Tan said he had acceded to Andrew Chan’s request to provide a 
support quote343 and had either told Andrew Chan to call Jennifer Lee or 
told Jennifer Lee to call Andrew Chan to get the details on the price for the 
support quote344. He confirmed that Killem had put in a quotation at 

                                                 
333 See Answer to Question 54 and 72 of Jacqueline Ng’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 15 
May 2007. 
334 See Answer to Question 46 of Jacqueline Ng’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 15 May 
2007. 
335 See Answer to Question 53 and 62 of Jacqueline Ng’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 15 
May 2007. 
336 See Answer to Question 48 to 49 of Jacqueline Ng’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 15 
May 2007. 
337 See Answer to Question 50 of Jacqueline Ng’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 15 May 
2007. 
338 See Answer to Question 46 of Jacqueline Ng’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 15 May 
2007. 
339 See Answer to Question 52 of Jacqueline Ng’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 15 May 
2007. 
340 See Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 30 May 2007. 
341 See Answer to Question 23 of William Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 26 July 
2007. 
342 See Answer to Question 20 and 24 of William Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 26 
July 2007. 
343 See Answer to Question 22 of William Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 26 July 
2007. 
344 See Answer to Question 19, 25 and 30 of William Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 
26 July 2007. 
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$153,000345, but did not remember providing Jennifer Lee with the figure of 
S$153,000 figure for the quotation346. He was not aware how she had 
arrived at the figure of S$153,000 for Killem’s quotation347. 

281. Jennifer Lee said that she had received a call from Andrew Chan telling her 
that River Place was maintained by Alliance and that they were calling for 
quotes for corrective termite treatment348. He also informed her that Killem 
may be invited to quote. She understood the call as a request by Alliance 
for Killem to put in a support quote349. 

282. Jennifer Lee then received a call on either 17 or 18 May 2006 from one 
Andrew from the Managing Agent of River Place inviting Killem to submit 
a quote.  Jennifer said that she had called William Tan, the Operations 
Director, to inform him of both calls that she had received350. William Tan 
had then called her back to ask her to prepare a quotation for River Place at 
S$153,000. She prepared the quotation accordingly and faxed over 
Killem’s quotation to River Place at 11 a.m. on 19 May 2006351.  

283. Jennifer Lee had found out from Andrew Chan that the River Place project 
involved 1,380 linear metres. At S$70 per linear metre, the basic cost 
worked out to be $96,600. In order to reach the figure of S$153,000, she 
had factored in Termatrac at S$80 per unit for 509 units, even though this 
was not required by River Place, and $15,680 for treatment of trees and 
planter boxes352. She stated that Killem’s quotation to River Place at 
S$153,000 was a positive act of providing support to Alliance pursuant to 
Andrew Chan’s request353.     

                                                 
345 See Answer to Question 26 and 27 of William Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 26 
July 2007. 
346 See Answer to Question 35 and 36 of William Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 26 
July 2007. 
347 See Answer to Question 28 of William Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 26 July 
2007. 
348 See Answer to Question 14 of Jennifer Lee’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 24 July 
2007. 
349 See Answer to Question 15 and 25 of Jennifer Lee’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 24 
July 2007. 
350 See Answer to Question 14 of Jennifer Lee’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 24 July 
2007. 
351 See Answer to Question 17 of Jennifer Lee’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 24 July 
2007. 
352 See Answer to Question 23 of Jennifer Lee’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 24 July 
2007. 
353 See Answer to Question 26 of Jennifer Lee’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 24 July 
2007. 
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284. Interview of PestBusters personnel354 – Peter Fernandis said that he had 
received a call from Andrew Chan who told him that River Place might call 
PestBusters to give a quote on corrective termite treatment. Peter Fernandis 
agreed to quote above the minimum S$70 per linear metre to render support 
if PestBusters was invited to quote355. He said that he did not remember 
Andrew Chan telling him that Alliance was going to quote at about 
S$120,000 and that he would have contacted Andrew Chan for the figure to 
render support if PestBusters was invited to quote by River Place356. Peter 
Fernandis said that he was referring to Andrew Chan from Alliance in his 
email referred to in paragraph 258 and that he had yet to hear from River 
Place. Peter Fernandis could not remember receiving any call from River 
Place and could not locate any related correspondence357. 

285. Interview of Elite personnel358 – Francis Loh said that Andrew Chan had 
called to tell him that Alliance was the existing pest control contractor for 
River Place and that River Place might call Elite to quote for Agenda 
Treatment359. Andrew Chan had asked that Elite provide a support quote if 
invited to quote360. Francis Loh said that he agreed to provide support if 
Elite was invited to quote but Elite was not invited361. 

 
The Commission’s analysis of the evidence 
 
Alliance and Aardwolf

286. Andrew Chan admitted that he had requested cover bids from each of the 
AAAs for the Agenda Treatment project at River Place. He had provided 
each of them with information on Alliance’s intended quote at S$120,000 
through SMS, so that the AAAs could provide cover bids of a higher value 
to River Place if invited to quote. 

                                                 
354 See Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 Jan 2007 and 30 May 2007. 
355 See Answer to Question 18 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 30 May 
2007. See also Answer to Question 89 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 
10 January 2007. 
356 See Answer to Question 19 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 30 May 
2007. 
357 See Answer to Question 88 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 Jan 
2007. 
358 See Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 1 June 2007. 
359 See Answer to Question 18 to 19 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 1 June 
2007. 
360 See Answer to Question 19 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 1 June 
2007. 
361 See Answer to Question 20 and 21 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 1 
June 2007 and Answer to Question 125 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 12 
January 2007. 
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287. Andrew Chan’s statement was corroborated by Patrick Chong who 
admitted that he had received a request from Alliance for a cover bid for the 
Agenda Treatment project at River Place and that he was also given 
information on the figure that Alliance was going to quote as well as how to 
price the cover bid. He admitted that he had agreed to the request and 
Aardwolf provided a cover bid at S$172,000. The Commission considers 
that Aardwolf’s quote, which was higher than Alliance’s quote of 
S$120,000, is consistent with an agreement between Alliance and Aardwolf 
to provide a cover bid and collude in fixing prices. 

288. The Commission notes that Patrick Chong had alluded to a prior sub-
contracting relationship between Alliance and Aardwolf, where Alliance 
had appointed Aardwolf to carry out a number of TermiCam jobs over the 
years. Patrick Chong said that he had agreed to provide a cover bid for 
Alliance, their client, partly because Aardwolf hoped that if Alliance were 
to get the project and use TermiCam, Alliance might give Aardwolf the 
TermiCam job. 

289. The investigations show that the Parties did not appear to contemplate or 
discuss the provision of TermiCam service prior to the award of the termite 
treatment project at River Place to Alliance. The Commission considers 
that this is evident from Ryan Peh’s interview when he said that he did not 
know that Aardwolf was providing TermiCam services for Alliance in 
River Place until a few weeks after Aardwolf submitted its proposal362. 
Jenny Law had also said that it was her assumption that if Alliance got the 
project, Aardwolf would get to provide the TermiCam services363.  

290. The communications between Alliance and Aardwolf were not therefore for 
the purpose of discussing a possible TermiCam subcontract. The 
Commission considers that even if Alliance and Aardwolf were 
communicating on a possible TermiCam subcontract, the communications 
would centre around the issues or details of such a subcontract and not the 
price of the Agenda Treatment project for River Place.   

291. There was no reason for Alliance to provide Aardwolf with their intended 
quote unless Alliance wanted Aardwolf to put in a higher quote.   If 
Aardwolf were to submit a quote higher than Alliance’s in the hope of 
getting a TermiCam sub-contract from Alliance, this would still amount to 
the provision of a cover bid. 

                                                 
362 See Answer to Question 99 of Ryan Peh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 3 April 2007. 
363 See Answer to Question 146 of Law Kum Peng’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 3 
April 2007. 
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292. The Commission considers that the evidence above makes out the elements 
of an agreement, or at the very least, a concerted practice in breach of the 
section 34 prohibition. The communications between Alliance and 
Aardwolf, who were competitors, shows that the conduct of Alliance and 
Aardwolf was not unilateral and that any quotes submitted were subject to 
collusion. The conduct of Alliance and Aardwolf infringes the principle 
that each undertaking must determine independently the policy it intends to 
adopt in a market.  It is clear from Andrew Chan’s conduct in seeking a 
cover bid and Patrick Chong’s conduct in agreeing to provide a cover bid 
that Alliance and Aardwolf did not determine or intend to determine their 
quote prices independently. The conduct of Alliance and Aardwolf had as 
its intention or consequence the disclosure by Alliance to Aardwolf of a 
course of action that it was to adopt or was contemplating adopting in the 
tendering process i.e. that it was intending to submit a quote of $120,000.  
Such disclosure by Alliance influenced the conduct of Aardwolf on the 
market in that Aardwolf took into account the information it received from 
Alliance in submitting its quote by using the information given by Alliance. 
The result was that Alliance and Aardwolf substituted practical cooperation 
for the risks of competition. Their cooperation substantially eliminated the 
uncertainty which each faced as to the conduct of the other in the tender 
process. The conduct of Alliance providing, and Aardwolf in receiving and 
considering, a price for the purpose of submission to River Place, had as its 
object the prevention, restriction or distortion of competition. 

 
Alliance and Rentokil

293. Andrew Chan admitted that he had requested cover bids from each of the 
AAAs for the Agenda Treatment project at River Place. He had provided 
each of them with information on Alliance’s intended quote at S$120,000 
through SMS, so that the AAAs could provide cover bids of a higher value 
to River Place if invited to quote. 

294. Andrew Chan’s statement was corroborated by Joseph Ong who admitted 
that he had received a request from Alliance for a cover bid for the Agenda 
Treatment project at River Place and that he was given information on how 
to provide support.  He had then given instructions to his subordinate, 
Jacqueline Ng, to prepare the cover bid. The Commission considers that 
Rentokil’s quote at S$168,000 for Agenda Treatment, which is higher than 
Alliance’s quote at S$120,000, is consistent with an agreement between 
Alliance and Rentokil for the latter to provide a cover bid and collude in 
fixing prices. 
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295. The Commission notes that, although Jacqueline Ng had said that she could 
not remember being instructed by Joseph Ong on the preparation of a cover 
bid for termite treatment at River Place, she was unable to explain how she 
arrived at Rentokil’s quote at S$168,000, which is higher than Alliance’s 
quote. Her explanation that the quote was based on S$70 per linear meter 
would mean that the area of Agenda Treatment in River Place was 2,400 
linear meters. This figure differs significantly from the figure of 1,100 
linear metres, a figure which was provided on the project by Alliance to 
Bentz Jaz in an Agenda Soil Registration Form (“SR Form”)364.   Such a 
form stating the length of the area treated by Agenda is filed with Bentz Jaz 
by an AAA on or about the time of the Agenda treatment to enable that 
AAA to claim the benefits of a 5-year warranty backed by Bayer and Bentz 
Jaz against re-infestation. In other words, Bayer or Bentz Jaz would provide 
free Agenda for re-application in the event of a recurrence of termite 
infestation after Agenda Treatment. The AAAs were obliged to file a SR 
Form to allow Bayer or Bentz Jaz to verify any misapplication or fraudulent 
claims. The SR Form would detail the date of treatment, the address of the 
place treated, the quantity of Agenda used and the measurement of the 
place for the purposes of carrying out Agenda Treatment.   

296. The Commission considers that there is no reason for Alliance to under-
declare the area of Agenda Treatment in the SR Form by 1,300 linear 
meters, as it would be to Alliance’s disadvantage if they were to lay a claim 
on the warranty for free Agenda for re-application in the event of a 
recurrence of termite infestation.  As such, as between the statement of 
Joseph Ong and that of Jacqueline Ng, the Commission prefers the version 
of events given by Joseph Ong, that is, that he had told her that the quote 
was a support quote and that he had given her the figure of $168,000 to use 
in the proposal. 

297. The Commission considers that the evidence above makes out the elements 
of an agreement, or at the very least, a concerted practice in breach of the 
section 34 prohibition. The communication between Alliance and Rentokil, 
who were competitors, shows that the conduct of Alliance and Rentokil was 
not unilateral and that any quotes submitted were subject to collusion. The 
conduct of Alliance and Rentokil infringes the principle that each 
undertaking must determine independently the policy it intends to adopt in 
a market.  It is clear from Andrew Chan’s conduct in seeking a cover bid 
and Joseph Ong’s conduct in agreeing to provide a cover bid that Alliance 
and Rentokil did not determine or intend to determine their quote prices 

                                                 
364 SR Form provided by Bentz Jaz in their undated letter to the Commission received on 24 January 2007 
pursuant to the Commission’s section 63 notice to request for information and documents dated 17 January 
2007.  
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independently. The conduct of Alliance and Rentokil had as its intention or 
consequence the disclosure by Alliance to Rentokil of a course of conduct 
that it was to adopt or was contemplating adopting in the tendering process 
i.e. that it was intending to submit a quote of $120,000. Such disclosure by 
Alliance influenced the conduct of Rentokil on the market in that Rentokil 
took into account the information it received from Alliance in submitting its 
quote by using the information given by Alliance. The result was that 
Alliance and Rentokil substituted practical cooperation for the risks of 
competition. Their cooperation substantially eliminated the uncertainty 
which each faced as to the conduct of the other in the tender process. The 
conduct of Alliance providing, and Rentokil in receiving and considering, a 
price for the purpose of submission to River Place, had as its object the 
prevention, restriction or distortion of competition. 

 
Alliance and Killem

298. Andrew Chan admitted that he had requested cover bids from each of the 
AAAs in respect of Agenda Treatment at River Place and that he had 
provided each of them with information on Alliance’s intended quote at 
S$120,000 through SMS, so that the AAAs could provide cover bids of a 
higher value to River Place if invited to quote. 

299. Andrew Chan’s statement was corroborated by Jennifer Lee and William 
Tan, both of whom had received calls from Andrew Chan which they 
understood as requesting for a cover bid in respect of Agenda Treatment at 
River Place. William Tan agreed to provide a cover bid and instructed 
Jennifer Lee to prepare a cover bid. She did so and submitted Killem’s 
cover bid at S$153,000, in support of Alliance, to River Place on 19 May 
2006 by fax. 

300. The Commission notes that Jennifer Lee had stated that she obtained the 
figure of S$153,000 for Killem’s quote from William Tan although 
William Tan had stated that he did not remember this.  The Commission 
considers that the slight discrepancy does not alter the complexion of the 
matter, as it was clear from Jennifer Lee’s workings that the figure of 
S$153,000 was an inflated figure for the provision of a cover bid. Killem’s 
quote at S$153,000 for Agenda Treatment, which is higher than Alliance’s 
quote at S$120,000, is consistent with an agreement between Alliance and 
Killem for the latter to provide a cover bid and collude in fixing prices. 

301. Although River Place Condominium had not provided us with Killem’s 
S$153,000 quote dated 19 May 2006 as one of those received and 
considered by them, the Commission nevertheless considers that there is no 
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reason for Killem to fabricate and produce to the Commission a quote that 
was not in existence. 

302. The Commission considers that the evidence above makes out the elements 
of an agreement, or at the very least, a concerted practice in breach of the 
section 34 prohibition. The phone calls between Alliance and Killem, who 
were competitors, show that the conduct of Alliance and Killem was not 
unilateral and that any quotes submitted were subject to collusion. The 
conduct of Alliance and Killem infringes the principle that each 
undertaking must determine independently the policy it intends to adopt in 
a market.  It is clear from Andrew Chan’s conduct in seeking a cover bid 
and William Tan’s conduct in agreeing to provide a cover bid that Alliance 
and Killem did not determine or intend to determine their quote prices 
independently. The conduct of Alliance and Killem had as its intention or 
consequence the disclosure by Alliance to Killem of a course of action that 
it was to adopt or was contemplating adopting in the tendering process i.e. 
that it was likely to submit a quote of S$120,000. Such disclosure by 
Alliance influenced the conduct of Killem on the market in that Killem took 
into account the information it received from Alliance in submitting its 
quote by using the information given by Alliance. The result was that 
Alliance and Killem substituted practical cooperation for the risks of 
competition. Their cooperation substantially eliminated the uncertainty 
which each faced as to the conduct of the other in the tender process. The 
conduct of Alliance providing, and Killem in receiving and considering, a 
price for the purpose of submission to River Place, had as its object the 
prevention, restriction or distortion of competition. 

 
Alliance and PestBusters

303. Andrew Chan admitted that he had requested cover bids from each of the 
AAAs for the Agenda Treatment project at River Place. He had provided 
each of them with information of Alliance’s intended quote at S$120,000 
through SMS, so that the AAAs could provide cover bids of a higher value 
to River Place if invited to quote. In relation to PestBusters, Andrew Chan 
said he had called to inform Peter Fernandis that River Place might 
approach PestBusters for a quotation and Peter Fernandis had said he would 
support Alliance. 

304. The statement of Andrew Chan was corroborated by Peter Fernandis who 
admitted that he had received a call from Andrew Chan requesting for a 
cover bid for the Agenda Treatment project at River Place and that he had 
agreed to provide a cover bid if PestBusters was invited by River Place to 
quote as evidenced by his email to Philip Tan in paragraph 258. 
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305. The Commission considers that the evidence above makes out the elements 
of an agreement, or at the very least, a concerted practice in breach of the 
section 34 prohibition. The telephone call and email between Alliance and 
PestBusters, who were competitors, show that the conduct of Alliance and 
PestBusters was not unilateral and that any quotes submitted were subject 
to collusion. The conduct of Alliance and PestBusters infringes the 
principle that each undertaking must determine independently the policy it 
intends to adopt in a market.  It is clear from Andrew Chan’s conduct in 
seeking a cover bid and Peter Fernandis’ conduct in agreeing to provide a 
cover bid that Alliance and PestBusters did not determine or intend to 
determine their quote prices independently. The conduct of Alliance and 
PestBusters had, as its intention or consequence, the disclosure by Alliance 
and PestBusters of a course of conduct that it was to adopt or was 
contemplating adopting in the tendering process i.e. that it was intending to 
submit a quote of $120,000.  Such disclosure by Alliance would have 
influenced the conduct of PestBusters on the market in that PestBusters 
would have taken into account the information it received from Alliance if 
PestBusters was invited to quote. The result was that Alliance and 
PestBusters intended to substitute practical cooperation for the risks of 
competition. Their cooperation would substantially eliminate the 
uncertainty which each faced as to the conduct of the other in the tender 
process. The conduct of Alliance providing, and PestBusters in receiving 
and considering, a price for the purpose of submission to River Place, had 
as its object the prevention, restriction or distortion of competition. 

306. It did not matter whether PestBusters was invited by River Place to quote 
for Agenda Treatment. The Commission considers that the agreement or 
concerted practice between Alliance and PestBusters would still be caught 
under the section 34 prohibition. As set out earlier in Tréfilunion v 
Commission and P. Hüls AG v. Commission, there can be an agreement or 
concerted practice in the absence of an actual effect on the market. As the 
object of the agreement or concerted practice between Alliance and 
PestBusters was clearly anti-competitive, it was not necessary to 
demonstrate that the agreement and/or concerted practice had manifested 
itself in conduct on the market or that it had had effects restrictive of 
competition. As the CAT held in Apex, a concerted practice was made out 
at a stage prior to consideration of whether the person receiving the price 
actually puts in a tender. 

 
Alliance and Elite

307. Andrew Chan admitted that he had requested cover bids from each of the 
AAAs for the Agenda Treatment project at River Place. He had provided 
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each of them with information of Alliance’s intended quote at S$120,000 
through SMS, so that the AAAs could provide cover bids of a higher value 
to River Place if invited to quote. 

308. Andrew Chan’s statement was corroborated by Francis Loh who admitted 
that he had received a call from Andrew Chan requesting for a cover bid in 
respect of Agenda Treatment at River Place and that he had agreed to 
provide a cover bid if Elite was invited by River Place to quote for Agenda 
Treatment. 

309. The Commission considers that the evidence above makes out the elements 
of an agreement, or at the very least, a concerted practice in breach of the 
section 34 prohibition. The telephone call between Alliance and Elite, who 
were competitors, shows that the conduct of Alliance and Elite was not 
unilateral and that any quotes submitted were subject to collusion. The 
conduct of Alliance and Elite infringes the principle that each undertaking 
must determine independently the policy it intends to adopt in a market.  It 
is clear from Andrew Chan’s conduct in seeking a cover bid and Francis 
Loh’s conduct in agreeing to provide a cover bid that Alliance and Elite did 
not determine or intend to determine their quote prices independently. The 
conduct of Alliance and Elite had as its intention or consequence the 
disclosure by Alliance to Elite of a course of conduct that it was to adopt or 
was contemplating adopting in the tendering process i.e. that it was likely to 
submit a quote of S$120,000.  Such disclosure by Alliance would have 
influenced the conduct of Elite on the market in that Elite would have taken 
into account the information it received from Alliance if Elite was invited 
to quote. The result was that Alliance and Elite intended to substitute 
practical cooperation for the risks of competition. Their cooperation would 
substantially eliminate the uncertainty which they each faced as to the 
conduct of the other in the tender process. The conduct of Alliance 
providing, and Elite in receiving and considering, a price for the purpose of 
submission to River Place, had as its object the prevention, restriction or 
distortion of competition. 

310. It did not matter whether Elite was not invited by River Place to quote for 
Agenda Treatment. The Commission considers that the agreement or 
concerted practice between Alliance and Elite would still be caught under 
the section 34 prohibition. As set out earlier in Tréfilunion v Commission 
and P. Hüls AG v. Commission, there can be an agreement or concerted 
practice in the absence of an actual effect on the market. As the object of 
the agreement or concerted practice between Alliance and Elite was clearly 
anti-competitive, it was not necessary to demonstrate that the agreement 
and/or concerted practice had manifested itself in conduct on the market or 
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that it had had effects restrictive of competition. As the CAT held in Apex, 
a concerted practice was made out at a stage prior to consideration of 
whether the person receiving the price actually puts in a tender. 

 
The Commission's conclusions on the infringement 

311. The Commission concludes that the totality of the evidence, as set out and 
analysed at paragraphs 254 to 310 above, establishes that an agreement 
and/or concerted practice was in place between – 
a) Alliance and Aardwolf; 
b) Alliance and Rentokil; 
c) Alliance and Killem; 
d) Alliance and PestBusters; and 
e) Alliance and Elite,   
which had the object of fixing the prices in relation to the quotes submitted 
for termite treatment at River Place, in breach of the section 34 prohibition. 

 
v) Temasek Junior College  
 
The facts and the evidence 

312. Between 22 and 25 February 2006, one Ms Chua Yee Yin of CPG Facilities 
Management Pte Ltd (“CPGFM”) invited four pest control operators, 
namely, Elite, Killem, PestBusters and Dynamic Pest Control Pte Ltd 
(“Dynamic”), to submit quotes for corrective termite treatment at the 
squash court and sub-station building of Temasek Junior College 
(“TJC”)365. According to CPGFM, Ms Chua had done so because the work 
was urgent. Their general pest contractor, New Concept Enterprise, had 
submitted a quotation dated 23 February 2006 for corrective termite 
treatment using chlorpyrifos at $7,000 but did not include the substation 
next to the squash court in the proposed work scope366. New Concept 
Enterprise was requested to include the substation in their revised 
quotation. 

                                                 
365 See information {in particular, at A2a and A2(d)(i)} provided by CPGFM in their letter to the 
Commission dated 10 January 2007 pursuant to the Commission’s section 63 notice to request for 
information and documents dated 5 December 2006 and follow-up letter of 21 December 2006.     
366 See information {in particular, at A2a and Attachment # 02} provided by CPGFM in their letter to the 
Commission dated 10 January 2007  pursuant to the Commission’s section 63 notice to request for 
information and documents dated 5 December 2006 and follow-up letter of 21 December 2006.     
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313. On 1 March 2006, CPGFM received feedback that the quotation from New 
Concept Enterprise was not satisfactory. By then, CPGFM had received the 
following quotations for Agenda Treatment367: 

 
Name of pest control operator 

submitting quote 
Quote price Date of Submission 

of Proposal 
Elite   S$14,950 27 February 2006 
PestBusters S$19,500 27 February 2006 
Killem S$18,000 28 February 2006 

314. As CPGFM had yet to receive the revised quotation from New Concept 
Enterprise, they proceeded to submit these three quotations for 
consideration by the Ministry of Education (“MOE”)368. As the quotes for 
termite treatment at TJC were supposed to be called by New Concept 
Enterprise as the general pest contractor for TJC, these three quotations 
were subsequently referred to New Concept Enterprise for follow-up and 
coordination369. CPGFM also received a revised quotation from Killem at 
S$15,500 and a quotation from Dynamic at S$17,800, both dated 13 March 
2006, after the closing date of the tender370. These two quotations were not 
recommended to MOE for their consideration. 

315. Elite’s submission at S$14,950 was considered and a works order dated 20 
April 2006 was issued by MOE to New Concept Enterprise for the sum of 
S$15,698 {S$14,950 plus S747.50 (5% of $14,950) for attendant fee and 
rounded up to the nearest dollar} for the termite treatment works at TJC371. 

 

 

                                                 
367 Documents {see Attachment A, B and E} provided by CPGFM in their letter to the Commission dated 
10 January 2007 pursuant to the Commission’s section 63 notice to request for information and documents 
dated 5 December 2006 and follow-up letter of 21 December 2006. 
368 See information {in particular, at A2a and Attachment #03} provided by CPGFM in their letter to the 
Commission dated 10 January 2007  pursuant to the Commission’s section 63 notice to request for 
information and documents dated 5 December 2006 and follow-up letter of 21 December 2006. 
369 See information {in particular, at A2a} provided by CPGFM in their letter to the Commission dated 10 
January 2007  pursuant to the Commission’s section 63 notice to request for information and documents 
dated 5 December 2006 and follow-up letter of 21 December 2006.  
370 See information {in particular, at A2d(iii) and A2h} and documents {see Attachments C and D} 
provided by CPGFM in their letter to the Commission dated 10 January 2007  pursuant to the 
Commission’s section 63 notice to request for information and documents dated 5 December 2006 and 
follow-up letter of 21 December 2006. 
371 See information {in particular, at A2d(iv) and Attachments # 04 and 05} provided by CPGFM in their 
letter to the Commission dated 10 January 2007 pursuant to the Commission’s section 63 notice to request 
for information and documents dated 5 December 2006 and follow-up letter of 21 December 2006. 
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316. During our investigations372, we uncovered the following email exchange 
between Peter Fernandis (PestBusters) and Francis Loh (Elite): 

 
(a) Email from Francis Loh to Peter Fernandis of 24 February 2006 

 
”From: eliteloh [mailto:eliteloh@pacific.net.sg] 
Sent: Friday, February 24, 2006 5:29 PM 
To: ‘Peter Fernandis’ 
Subject:  
 
Hi Peter, Please support Agenda quote and fax to CPGFM by Monday. 
 
CPGFM PTE LTD 
140 Paya Lebar Road 
#05-11A A-Z Building 
Singapore 4509015 
 
Attn: Ms Chua Yee Yin, Fax:67434979 
 
Corrective Treatment at Temasek Junior College’s Squash Court and Sub-
Station Building. Please quote above $18k. 
 
Thanks 
Francis” 

  
(b) Email from Peter Fernandis to Francis Loh of 24 February 2006  

 
“From: Peter Fernandis [peterfernandis@pestbusters.com.sg] 
Sent: Friday, February 24, 2006 6:12 PM 
To: eliteloh 
Subject: RE: Temasek JC 
 
Hi Francis,  
 
I will submit it to them by Monday, will go in at $19,500.00 
 
Thanks 
 
Peter Fernandis 
PestBusters Pte Ltd 

                                                 
372 Provided both by Peter Fernandis and Francis Loh during the Commission’s entry into PestBusters’ and 
Elite’s premises respectively on 23 November 2006 pursuant to Section 64 of the Act. 
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140 Paya Lebar Road 
#08-06 A-Z Building 
Singapore 409015 
Tel: (65) 62882828 
Fax: (65) 67487388 
Mob: (65) 98563283 
Email: peterfernandis@pestbusters.com.sg 
Website:www.pestbusters.com.sg” 

317. Interview of Elite personnel373 - Francis Loh said that TJC’s squash court 
contractor (TCB Sports Pte Ltd) referred him to CPGFM as the squash 
courts had a bad termite infestation. Francis Loh met with Ms Chua Yee 
Yin of CPGFM on site to assess the infestation and take measurements. 
Francis Loh then recommended the use of Agenda for corrective termite 
treatment and gave Ms Chua the names of the other five AAAs374. 

318. Francis Loh confirmed that he sent the email dated 24 February 2006 in 
paragraph 316(a) to Peter Fernandis requesting for a support quote for the 
Agenda Treatment project at TJC375. He had arrived at the figure of 
S$18,000 for PestBusters to use as it was higher than Elite’s quote at 
$14,950 and it was, he considered, a fair figure given that PestBusters was a 
more reputable company and had more staff and baiting systems376.  
Francis Loh confirmed that Peter Fernandis agreed to provide a support 
quote, as evidenced by his email referred to in paragraph 316(b)377. 

319. In his first interview on 12 January 2007, Francis Loh could not remember 
if he had contacted anyone else from the other AAAs, besides Peter 
Fernandis378. He was not sure if he had called Harry Singh of Killem as he 
was not close to him379. However, he was of the view that if he had 
contacted Harry Singh, he would have told Killem to put in a support quote 
at S$18,000380. In Francis Loh’s second interview on 1 June 2006, he was 

                                                 
373 Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 12 January 2007 and 1 June 2006. 
374 See Answer to Question 69 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 12 January 
2007. 
375 See Answer to Question 85 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 12 January 
2007. 
376 See Answer to Question 86 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 12 January 
2007 
377 See Answer to Question 87 and 88 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 12 
January 2007 and email response in paragraph 316b). 
378 See Answer to Question 83 and 84 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 12 
January 2007. 
379 See Answer to Question 84 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 12 January 
2007. 
380 See Answer to Question 86 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 12 January 
2007. 
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informed that Harry Singh (Killem)381 and Philip Tan (Alliance)382 had said 
that they had received a call from him for termite treatment at TJC. Francis 
Loh could not remember if he had called Harry Singh or Philip Tan but said 
that it was highly likely that he did call them if they said so. Francis Loh 
could not remember what he told them but surmised that he must have told 
them to put in a support quote above $14,950 if invited to quote. He could 
not remember if they acceded to his request but said that most of the AAAs 
would agree to a request for support383. 

320. Interview of PestBusters personnel384 – Peter Fernandis confirmed that he 
received the email dated 24 February 2006 set out in paragraph 316(a) from 
Francis Loh requesting for a support quote above S$18,000 for the Agenda 
Treatment project at TJC and that he agreed to provide a support quote at 
$19,500385. Peter Fernandis then went on to submit a quote to CPGFM at 
S$19,500386. When asked how he had arrived at the figure of $19,500, Peter 
Fernandis replied that as he did not have any measurements, he had 
arbitrarily picked a figure higher than Francis Loh’s figure to support 
him387. 

321. Interview of Killem personnel388 - Harry Singh said that he received a call 
from Francis Loh informing him that Elite was going to quote for termite 
treatment at TJC and that CPGFM would be calling the other AAAs to 
quote389. Francis Loh told him that there was a chance that Killem would be 
invited to quote as many of Killem’s clients were schools390. Although it 
was not made explicit to him, Harry Singh felt that Francis Loh was telling 
him that if Killem was invited to quote, Harry Singh should not quote his 

                                                 
381 See Answer to Question 111 to 119 of Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 7 
March 2007 and Answer to Question 6 to 9 of Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided 
on 30 May 2007. 
382 See Answer to Question 154 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 
2007. 
383 See Answer to Question 2 to 13 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 1 June 
2007. 
384 See Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 January 2007. 
385 See Answer to Question 41 and 42 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 
January 2007. 
386 See Answer to Question 43 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 
January 2007. 
387 See Answer to Question 46 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 
January 2007. 
388 See Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 14 and 15 February 2007, 7 March 
2007 and 30 May 2007. 
389 See Answer to Question 111of Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 7 March 
2007 and Answer to Question 6 of Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 30 May 
2007. 
390 See Answer to Question 7 of Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 30 May 
2007. 
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best price but the highest price possible; otherwise Francis Loh would not 
have called him391. 

322. Harry Singh stated that he had not given his best price for Killem’s 
quotation dated 28 February 2006 at S$18,000. Instead, he had included 
free items such as Termatrac392 in his quotation given the mark-up in his 
price393. He had done so in order to not to take away Francis Loh’s client as 
he had assumed that Elite was the term contractor for TJC394. He regretted 
his decision to support Elite when he found out later that Elite was not the 
term contractor for TJC395.   

323. Harry Singh was asked how Killem had arrived at the figure of S$18,000 in 
the quotation dated 28 February 2006. Harry Singh said that Killem 
personnel did not go for a site visit as they knew the area involved over the 
phone. They downloaded the map of TJC over the internet and extrapolated 
the measurements. He conceded that it was a mistake to do so and they 
should have gone to the site to check the extent of infestation396. At a 
subsequent interview, Harry Singh conceded that he had agreed to Francis 
Loh’s request for a support quote and had quoted at S$18,000 because he 
was told by Francis Loh not to go below S$18,000397.  

324. Interview of Alliance personnel – Philip Tan said that Francis Loh had 
requested Alliance to submit a support quote for termite treatment at TJC 
and he agreed to do so398. However, Alliance was not invited to quote399. 
When asked to elaborate on Francis Loh’s request to support quote, he 
said400: 

 

                                                 
391 See Answer to Question 115 of Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 7 March 
2007 and Answer to Question 8 of Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 30 May 
2007. 
392TermaTrac is the detection of termites using a hand held device working on radar-similar technology.  
393 See Answer to Question 116 to 117 of Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 7 
March 2007. 
394 See Answer to Question 118 to 119 of Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 7 
March 2007. 
395 See Answer to Question 8 of Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 30 May 
2007. 
396 See Answer to Question 77 to 82 and Questions 98 to 105 of Harry Singh’s Notes of 
Information/Explanation Provided on 7 March 2007. 
397 See Answer to Question 14 and 15 of Harry Singh’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 26 
July 2007. 
398 See Answer to Question 154 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 
2007. 
399 See Answer to Question 154 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 
2007. 
400 See Question 161 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/ Explanation Provided on 9 March 2007. 
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A:  I cannot remember if he called me personally to support quote in the 
Temasek JC case or he called Andrew on the same and then Andrew told 
me. It would have been the same, we would have supported quote if we 
were invited to quote by Temasek JC. 

 
The Commission’s analysis of the evidence 
 
Elite and PestBusters 

325. Francis Loh admitted to requesting a cover bid from Peter Fernandis for 
termite treatment at TJC via his 24 February 2006 email referred to in 
paragraph 316(a). He confirmed that Peter Fernandis had emailed on the 
same day, acceding to his request to quote above S$18,000 in the cover bid 
at S$19,500. 

326. Peter Fernandis admitted that he received Francis Loh’s 24 February 2006 
email referred to in paragraph 316(a) requesting for a cover bid and that he 
responded via the email referred to in paragraph 316(b), agreeing to the 
request saying that he would quote at S$19,500.  Peter Fernandis then 
submitted a quote for Agenda Treatment at S$19,500, as set out in his 
email. This was higher than Elite’s quote at S$14,950. 

327. The Commission considers that the evidence above makes out the elements 
of an agreement and/or a concerted practice to fix tender prices in breach of 
the section 34 prohibition. The contact between Elite and PestBusters, who 
were competitors, by way of the email exchange on 24 February 2006, 
shows that the conduct of Elite and PestBusters was not unilateral and that 
the quotes submitted were subject to collusion. Such contact between Elite 
and PestBusters infringes the principle that each undertaking must 
determine independently the policy it intends to adopt in a market.  It is 
clear from Francis Loh’s conduct in seeking a cover bid and Peter 
Fernandis’ conduct in agreeing to provide a cover bid that Elite and 
PestBusters did not determine or intend to determine their quote prices 
independently. The contact between Elite and PestBusters had as its 
intention or consequence the disclosure by Elite to PestBusters of a course 
of conduct that it was to adopt or was contemplating adopting in the 
tendering process, i.e., that it was likely to submit a quote of less than 
$18,000.  Such disclosure by Elite influenced the conduct of PestBusters on 
the market in that PestBusters took into account the information it received 
from Elite when submitting its quote by using the figure provided in 
Francis Loh’s 24 February 2006 email. The result was that Elite and 
PestBusters substituted practical cooperation for the risks of competition. 
Their cooperation substantially eliminated the uncertainty which each faced 
as to the conduct of the other in the tender process. The conduct of Elite 
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providing, and PestBusters receiving and using, a price for the purpose of 
submission to CPGFM, had as its object the prevention, restriction or 
distortion of competition. 

 
Elite and Killem 

328. Harry Singh admitted receiving a call from Francis Loh informing him that 
Elite was going to quote in respect of TJC and that there was a chance that 
Killem might be invited to quote. Harry Singh perceived this to be an 
implicit request for a cover bid as Francis Loh would not have called him 
otherwise. This is consistent with Francis Loh’s statement that they were 
not close. In this regard, the Commission notes that Francis Loh was 
prepared to concede that it was highly likely that he had called Harry Singh 
and that he must have requested Harry Singh to put in a support quote 
above S$14,950 if Killem was invited to quote. The Commission also notes 
Harry Singh’s statement that Francis Loh had told him not to quote below 
S$18,000 and that the quotation dated 28 February 2006 at S$18,000 put in 
by Killem corresponded with the figure Francis Loh said he would have 
given Killem if he had contacted Harry Singh. In the circumstances, the 
Commission accepts Harry Singh’s statement that Francis Loh had 
requested Killem to put in a cover bid at S$18,000 and he had agreed.  

329. Harry Singh subsequently put in a quotation dated 28 February 2006 at 
S$18,000, which is higher than Elite’s quotation at S$14,950. Harry Singh 
admitted that the quotation dated 28 February 2006 at S$18,000 was not his 
best price and that he had done so in order not to poach Elite’s client. 
Although he stated that he had included free items such as Termatrac in his 
quotation, the Commission was unable to find any reference to these items 
in the quotation. These, and the lack of care taken in arriving at the figure 
stated in the quotation, point to the quotation being a cover bid. 

330. The Commission considers that the evidence above makes out the elements 
of an agreement, or at the very least, a concerted practice in breach of the 
section 34 prohibition. The telephone call between Elite and Killem, who 
were competitors, shows that the conduct of Elite and Killem was not 
unilateral and that the quotes submitted were subject to collusion. The 
conduct of Elite and Killem infringes the principle that each undertaking 
must determine independently the policy it intends to adopt in a market.  It 
is clear from Francis Loh’s conduct in seeking a cover bid and Harry 
Singh’s conduct in acceding to the request and providing a cover bid at 
S$18,000 that Elite and Killem did not determine or intend to determine 
their quote prices independently. The conduct of Elite and Killem had as its 
intention or consequence the disclosure by Elite to Killem of a course of 
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conduct that it was to adopt or was contemplating adopting in the tendering 
process i.e. that it was likely to submit a quote below S$18,000.  Such 
disclosure by Elite influenced the conduct of Killem on the market in that 
Killem took into account the information it received from Elite when 
submitting its quote by using the information given by Francis Loh. The 
result was that Elite and Killem substituted practical cooperation for the 
risks of competition. Their cooperation substantially eliminated the 
uncertainty which each faced as to the conduct of the other in the tender 
process. The conduct of Elite providing, and Killem receiving and using, 
figures for the purpose of submission to CPGFM, had as its object the 
prevention, restriction or distortion of competition. 

 
Elite and Alliance 

331. Philip Tan stated that Francis Loh had requested Alliance to put in a 
support quote for termite treatment at TJC and he had agreed. Although 
Francis Loh could not remember if he had called Philip Tan, he was 
prepared to concede that it was highly likely that he had called Philip Tan 
and that he must have requested Philip Tan to put in a support quote above 
S$14,950 if Alliance was invited to quote. While he could not remember if 
Philip Tan acceded to his request, he said that most of the AAAs would 
agree to a request for support. 

332. The Commission considers that the evidence above makes out the elements 
of an agreement, or at the very least, a concerted practice in breach of the 
section 34 prohibition. The telephone call between Elite and Alliance, who 
were competitors, shows that the conduct of Elite and Alliance was not 
unilateral and that any quotes submitted were subject to collusion. The 
conduct of Elite and Alliance infringes the principle that each undertaking 
must determine independently the policy it intends to adopt in a market.  It 
is clear from Francis Loh’s conduct in seeking a cover bid and Philip Tan’s 
conduct in agreeing to provide a cover bid that Elite and Alliance did not 
determine or intend to determine their quote prices independently. The 
conduct of Elite and Alliance had as its intention or consequence the 
disclosure by Elite to Alliance of a course of conduct that it was to adopt or 
was contemplating adopting in the tendering process, i.e. that it was likely 
to submit a quote at $14,950.  Such disclosure by Elite would influence the 
conduct of Alliance on the market in that Alliance would have taken into 
account the information it received from Elite if it was invited to submit a 
quote by using the information given by Francis Loh. The result was that 
Elite and Alliance intended to substitute practical cooperation for the risks 
of competition. Their cooperation would substantially eliminate the 
uncertainty which each faced as to the conduct of the other in the tender 
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process. The conduct of Elite providing, and Alliance in receiving and 
considering, a price for the purpose of submission to CPGFM, had as its 
object the prevention, restriction or distortion of competition. 

333. Although Alliance was not invited by CPGFM to submit a quote for termite 
treatment at TJC, the Commission considers that the agreement and/or 
concerted practice between Elite and Alliance would nevertheless be caught 
under the section 34 prohibition. As set out in Tréfilunion v Commission 
and P. Hüls AG v. Commission v Commission, there can be an agreement or 
concerted practice in the absence of an actual effect on the market. As the 
object of the agreement or concerted practice between Elite and Alliance 
was clearly anti-competitive, it was not necessary to demonstrate that the 
agreement and/or concerted practice had manifested itself in conduct in the 
market or that it had effects restrictive of competition. As the CAT held in 
Apex, a concerted practice was made out at a stage prior to consideration of 
whether the person receiving the price actually puts in a tender. 

 
The Commission's conclusions on the infringement 

334. The Commission concludes that the totality of the evidence, as set out and 
analysed at paragraphs 312 to 333 above, establishes that an agreement 
and/or concerted practice was in place between – 
a) Elite and PestBusters; 
b) Elite and Killem; and 
c) Elite and Alliance,  
which had the object of fixing the prices in relation to the quotes submitted 
for termite treatment at TJC, in breach of the section 34 prohibition. 

 
vi) Dimensions Education Group Campus at the Former Serangoon 
Secondary School Site 
 
The facts and the evidence 

335. Between 1 January 2006 and 22 April 2006, Calligraphia Advertising & 
Engineering Pte Ltd (“Calligraphia”), contractors for Dimensions 
Education Group (“Dimensions”), contacted PestBusters to obtain a quote 
for corrective termite treatment at the Former Serangoon Secondary School 
(“FSSS”) site at No. 58 Lowland Road Singapore 547453 which was to be 
Dimensions’ campus. According to Peter Fernandis (PestBusters), one Mr 
B S Tan from Calligraphia informed him that they required two quotes for 
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submission to Dimensions401, consequent upon which Peter Fernandis 
approached Philip Tan (Alliance) to submit a quote to Calligraphia. 

336. Our investigations show that both PestBusters and Alliance submitted 
quotes for Agenda Treatment to Calligraphia as follows: 

 
Name of pest control operator 

submitting quote 
Quote price Date on Quote 

PestBusters402  S$68,040 22 April 2006 
Alliance403 S$92,340 24 April 2006 

 

337. According to Dimensions, Calligraphia had only forwarded the quote 
received from PestBusters to them. As Dimensions had no previous 
business relationship with PestBusters and had no knowledge or 
information about their background, Dimensions decided not to accept the 
quote from PestBusters. Subsequently, Dimensions accepted a quote dated 
6 November 2006 by Jankin Services, another pest control operator, for 
inspection and spot treatment with termite powder at S$450. 

338. During our investigations404, we uncovered the following email: 
 

“From: Peter Fernandis [peterfernandis@pestbusters.com.sg] 
Sent: Monday, April 24, 2006 9:36 AM 
To: ‘philip’ 
Subject: Serangoon Secondary School 
Importance: High  
 
Good Morning Philip, 
 
Could you please assist in supporting the above quote? 
 
Project: Former Serangoon Secondary School 
Linear Meter: 972 linear meters 
Quote: $92,340.00 @ $95.00 per linear meter 

                                                 
401 See Answer to Question 76 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 
January 2007.   
402 PestBusters’ quote to Calligraphia dated 22 April 2006 provided by Peter Fernandis during the 
Commission’s inspection of PestBusters’ premises on 23 November 2006 pursuant to Section 64 of the 
Act.     
403 Alliance’s quote to Calligraphia dated 24 April 2006 provided by Philip Tan during the Commission’s 
inspection of Alliance’s premises on 23 November 2006 pursuant to Section 64 of the Act.  
404 Provided both by Peter Fernandis and Philip Tan during the Commission’s entry into PestBusters’ and 
Alliance’s premises respectively on 23 November 2006 pursuant to Section 64 of the Act. 
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M/s Calligraphia Advertising & Engineering Pte Ltd 
Blk 1013 Geylang East Ave 3 
#03-170 Singapore 389728 
Fax 67485286 
Attn: Mr B S Tan 
 
Thanks brother 
 
PETER FERNANDIS 
PestBusters Pte Ltd 
140 Paya Lebar Road 
#08-06 A – Z Building 
Singapore 409015 
Tel: (65) 62882828 
Fax: (65) 67487388 
Mob: (65) 98563283 
E-Mail: peterfernandis@pestbusters.com.sg 
Website: www.pestbusters.com.sg” 

339. Interview of PestBusters personnel405 - Peter Fernandis said that he 
received an unsolicited call from Mr B S Tan of Calligraphia on corrective 
termite treatment on the FSSS site406 and he attended on site to take 
measurements407. He confirmed that he sent the 24 April 2006 email to 
request Philip Tan to submit a quote of S$92,340 at S$95 per linear metre. 
He said that he had only requested support408 from Alliance as Calligraphia 
only required one other quote for submission to Dimensions409. 

340. Peter Fernandis stated that he had requested that Alliance quote at S$95 per 
linear meter as there was bad termite infestation410. However, PestBusters 
quoted at the minimum price of S$70 per linear meter as Mr B S Tan of 
Calligraphia had told Peter Fernandis that the school did not have a big 
budget411. Peter Fernandis was not sure if Philip Tan responded to his email 

                                                 
405 See Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 January 2007. 
406 See Answer to Question 69 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 
January 2007. 
407 See Answer to Question 73 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 
January 2007.   
408 By way of the email in paragraph 338. 
409 See Answer to Question 76 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 
January 2007.  
410 See Answer to Question 74 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 
January 2007. 
411 See Answer to Question 79 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 
January 2007. 
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or if Alliance had submitted a quote412. However, he was subsequently 
informed that Dimensions would not be accepting his quote413. 

341. Interview of Alliance personnel414 – Philip Tan confirmed that he received 
Peter Fernandis’ email415 and although he was not sure if he had responded 
to that email416, he supported Peter Fernandis by quoting as requested by 
Peter Fernandis at S$92,340 and did not make any calculations of his 
own417. Philip Tan surmised that the quote by PestBusters would be at a 
figure below $92,340418. 

342. When asked if he would have quoted differently but for the fact that he 
agreed to render support419, his answer was as follows: 

 
A: I am not sure if it would very different. But I would definitely have given 

more consideration to all factors and circumstances surrounding the tender 
in coming up with a quotation so that I can hopefully get the project. 
When I am asked to support quote, I would just pluck a figure from 
nowhere or quote the requested figure without any consideration for the 
surrounding factors or circumstances. 

 
The Commission’s analysis of the evidence 

343. In relation to PestBusters, Peter Fernandis admitted to requesting a cover 
bid from Philip Tan for termite treatment at the FSSS site via the 24 April 
2006 email referred to in paragraph 338. Peter Fernandis had provided in 
his email a figure for Alliance’s cover bid and provided the address and fax 
number of Calligraphia so that Alliance could submit the cover bid. 

344. In relation to Alliance, Philip Tan admitted that he received Peter 
Fernandis’ 24 April 2006 email requesting for a cover bid and pursuant 
thereto, he had submitted a quote at S$92,340 without making any 
calculations of his own. 

                                                 
412 See Answer to Question 75 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 
January 2007 
413 See Answer to Question 80 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 10 
January 2007 
414 See Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 2007. 
415 See Answer to Question 22 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 
2007. 
416 See Answer to Question 27 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 
2007. 
417 See Answer to Question 29 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 
2007. 
418 See Answer to Question 30 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation on 9 March 2007 
419 See Question 31 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 9 March 2007 
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345. The Commission considers that the evidence above makes out the elements 
of a concerted practice in breach of the section 34 prohibition. The 24 April 
2006 email between PestBusters and Alliance, who were competitors, 
shows that the conduct of PestBusters and Alliance was not unilateral and 
that the quotes submitted were subject to collusion. The conduct of 
PestBusters and Alliance infringes the principle that each undertaking must 
determine independently the policy it intends to adopt in a market.  It is 
clear from Peter Fernandis’ conduct in seeking a cover bid and Philip Tan’s 
conduct in preparing a quote in the exact terms specified by Peter Fernandis 
in his email that PestBusters and Alliance did not determine or intend to 
determine their quote prices independently. The conduct of PestBusters and 
Alliance had as its intention or consequence the disclosure by PestBusters 
to Alliance of a course of action that it was to adopt or was contemplating 
adopting in the tendering process, i.e. that it was likely to submit a quote at 
a figure less than $92,340.  Such disclosure by PestBusters influenced the 
conduct of Alliance on the market in that Alliance took account of the 
information it received from PestBusters when submitting its quote by 
using the figure provided in Peter Fernandis’ 24 April 2006 email. The 
result was that PestBusters and Alliance substituted practical cooperation 
for the risks of competition. Their cooperation substantially eliminated the 
uncertainty which each faced as to the conduct of the other in the tender 
process. The conduct of PestBusters providing, and Alliance receiving and 
using, a price for the purpose of submission to Dimensions, had as its 
object the prevention, restriction or distortion of competition. The fact that 
the project was not awarded to either party is not a necessary ingredient for 
the finding of an infringement of the section 34 prohibition. 

 
The Commission’s conclusions on the infringement 

346. The Commission concludes that the totality of the evidence, as set out and 
analysed at paragraphs 335 to 345 above, establishes that a concerted 
practice was in place between PestBusters and Alliance, which had the 
object of fixing the prices in relation to the quotes submitted by each 
undertaking for termite treatment at the FSSS site, in breach of the section 
34 prohibition. 
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SECTION III: DECISION OF INFRINGEMENT 

347. The Commission is satisfied that there is sufficient evidence in paragraphs 
86 to 346 above to find that the Parties listed at paragraph 1 above, 
infringed the section 34 prohibition by entering into agreements and/or 
concerted practices to fix prices through collusive tendering or bid-rigging 
in respect of the separate projects listed in paragraphs 86 to 346 above. On 
2 October 2007, the Commission issued its proposed infringement decision 
to the Parties listed in paragraph 1.  The Parties were informed that if they 
wished to make representations for the Commission’s consideration, they 
should do so by 13 November 2007.  The representations received from the 
Parties did not challenge the Commission’s decision on the infringements 
in respect of the separate projects listed in paragraphs 86 to 346 above. The 
Commission therefore finds that the Parties have infringed the section 34 
prohibition and imposes penalties on the Parties listed at paragraph 1 above 
in respect of projects in which each Party is found to have participated in 
collusive tendering or bid-rigging arrangements as specified in paragraphs 
86 to 346.    

348. On the basis of the evidence set out at paragraphs 86 to 346 above, the 
Commission has considered the relevant duration for each of the 
infringements. The Commission considers that the duration of 
infringements of this nature is at least from the date of initial contact 
between the Parties, with one party alerting the others to a project, stating 
his interest in winning the project and requesting the help of the others in 
ensuring that they would not win the project, to the date when the final bid 
was received for the respective project. The nature of the initial contacts, 
some of which were oral, coupled with the fact that tender documentation 
was not always retained beyond the end of the tender process mean that the 
Commission does not always have precise information as to the dates of 
each infringement. In relation to any of the infringements particularised in 
Section II of this Decision, the Commission is not aware of any evidence 
that suggests that the period between initial contact and submission of 
tender bids, and correspondingly the duration of infringement, was greater 
than one year. 

349. Having said that, the Commission is mindful that the effects of the 
infringements were not restricted to the actual, usually very short, period 
during which the collusion took place. Once a project had been awarded 
following an anti-competitive tender, the anti-competitive effect was 
irreversible in relation to that tender and the infringements may have a 
potential continuing impact on further tendering processes by the same 
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tenderees in that a contractor who wins the tender pursuant to collusion 
gains the advantage of incumbency420. 

350. The duration of an infringement in a cartel case is of importance in so far as 
it may have an impact on the penalty that may be imposed for that 
infringement.421 For that purpose, the Commission considers that each 
project which was the subject of collusive tendering or bid-rigging amounts 
to a separate infringement and that none of the discrete incidents of 
collusive tendering or bid-rigging spanned more than a year, although all 
the Parties were implicated in more than one of the incidents. 

 
SECTION IV: THE COMMISSION’S ACTION 

351. This section sets out the Commission's action and its reasons 
 
A. Directions 

352. Section 69(1) of the Act provides that where the Commission has made a 
decision that an agreement has infringed the section 34 prohibition, it may 
give to such person as it thinks appropriate such directions as it considers 
appropriate to bring the infringement to an end. As the Commission 
considers that the infringements have already ended, it is not necessary to 
issue any directions for the parties to terminate the agreements.  

 
B. Financial penalties - general points 

353. Under section 69(2)(d) of the Act, the Commission may, where it has made 
a decision that an agreement has infringed the section 34 prohibition, 
impose on any party to that infringing agreement a financial penalty not 
exceeding 10% of the turnover of the business of such party in Singapore 
for each year of infringement, up to a maximum of 3 years. 

354. Before exercising the power to impose a financial penalty, the Commission 
must be satisfied, as a threshold condition, that the infringement has been 
committed intentionally or negligently422. This is similar to the position in 
the EC and the UK. In this respect, the Commission notes that in 
determining whether this threshold condition is met, both the European 
Commission and the OFT are not required to decide whether the 
infringement was committed intentionally or negligently, so long as they 
are satisfied that the infringement was either intentional or negligent: see 
Vereniging van Samenwerkende Prijsregelende Organisaties in de 

                                                 
420 See paragraph 278 of Apex Asphalt and Paving Co Limited v Office of Fair Trading [2005] CAT 4. 
421 See the CCS Guidelines on the Appropriate Amount of Penalty, at paragraphs 2.1, 2.7 and 2.8. 
422 See section 69(3) of the Act and paragraphs 4.3 to 4.11 of the CCS Guidelines on Enforcement. 
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Bouwnijverheid (SPO) and Others v Commission of the European 
Communities423 and Napp Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited and 
Subsidiaries v Director General of Fair Trading424. 

355. The circumstances in which the Commission might find that an 
infringement has been committed intentionally include the following: 
a) the agreement has as its object the restriction of competition; 
b) the undertaking in question is aware that its action will be, or are 

reasonably likely to be, restrictive of competition but still wants, or 
is prepared, to carry them out; or 

c) the undertaking could not have been unaware that its agreement or 
conduct would have the effect of restricting competition, even if it 
did not know that it would infringe the section 34 prohibition.  

 
Ignorance or a mistake of law is no bar to a finding of intentional 
infringement under the Act. The Commission is likely to find that an 
infringement of the section 34 prohibition has been committed negligently 
where an undertaking ought to have known that its agreement or conduct 
would result in a restriction or distortion of competition425. 

356. The Commission considers that collusive tendering or bid-rigging 
arrangements, as in this case, are serious infringements of the section 34 
prohibition, which have as their object the restriction of competition, and 
are likely to have been, by their very nature, committed intentionally.  

357. Further, the Commission considers that the Parties would, in all likelihood, 
have submitted tender proposals or quotes before those projects specified at 
paragraphs 86 to 346 of this Decision and either would have, or ought to 
have known that the purpose of conducting tenders is to ensure competition 
in the award of projects. 

358. The Commission considers that, by reason of the very nature of the 
agreements and/or concerted practices involving collusive tendering or bid-
rigging, each of the Parties must have been aware that the agreements 
and/or concerted practices in which they participated had the object of 
preventing, restricting or distorting competition. The Commission is 
therefore satisfied that each of the Parties intentionally or negligently 
infringed the section 34 prohibition. 

359. The Commission imposes a penalty on the Parties listed at paragraph 1 
above in relation to the infringements considered at paragraphs 86 to 346 

                                                 
423 (Case C-137/95P) [1996] ECR I-1611. 
424See [2002] CAT 1, [2002] Comp AR 13, at paragraphs 452 to 458. 
425 See paragraphs 4.7 to 4.10 of the CCS Guidelines on Enforcement. 
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above in respect of which each Party is found to have participated in 
collusive tendering arrangements. The representations received from the 
Parties did not challenge the Commission’s decision to impose the penalty.   

C. Calculation of penalties 

360. The CCS Guidelines on the Appropriate Amount of Penalty provides that in 
calculating the amount of penalty to be imposed, the Commission will take 
into consideration the seriousness of the infringement, the turnover of the 
business of the undertaking in Singapore for the relevant product and 
geographic markets affected by the infringement (“the relevant turnover”) 
in the undertaking’s last business year, the duration of the infringement, 
other relevant factors such as deterrent value, and any aggravating and 
mitigating factors. 

361. Similar considerations are taken into account by the European Commission 
in the calculation of fines imposed pursuant to Article 23(2)(a) of 
Regulation No. 1/2003 and by the OFT in calculating the level of financial 
penalty imposed under section 36 of the Competition Act 1998. The 
European Commission determines the fine by first working out the basic 
amount of the fine.  This is done by looking at the value of sales (turnover) 
and taking a percentage thereof, which percentage would depend on the 
degree of gravity of the infringement.   This base amount would then be 
multiplied by the number of years of infringement. In deciding on whether 
the percentage of the value of sales should be at the lower or higher end, the 
European Commission will have regard to the nature of the infringement, 
the combined market share of the undertakings concerned, the geographic 
scope of the infringement and whether or not the infringement was 
implemented. The European Commission will then make adjustments to the 
basic amount bearing in mind aggravating or mitigating circumstances and 
the need for deterrence426.  

362. The OFT adopts a similar methodology. First, it calculates the starting point 
or the base amount for the financial penalty, having regard to the 
seriousness of the infringement and the relevant turnover of the 
undertaking. The starting point is then adjusted taking into account the 
duration of the infringement, the need for specific or general deterrence, 
and any aggravating or mitigating factors427.  

363. Common to both approaches is the principle of starting with a base figure, 
which is worked out by taking a percentage or proportion of the relevant 

                                                 
426 See Guidelines on the method of setting fines imposed pursuant to Article 23(2)(a) of Regulation No 
1/2003. 
427 See OFT’s guidance as to the appropriate amount of a penalty (December 2004). 
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sales or turnover, applying a multiplier for the duration of infringement and 
then adjusting that figure to take into account similar factors such as 
deterrence and aggravating and mitigating considerations. The Commission 
adopts a similar approach. 

 
(i) Seriousness of the Infringements and Relevant Turnover 

364. The Commission considers that the seriousness of the infringement and the 
relevant turnover of each undertaking would be taken into account by 
setting the starting point for calculating the base penalty amount as a 
percentage rate of each undertaking's relevant turnover. The actual 
percentage rate used will depend on the seriousness of the infringement.   
The relevant turnover in this case would be the turnover for services within 
Singapore using Agenda Treatment.  

365. In assessing the seriousness of the infringement, the Commission will 
consider a number of factors, including the nature of the product, the 
structure of the market, the market share(s) of the undertaking(s) involved 
in the infringement and the effect on competitors and third parties. The 
impact and effect of the infringement on the market, direct or indirect, will 
also be an important consideration428. 

366. The relevant turnover in the last business year will be considered when the 
Commission assesses the impact and effect of the infringement on the 
market429. The “last business year” is the business year preceding the date 
on which the decision of the Commission is taken, or if figures are not 
available for that business year, the one immediately preceding it430. 

367. The seriousness of the infringement may also depend on the nature of the 
infringement. The Commission considers that the collusive tendering or 
bid-rigging arrangements in this case, set out at paragraphs 86 to 346 
above, are serious infringements. 

368. Nature of the product - As Agenda Treatment is the main subject matter of 
the collusive tendering or bid-rigging arrangements in this case among the 
Parties, the Commission considers it appropriate to adopt a narrow product 
market definition as that for Agenda Treatment. To this end, turnover 
attributable to other forms of termite treatment or control will not be 
considered when calculating the appropriate amount of penalty. Having 
said that, the Commission notes that two (out of six) of the projects listed in 

                                                 
428 See CCS Guidelines on the Appropriate Amount of Penalty, paragraph 2.3.  
429 See CCS Guidelines on the Appropriate Amount of Penalty, paragraph 2.4. 
430 See Competition (Financial Penalties) Order 2007, paragraph 3 and CCS Guidelines on the Appropriate 
Amount of Penalty, paragraph 2.5. 
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paragraphs 86 to 346 above were ultimately awarded to PCOs using other 
termiticides or methods of termite control or treatment431. The relevant 
geographic market for Agenda Treatment is Singapore. 

369. The value of the projects listed in paragraphs 86 to 346 above, the subject 
matter of this Decision, range from approximately S$14,950 to S$349,000. 
The size of a project can be a relevant factor when assessing the seriousness 
of the infringement. As set out earlier, two (out of six) of the projects listed 
in paragraphs 86 to 346 above were awarded to PCOs using other 
termiticides or methods of termite control or treatment. Two of the four 
projects awarded to the Parties, were the subject of further negotiations 
between the customer and the winner of the tender, leading to a reduction 
of the initial proposed sums432. 

370. Structure of the market - The pest control industry is highly fragmented and 
polarised in terms of size, with the large PCOs accounting for a large 
proportion of total industry turnover. As at 2004, 17 PCOs had an average 
annual turnover of above S$1m.  They accounted for more than half of the 
total industry turnover (S$70m), with the remaining 163 PCOs (at that 
time) accounting for the remainder433.  

371. Termite control and treatment is but one aspect of pest control.  From the 
evidence obtained during the interviews and the turnover data made 
available to the Commission, termite control and treatment ranged from 4% 
to 34% of the total turnover of the Parties for the last business year. Agenda 
treatment ranged from 2.6% to 21.9% of the total turnover of the Parties for 
the last business year. 

372. The Commission notes that there may be entry barriers to the Agenda 
Treatment market since the use of Agenda is restricted by Bayer and Bentz 
Jaz to a selected group of PCOs, i.e. the AAAs (also the Parties). However, 
the Commission also notes that there may be substitutes in the form of 
parallel imports or other termiticides434. 

373. Market share of the Parties – The Parties have the entire market share in the 
Agenda Treatment market, but less if other substitutes are taken into 
account. Although detailed statistical data specifically for the Agenda 
treatment market is unavailable, the Commission considers from the 

                                                 
431 See RH Tender and termite treatment at the Dimensions Education Group Campus at the FSSS site, at 
paragraphs 89 and 337 respectively.  
432 See AH Tender and termite treatment at River Place at paragraphs 147 and 256 respectively. 
433 See Singapore Pest Management Association Membership Survey 2004, the results of which were 
published on 19 May 2005. The Survey reported that there were 180 PCOs in Singapore. The estimated 
value of the industry was S$70m as at the end of 2004 with an estimated labour force of 2,000 people. 
434 See paragraphs 80 to 83. 
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relevant turnover, that Rentokil and Aardwolf are the bigger players, 
followed by Alliance and PestBusters in the middle, with Killem and Elite 
being the smaller players. 

374. Effect on customers, competitors and third parties - It is not possible for the 
Commission to quantify the amount of any loss caused to customers 
because of the collusive tendering. However, the Commission considers 
that the Parties' infringements gave customers seeking termite control and 
treatment services the impression that there was more competition in the 
tender process relating to a specific project than there actually was435.  As a 
result, it was not possible for those customers to ascertain whether the 
tenders received were based on competitive prices or other factors.  It also 
meant that customers were deprived of the possibility of replacing those 
companies that did not wish to win the project with other third-party 
companies that might have been keen to submit a genuinely-competitive 
bid (using another termiticide or termite control or treatment method). 

375. Having regard to the nature of the product, the size of the projects, the 
structure of the market, the market shares of the Parties, the effect of the 
infringements on customers, competitors and third parties and that collusive 
tendering/bid-rigging is one of the more serious infringements of the 
Competition Act, the Commission considers it will be appropriate to fix the 
starting point at […]% of relevant turnover for each of the Parties. 

(ii) Duration of the Infringements 

376. The Commission considers it appropriate, at this stage, after calculating a 
base penalty sum, to see if this sum should be adjusted to take into account 
the duration of the infringement.  As noted at paragraph 348 above, the 
Commission has concluded that the duration of each of the infringements in 
this Decision was not greater than one year. Even though the actual 
collusive tendering or bid-rigging arrangements lasted for significantly less 
than one year, the Commission does not consider that there should be any 
downward adjustment as the anti-competitive effects are irreversible in 
respect of that tender and may affect future tendering processes by the same 
tenderees if an infringing party wins and gains the advantage of 
incumbency436. The Commission considers that there should be no 
adjustments for duration in this case to any penalties to be imposed. 

 

   
                                                 
435 See the view of the CAT in Apex, at paragraph 250. 
436 See the view of the CAT in Apex, at paragraph 278. 
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(iii) Other Relevant Factors 

377. Moving on to consider other relevant factors, the penalty may be adjusted 
as appropriate to achieve policy objectives, particularly to deter 
undertakings (including non-infringing undertakings) from engaging in 
anti-competitive practices, such as collusive tendering. The Commission 
intends through its decision to raise awareness of competition issues in the 
procurement sector. 

378. The Commission considers that collusive tendering is one of the most 
serious infringements of the Act, a cartel activity437, which, by its secret 
nature, makes it difficult to detect and prove. Accordingly, it is necessary to 
effectively deter undertakings from engaging in collusive tendering by 
imposing an adequately-deterrent penalty that will send the appropriate 
message.  

379. Another factor is whether the financial penalty calculated after adjustment 
for the duration of infringement represents a relatively low proportion of an 
undertaking's total turnover, for example, where that undertaking has 
significant operations in other markets. In such a case, the Commission 
may consider it necessary to increase the undertaking's penalty at this stage 
to arrive at a sum that represents, for that undertaking, a significant amount 
that will act as a sufficient deterrent, having regard to the seriousness of the 
infringement(s) and the undertaking's total turnover. These points are 
considered in the detailed assessment in relation to each Party. 

380. Other considerations that the Commission may consider at this stage 
include its estimate of any economic or financial benefit derived by the 
infringing undertakings from the infringement(s), and the special 
characteristics of the case, including the size and financial position of the 
undertakings in question438. 

381. The Parties say in their interviews that when they charge at the price of 
S$70 per linear meter for a post-construction Agenda Treatment job, they 
would make at least a 20% profit439 although there are differing profit 

                                                 
437 See the CCS Guidelines on the Appropriate Amount of Penalty, paragraph 1.7. 
438 See CCS Guidelines on the Appropriate Amount of Penalty, paragraph 2.9. 
439 From our interviews, five out of the six Parties have stated that they would make at least 20% profit. See 
Answer to Question 106 of John Ho’s Notes of Information Explanation Provided on 30 March 2007, 
Answer to Question 85 of Ong Koong Tak, James (Joseph)’s Notes of Information Explanation Provided 
on 28 April 2007, Answer to Question 31 of Harry Singh’s Notes of Information Explanation Provided on 
30 May 2007, Answer to Question 34 of Francis Loh’s Notes of Information Explanation Provided on 1 
June 2007 and Answer to Question 36 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information Explanation Provided on 
30 May 2007. Alliance did not wish to commit to any figure, saying that they will make a small profit. See 
Answers to Questions 63 to 64 of Philip Tan’s Notes of Information Explanation Provided on 27 February 
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margins.  The Commission also notes that the price of S$70 per linear 
meter is the minimum price. The Commission is of the view that it would 
be difficult to estimate any gain that the Parties may have achieved through 
their collusive actions in relation to the projects, the subject matter of the 
infringements. Potential gains may be derived not only from the projects in 
question (through higher margins), but also from changes in the ongoing 
relationships with customers. Moreover, the arithmetical calculation of gain 
should not form the sole or even the main means of assessing the 
seriousness of an infringement, except in the clearest cases440. 

382. As for the size of the undertakings in question, the Commission considers 
that this would have been taken into consideration when applying a 
percentage rate to each undertaking's relevant turnover as a starting point. 
The Commission recognises that some Parties are larger than others and 
where a Party’s relevant turnover constitutes a relatively small percentage 
of its total turnover, the Commission may consider adjustments to ensure 
that the financial penalties will represent a significant sum and act as an 
adequate deterrent for such a Party, having regard to the seriousness of the 
infringement(s) and the total turnover. As such, the Commission considers 
that no downward adjustment for smaller Parties would be appropriate at 
this stage. 

383. The Commission notes that the financial position of the Parties is a relevant 
consideration in determining whether the penalty imposed will be 
sufficiently deterrent, not only in relation to the Party in question but also in 
relation to like-minded undertakings which may consider engaging in anti-
competitive activities. 

384. In this regard, the Commission notes that the Guidelines on the method of 
setting fines imposed pursuant to Article 23(2)(a) of Regulation No 1/2003 
set out the position in Europe: 

 
F. Ability to pay 

35. In exceptional cases, the Commission may, upon request, take account 
of the undertaking’s inability to pay in a specific social and economic 
context. It will not base any reduction granted for this reason in the fine on 
the mere finding of an adverse or loss-making financial situation. A 
reduction could be granted solely on the basis of objective evidence that 
imposition of the fine as provided for in these Guidelines would 

                                                                                                                                                 
2007 and Answers to Questions 224 – 245 of Andrew Chan’s Notes of Information Explanation Provided 
on 27 February 2007. 
440 Napp Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited and subsidiaries v Director General of Fair Trading [2002] 
CAT 1, at paragraph 511. 
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irretrievably jeopardise the economic viability of the undertaking 
concerned and cause its assets to lose all their value. 

385. In Tokai Carbon Co Ltd and others v European Commission441, the Court 
of First Instance in its decision in 2005, held that cartelists could not pray in 
aid their economic difficulties and those of the market in seeking a 
reduction in the fine imposed by the Commission. The Court stated: 

 
369  … cartels come into being, in particular, at a time when a sector is 

experiencing difficulties. If that circumstance did not justify the 
grant of an attenuating circumstance (see paragraph 345 above), it 
cannot justify a reduction in the fine in the present context either.  

 

370  … According to settled case law, the Commission is not required 
when determining the amount of the fine to take account of an 
undertaking’s financial losses since recognition of such an 
obligation would have the effect of conferring an unfair 
competitive advantage on the undertakings least well adapted to 
the conditions of the market … 

386. The Court also considered the potential insolvency of one of the cartelists 
and held as follows: 

 
372  Furthermore, the fact that a measure taken by a Community 

authority leads to the insolvency or liquidation of a given 
undertaking is not prohibited as such by Community 
law…Although the liquidation of an undertaking in its existing 
legal form may adversely affect the financial interests of the 
owners, investors or shareholders, it does not mean that the 
personal, tangible and intangible elements represented by the 
undertaking would also lose their value. 

387. In the UK, the OFT would take into account any financial hardship 
considerations which are advanced at the time the penalty is being assessed 
when assessing the amount of the penalty442. In Achilles Paper Group 
Limited v OFT443, Achilles had recorded a net loss after the deduction of 
salaries, pensions, rents and other administrative costs and expressed the 
concern that a substantial fine would result in it becoming insolvent. The 
CAT in its decision in 2006, adopted the principle in Tokai Carbon set out 
in paragraph 385 above and affirmed the OFT’s decision not to reduce the 
fine which in their view was well within the OFT’s margin of appreciation. 

                                                 
441 [2004] ECR II-1181, [2004] 5 CMLR 28. 
442 See Richard W Price (Roofing Contractors) Limited v OFT [2005] CAT 5 at paragraphs 60 and 64 
443 [2006] CAT 24 see paragraph 56. 
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388. In Sepia Logistics Limited (formerly known as Double Quick SupplyLine 
Limited) and Precision Concepts Limited v OFT 444, the CAT held: 

100.  ...The financial position of the undertaking in question is not 
something that the OFT must consider in all cases, but rather is something 
that the OFT may consider, upon the application of the undertaking. In 
making such an application, it seems to us that the onus must be on the 
applicant to provide the regulator with all information and/or 
documentation it wishes to have taken into account. A parallel can be 
drawn between this type of application and an application under Part 3 of 
the Guidance for lenient treatment for undertakings coming forward with 
information. In both cases, the undertaking is seeking more lenient 
treatment than would otherwise be the case because of special 
circumstances. When invoking these provisions, the usual evidential 
burden is reversed. It is for the applicant to satisfy the OFT that they are 
eligible for a reduction in penalty, and not for the OFT to disprove that 
application. 

(iv) Aggravating and Mitigating Factors 

389. At this next stage, the Commission will consider the presence of 
aggravating or mitigating factors and make adjustments when assessing the 
amount of financial penalty445, i.e. increasing the penalty where there are 
aggravating factors and reducing the penalty where there are mitigating 
factors. These points are considered in relation to each of the Parties. 

390. The Commission considers the involvement of directors or senior 
management as an aggravating factor446. The amount of the penalty will be 
adjusted upwards to reflect their direct involvement in or knowledge of any 
decision leading to the infringement, or failure to take the necessary steps 
to avoid an infringement. 

391. The Commission notes that the role of an undertaking as a leader in, or an 
instigator of, an infringement may be an aggravating factor447. As to 
whether it may be regarded as a mitigating factor if an undertaking was not 
a leader in or an instigator of an infringement, the Commission considers 
that a merely passive or follower role in an infringement is not sufficient to 
justify a reduction in the penalty. This is in line with the example given in 
the CCS Guidelines on the Appropriate Amount of Penalty which makes 
reference to an undertaking having to show that the infringement was 
committed under severe duress or pressure for it to have any mitigating 

                                                 
444 [2007] CAT 13. 
445 See CCS Guidelines on the Appropriate Amount of Penalty, paragraph 2.10. 
446 See CCS Guidelines on the Appropriate Amount of Penalty, paragraph 2.11. 
447 See CCS Guidelines on the Appropriate Amount of Penalty, paragraph 2.11. 

 133



 

effect448. The Commission also notes that a similar position is taken by the 
Office of Fair Trading449 and by the European Commission which requires 
that an undertaking “actually avoided applying” the offending agreement 
“by adopting competitive conduct in the market”450.  

392. The Commission considers repeated infringements to be an aggravating 
factor451. The amount of the penalty will be adjusted upwards to reflect the 
number of infringements for each Party.  In deciding on the appropriate 
increase in amount for multiple infringements, the Commission is mindful 
that any adjustment should be fair and proportionate as between all 
participants. The Commission will consider the number of infringements by 
each Party, the relative number of infringements as between the Parties and 
significant qualitative differences of the infringements. 

393. In the present case, the Commission considers that it is appropriate to 
increase the penalties by multiples of 10% where a Party has committed 2 
or more infringements, as set out in the table below. In this respect, the 
Commission notes that the OFT adopted a similar approach in a series of 
collusive tendering cases where there were similar discrete collusive 
tendering or bid-rigging infringements to fix prices452. 

 
Number of infringements Increase in Penalties 

1 None 
2 10% 
3 20% 
4 30% 
5 40% 
6 50% 
7 60% 
8 70% 
9 80% 
10 90% 
11 100% 

                                                 
448 See CCS Guidelines on the Appropriate Amount of Penalty, paragraph 2.12. 
449 See Price fixing and market sharing in stock check pads (CA98/03/2006, Case CE/3861-04) where the 
Office of Fair Trading did not consider as a mitigating factor the fact that Achilles Paper Group Limited 
was neither a leader nor instigator of the infringement. Achilles Paper subsequently appealed to the 
Competition Appeal Tribunal but did not raise this as a ground of appeal. 
450 See paragraph 29 of EC Guidelines on the method of setting fines imposed pursuant to Article 23(2)(a) 
of Regulation No 1/2003 (2006/C 210/2).  
451 See CCS Guidelines on the Appropriate Amount of Penalty, paragraph 2.11. 
452 CA98/01/2006 (Joined Cases CE/3123-03 and CE/3645-03), CA 98/01/2005 (Case CE/1925-02), 
CA98/02/2005 (Case CE/1777-02), CA98/04/2005 (Case CE/3344-03), CA98/1/2004 (Case CP/0001-02).  

 134



 

Number of infringements Increase in Penalties 
12, etc 110%, etc 

 
 
D. Penalty for Aardwolf 

394. Starting point: Aardwolf, one of the key players in the Agenda Treatment 
market, was involved in four infringements: 
a) collusive tendering or bid-rigging in connection with the RH Tender, 

which the Commission considers came to an end in May 2006; 
b) collusive tendering or bid-rigging in connection with the AH Tender, 

which the Commission considers came to an end in June 2006; 
c) collusive tendering or bid-rigging in connection with the Hawaii 

Tower quotations, which the Commission considers came to an end 
in February 2006; and 

d) collusive tendering or bid-rigging in connection with the River Place 
quotations, which the Commission considers came to an end in May 
2006. 

395. Aardwolf's financial year is 1 April to 31 March. Aardwolf's relevant 
turnover for services involving Agenda treatment in the last business year 
was S$[…]453. 

396. The Commission has analysed its findings regarding the seriousness of this 
infringement in accordance with paragraphs 364 to 375 above and fixed the 
starting point for Aardwolf at […]% of relevant turnover. The starting point 
for Aardwolf is therefore S$[…]. 

397. Adjustment for duration: In view of paragraph 376 above, the Commission 
does not make any adjustment for duration. 

398. Adjustment for other factors: The Commission notes that Aardwolf is one 
of the bigger players in the Agenda Treatment market as well as the general 
pest control market.  It made a net profit of S$[…]454 for the last business 
year. The Commission is mindful that the financial penalty to be imposed 
should be commensurate with the size and financial position of the 
undertaking.  The Commission is of the view that the figure reached after 
adjustment for duration is a significant sum in relation to Aardwolf because 
both the figure and the relevant turnover taken into account for the starting 
point represent an adequate proportion of Aardwolf's total turnover for the 

                                                 
453 Information provided by Aardwolf via letter dated 17 April 2007 pursuant to the section 63 Notice 
issued by the Commission dated 3 April 2007.  
454 Information provided by Aardwolf on 8 August 2007 pursuant to the section 63 Notice issued by the 
Commission dated 3 April 2007. 
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year ending 31 March 2007. Accordingly, the Commission considers that 
the figure of S$[…] is sufficient to act as an effective deterrent to Aardwolf 
and to other undertakings which may consider engaging in collusive 
tendering and will not be making adjustments to the penalty at this stage. 

399. Adjustment for aggravating and mitigating factors: As stated at paragraphs 
392 to 393 above, the Commission will treat multiple infringements as an 
aggravating factor. As Aardwolf was involved in collusive tendering or bid-
rigging in connection with four infringements, the Commission increases 
the penalty by 30%. 

400. The Commission considers the involvement on the part of at least a 
Director and the Sales Manager of Aardwolf in the infringements as an 
aggravating factor and increases the penalty by […]%. 

401. Although the Commission considers that Aardwolf has cooperated with the 
Commission during the course of the investigation, the Commission notes 
that Aardwolf did not produce any email correspondence evidencing the 
infringements despite the fact that the email exchange on 10 May 2006 in 
paragraph 90(c) and (d) was attached to its tender proposal submitted to 
Hospitalitybex. In fact, Aardwolf was unable to produce some of its quotes 
or working papers despite many requests. The Commission acknowledges 
that the relevant personnel of Aardwolf had admitted that Aardwolf had 
agreed to provide cover bids for Alliance in respect of the infringements for 
Hawaii Tower and River Place but notes that Aardwolf had sought to 
justify such involvement on the ground that they were hoping to gain sub-
contracts from Alliance. The Commission was also of the view that the 
Aardwolf personnel interviewed were less than forthcoming on Aardwolf’s 
involvement and at times, gave inconsistent accounts. An example of this 
would be the inconsistent accounts of Patrick Chong and Julia Chew as to 
whether she was expected to put in a cover bid or to try to win the 
respective projects. Accordingly, the Commission reduces the penalty by 
[…]% for co-operation. 

402. After taking into account the aggravating and mitigating factors, the penalty 
has been adjusted upwards by […]% to S$[…].  

403. Adjustment to prevent maximum penalty being exceeded: The financial 
penalty i.e. S$[…] does not exceed the maximum financial penalty that the 
Commission can impose in accordance with the section 69(2) of the Act, 
i.e. S$[…]. The financial penalty at the end of this stage is S$53,173.59. 

 136



 

404. Representations by Aardwolf in respect of quantum of penalty455: Aardwolf 
sought a reduction in the penalty to be imposed on the following grounds: 
a) Aardwolf did not moot the idea of the provision of cover bids. In a 

bid to support the implementation of the minimum pricing for 
Agenda treatment so that there would be no price war, it was 
unfortunate that they were involved in the provision of cover bids 
and carried on with them even after the Act came into force. It was a 
gross oversight and a truly inadvertent breach; it was never meant to 
deliberately undermine the law; 

b) Aardwolf had not derived any financial benefit from the 
infringements; 

c) Aardwolf has taken action to prevent a repeat of the infringements, 
including desisting from participating in support quotes, not quoting 
for a project where they will be sub-contracted works for Termicam 
and keeping proper documentation on jobs so that they can explain 
how prices are derived; 

d) Aardwolf has been a responsible corporate citizen and has 
participated actively in community work in building up the image of 
the industry;  

e) Aardwolf’s reputation has suffered crippling damage following the 
Commission’s investigation and press reports so much so that they 
have terminated their foray into Malaysia; and 

f) Aardwolf is in the midst of constructing a mezzanine floor to their 
Jurong factory and the payment of 13th month bonus to their staff 
will mean a huge cash outflow for the company.  

405. The Commission does not consider that these representations constitute 
mitigating factors or add any additional mitigating value for the purposes of 
calculating a financial penalty. As set out in paragraph 391, a passive or 
follower role in an infringement is not sufficient to justify a reduction in the 
penalty. Aardwolf has not shown that its infringements were committed 
under severe duress or pressure. The Commission considers that the issue 
of financial gains or benefit has already been addressed in paragraph 381 
above. The lack of any financial benefit from the infringements does not 
diminish the seriousness of the infringements or constitute a mitigating 
factor. In any event, the value of the contracts in respect of the Projects 
above, where they were awarded to any of the Parties, has been taken into 
consideration either at the starting point456 for determining the amount of 

                                                 
455 Written representations by Aardwolf dated 24 October 2007.  
456 For Alliance in respect of the award for the projects at Hawaii Tower and River Place, and Elite in 
respect of the award for the project at TJC, the value of such contracts awarded were taken into account at 
the starting point of determining the amount of penalty.   
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financial penalty or under the stage for Adjustment for other factors457. As 
for the action taken to prevent a repeat of the infringements, the 
Commission notes that paragraph 2.11 of the CCS Guidelines on the 
Appropriate Amount of Penalty sets out as a mitigating factor the taking of 
adequate steps to ensure compliance with the section 34 and/or 47 
prohibition e.g. the existence of any compliance programme. In considering 
the mitigating value to be accorded to the existence of any compliance 
programme, the Commission will consider the following: (a) whether there 
are appropriate compliance policies and procedures in place; (b) whether 
the programme has been actively implemented; (c) whether it has the 
support of, and is observed by, senior management; (d) whether there is 
active and ongoing training for employees at all levels who may be 
involved in activities that are touched by competition law; and (e) whether 
the programme is evaluated and reviewed at regular intervals. The 
Commission considers that Aardwolf has failed to show that it has taken 
adequate steps to ensure compliance with the section 34 prohibition. As 
regards Aardwolf’s representations on its cash outflow, the issue of the 
financial position of the Parties has been addressed in paragraphs 384 to 
388 and the Commission does not consider the representations in this 
regard to be a mitigating factor.  

406. Accordingly, the Commission does not consider any further reduction 
appropriate in the circumstances and imposes a financial penalty of 
S$53,173.59 on Aardwolf. 

 
E. Penalty for Alliance 

407. Starting point: Alliance was involved in six infringements: 
a) collusive tendering or bid-rigging in connection with the RH Tender, 

which the Commission considers came to an end in May 2006; 
b) collusive tendering or bid-rigging in connection with the AH Tender, 

which the Commission considers came to an end in June 2006; 
c) collusive tendering or bid-rigging in connection with the Hawaii 

Tower quotations, which the Commission considers came to an end 
in February 2006;  

d) collusive tendering or bid-rigging in connection with the River Place 
quotations, which the Commission considers came to an end in May 
2006; 

e) collusive tendering or bid-rigging in connection with the TJC 
quotations, which the Commission considers came to an end in 
February 2006; and 

                                                 
457 For PestBusters in respect of the award for the project at AH, the value of the contract awarded was 
taken into account at the stage for Adjustment for other factors. 
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f) collusive tendering or bid-rigging in connection with the FSSS 
quotations, which the Commission considers came to an end in April 
2006. 

408. Alliance's financial year is 1 January to 31 December. Alliance's relevant 
turnover for services involving Agenda treatment in the last business year 
was S$[…]458. 

409. The Commission has analysed its findings regarding the seriousness of this 
infringement in accordance with paragraphs 364 to 375 above and fixed the 
starting point for Alliance at […]% of relevant turnover. The starting point 
for Alliance is therefore S$[…]. 

410. Adjustment for duration: In view of paragraph 376 above, the Commission 
does not make any adjustment for duration. 

411. Adjustment for other factors: The Commission notes that Alliance was 
awarded two of the projects: Hawaii Tower459 and River Place460, as a result 
of its collusive actions.  The total value of these two projects was 
S$146,780.  As the value of these projects has been included in the relevant 
as well as total turnover of Alliance and taken into account in arriving at the 
starting point, the Commission will not be making any adjustments to the 
penalty.   

412. The Commission also notes that Alliance is a mid-sized player in the 
Agenda Treatment market and made a net profit of S$[…]461 for the last 
business year. The Commission is mindful that the financial penalty to be 
imposed should be commensurate with the size and financial position of the 
undertaking.  The Commission is of the view that the figure reached after 
adjustment for duration is a significant sum in relation to Alliance because 
both the figure and the relevant turnover taken into account for the starting 
point represent an adequate proportion of Alliance's total turnover for the 
year ending 31 December 2006. Accordingly, the Commission considers 
that the figure of S$[…] is sufficient to act as an effective deterrent to 
Alliance and to other undertakings which may consider engaging in 
collusive tendering and will not be making adjustments to the penalty at 
this stage. 

                                                 
458 Information provided by Alliance on 24 April 2007 pursuant to the section 63 Notice issued by the 
Commission dated 3 April 2007. 
459 The Hawaii Tower project was awarded to Alliance at $44,780 (as per Alliance’s quotation). 
460 The River Place project was awarded to Alliance at $102,000 (reduced from the sum of $120,000 quoted 
by Alliance after further negotiations).   
461 Information provided by Alliance on 8 August 2007 pursuant to the section 63 Notice issued by the 
Commission dated 3 April 2007. 
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413. Adjustment for aggravating and mitigating factors: As stated in paragraphs 
392 to 393 above, the Commission will treat multiple infringements as an 
aggravating factor. As Alliance was involved in collusive tendering or bid-
rigging in connection with six infringements, the Commission the 
Commission increases the penalty by 50%. 

414. The Commission considers the involvement on the part of the Directors of 
Alliance in the infringements as an aggravating factor and increases the 
penalty by […]%. 

415. The Commission considers that Alliance has cooperated with the 
Commission during the course of the investigation. In this respect, the 
Commission notes that Alliance had, during the section 64 entry of their 
premises, produced to the Commission the email correspondence between 
them and PestBusters in relation to the  FSSS quotations referred to in 
paragraph 338 and admitted its involvement in the infringement. During the 
Commission’s interviews of Philip Tan and Andrew Chan pursuant to 
section 63 notices, they had also admitted to their involvement in the 
infringements in connection with the AH Tender and volunteered 
information on their participation in the infringements in connection with 
the RH Tender and TJC quotations readily. They were also upfront about 
soliciting support quotes and the involvement of the other AAAs in respect 
of Hawaii Tower and River Place quotations. The Commission considers 
that Andrew Chan and Philip Tan have been forthcoming in providing 
information. Accordingly, the Commission reduces the penalty by […]% 
for co-operation. 

416. As a result of the consideration of the aggravating and mitigating factors, 
the penalty has been adjusted upwards by […]% to S$[…]. 

417. Adjustment to prevent maximum penalty being exceeded: The financial 
penalty i.e. S$[…] does not exceed the maximum financial penalty that the 
Commission can impose in accordance with the section 69(2) of the Act, 
i.e. S$[…]. The financial penalty at the end of this stage is S$36,553.45 . 

418. Representations by Alliance in respect of quantum of penalty462: Alliance 
sought a reduction in the penalty to be imposed on the following grounds: 
a) The negative publicity generated from media coverage is likely to 

affect Alliance's business. There is also the likelihood of possible 
third party damage claims; and 

                                                 
462 Written representations by Messrs Lim Ang John & Tan LLC on behalf of Alliance dated 7 November 
2007. 
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b) Genuine co-operation by Alliance in providing accurate and 
complete information as well as a willingness to co-operate with the 
Commission in bringing further awareness of competition law to the 
pest control industry.  

419. The Commission does not consider that these representations constitute 
mitigating factors or add any additional mitigating value for the purposes of 
calculating a financial penalty. The issue of the financial position of the 
Parties has already been addressed in paragraphs 384 to 388. In addition, 
the Commission considers that Alliance’s co-operation has already been 
addressed in paragraph 415 above; Alliance had not in its representations 
raised any new issues for consideration under that head warranting the 
Commission to increase the percentage of reduction attributable for co-
operation.         

420. Accordingly, the Commission does not consider any further reduction 
appropriate in the circumstances and imposes a financial penalty of 
S$36,553.45 on Alliance. 

 
F. Penalty for Elite 

421. Starting point: Elite was involved in three infringements: 
a) collusive tendering or bid-rigging in connection with the Hawaii 

Tower quotations, which the Commission considers came to an end 
in February 2006;  

b) collusive tendering or bid-rigging in connection with the River Place 
quotations, which the Commission considers came to an end in May 
2006; and 

c) collusive tendering or bid-rigging in connection with the TJC 
quotations, which the Commission considers came to an end in 
February 2006. 

422. Elite's financial year is 1 January to 31 December. Elite's relevant turnover 
for services involving Agenda treatment in the last business year was 
S$[…]463. 

423. The Commission has analysed its findings regarding the seriousness of this 
infringement in accordance with paragraphs 364 to 375 above and fixed the 
starting point for Elite at […]% of relevant turnover. The starting point for 
Elite is therefore S$[…]. 

                                                 
463 Information provided by Elite on 17 April 2007 pursuant to the section 63 Notice issued by the 
Commission dated 3 April 2007. 

 141



 

424. Adjustment for duration: In view of paragraph 376 above, the Commission 
does not make any adjustment for duration. 

425. Adjustment for other factors: The Commission notes that Elite was awarded 
the project at TJC464 as a result of its collusive actions.  The total contract 
sum was S$14,950. As the project was awarded in April 2006, the value of 
this project would have been included in the relevant as well as total 
turnover of Elite and taken into account in arriving at the starting point.  As 
such, the Commission will not be making any adjustments to the penalty.   

426. The Commission notes that Elite is a smaller player in the Agenda 
Treatment market and made a net profit of S$[…]465 for the last business 
year. The Commission is mindful that the financial penalty to be imposed 
should be commensurate with the size and financial position of the 
undertaking. In this instance, the Commission is of the view that the figure 
reached after adjustment for duration is a significant sum in relation to Elite 
because both the figure and the relevant turnover taken into account for the 
starting point each represent an adequate proportion of Elite's total turnover 
for the year ending 31 December 2006. Accordingly, the Commission 
considers that the figure of S$[…] is sufficient to act as an effective 
deterrent to Elite and to other undertakings which may consider engaging in 
collusive tendering and will not be making adjustments to the penalty at 
this stage.  

427. Adjustment for aggravating and mitigating factors: As stated in paragraphs 
392 to 393 above, the Commission will treat multiple infringements as an 
aggravating factor. As Elite was involved in collusive tendering or bid-
rigging in connection with three infringements, the Commission increases 
the penalty by 20%. 

428. The Commission considers the involvement on the part of Elite’s Director/ 
General Manager in the infringements as an aggravating factor and 
increases the penalty by […]%. 

429. The Commission considers that Elite has cooperated with the Commission 
during the course of the investigation. In this respect, the Commission notes 
that Elite had, during the section 64 entry into its premises, produced to the 
Commission the email correspondence between them and PestBusters in 
connection with the AH Tender at paragraph 148(a), (b) and (e). During the 
Commission’s interviews of Francis Loh pursuant to section 63 notices, he 
admitted to his involvement in the infringements in connection with the 

                                                 
464 The TJC project was awarded to Elite at S$14,950 (as per Elite’s quotation).  
465 Information provided by Elite on 14 August 2007 pursuant to the section 63 Notice issued by the 
Commission dated 3 April 2007. 
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Hawaii Tower, River Place and TJC quotations. The Commission considers 
that overall, Francis Loh has been forthcoming in providing information. 
Accordingly, the Commission reduces the penalty by […]% for co-
operation.   

430. After taking into account the aggravating and mitigating factors, the penalty 
has been adjusted upwards by […]% to S$[…]. 

431. Adjustment to prevent maximum penalty being exceeded: The financial 
penalty i.e. S$[…] does not exceed the maximum financial penalty that the 
Commission can impose in accordance with the section 69(2) of the Act, 
i.e. S$[…]. The financial penalty at the end of this stage is S$4,332.28.  

432. Representations by Elite in respect of quantum of penalty466: Elite sought a 
reduction in the penalty to be imposed on the ground that it is a small 
company and a small player in the situation. The Commission does not 
consider that these representations constitute mitigating factors or add any 
additional mitigating value for the purposes of calculating a financial 
penalty. The Commission considers that these have already been addressed 
in paragraph 426 above and notes that Elite was awarded the project at 
TJC467 as a result of its collusive actions.  

433. Accordingly, the Commission does not consider any further reduction 
appropriate in the circumstances and imposes a financial penalty of 
S$4,332.28 on Elite. 

 
G. Penalty for Killem 

434. Starting point: Killem was involved in three infringements: 
a) collusive tendering or bid-rigging in connection with the AH Tender, 

which the Commission considers came to an end in June 2006; 
b) collusive tendering or bid-rigging in connection with the River Place 

quotations, which the Commission considers came to an end in May 
2006; and 

c) collusive tendering or bid-rigging in connection with the TJC 
quotations, which the Commission considers came to an end in 
February 2006. 

                                                 
466 Written representations by Elite dated 17 October 2007. 
467 The TJC project was awarded to Elite at S$14,950 (as per Elite’s quotation).  
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435. Killem's financial year is 1 January to 31 December. Killem's relevant 
turnover for services involving Agenda treatment in the last business year 
was S$[…]468. 

436. The Commission has analysed its findings regarding the seriousness of this 
infringement in accordance with paragraphs 364 to 375 above and fixed the 
starting point for Killem at […]% of relevant turnover. The starting point 
for Killem is therefore S$[…]. 

437. Adjustment for duration: In accordance with paragraph 376 above, the 
Commission does not make any adjustment for duration. 

438. Adjustment for other factors: The Commission notes that although Killem 
is a small player in the Agenda Treatment market, it is nonetheless a big 
market player in the general pest control market, and made a net profit of 
S$[…]469 for the last business year. The Commission is mindful that the 
financial penalty to be imposed should commensurate with the size and 
financial position of the undertaking. In this instance, the Commission is of 
the view that the figure reached after adjustment for duration is not a 
significant sum in relation to Killem because both the figure and the 
relevant turnover taken into account for the starting point represent an 
inadequate proportion of Killem’s total turnover for the year ending 31 
December 2006. In accordance with paragraph 379, in order to achieve the 
objectives described in paragraph 377, the Commission considers that it is 
necessary to increase the penalty figure reached after the adjustment to the 
duration to give a figure that represents a significant sum to Killem.   

439. It is noted that on appeal in Makers UK Limited v OFT470, the CAT, in 
February 2007, approved the approach taken by the OFT to increase the 
penalty by £520,000 to act as an effective deterrent to Makers and to other 
undertakings that might consider engaging in collusive tendering. The OFT 
explained that it had arrived at the uplift based on the assessment of a 
“minimum deterrence threshold” (“MDT”) applied to all the parties to the 
decision in order to determine whether there should be an uplift471. 

 
132.  The MDT depended on comparing the undertaking’s turnover in 

the relevant market (used in the calculation of the starting figure at 
Step 1) with the undertaking’s total turnover. The OFT considers 
that if the undertaking’s turnover in the relevant market is less than 

                                                 
468 Information provided by Killem via letter dated 15 June 2007 pursuant to the section 63 Notice issued 
by the Commission dated 3 April 2007. 
469 Information provided by Killem via letter dated 15 June 2007 pursuant to the section 63 Notice issued 
by the Commission dated 3 April 2007. 
470 OFT’s Decision No. CA98/01/2006; the CAT appeal can be found in [2007] CAT 11.  
471 [2007] CAT 11.  
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15 per cent of its total turnover, then the figure arrived at by Step 1 
will not act as a sufficient deterrent. In such a case therefore the 
OFT calculates what the figure arrived at by Steps 1 and 2 would 
have been, if the undertaking concerned had derived 15 per cent of 
its total turnover on the relevant market. An amount is then added 
at Step 3 to bring the overall figure up, broadly speaking, to that 
threshold figure. 

 
133. The OFT calculated that Makers was in a position where its Step 1 

figure was insufficient to act as a deterrent in that its relevant 
turnover was much less than one per cent of its total turnover. If 15 
per cent of Makers’ total turnover of £69,678,000 had been derived 
from the relevant market then the figure resulting from the 
application of Steps 1 and 2 would have been £522,585. This 
figure is 0.75 per cent of the total turnover, which is the same as 5 
per cent (which was the starting percentage used by the OFT at 
Step 1 for Makers) of 15 percent of the total turnover (on that basis 
£520,000 was added to the actual Step 1 figure of £6,500 in order 
to bring the total penalty at Step 3 up to the MDT). 

440. The CAT held that the adoption of the MDT was an appropriate way in 
which to ensure that the overall figure of the penalty met the objective of 
deterrence and rejected Maker’s assertion that the uplift of £520,000 was 
arbitrary or unjustified. 

441. In the present case, the penalty figure reached after adjustment to the 
duration was insufficient to act as a deterrent as Killem’s relevant turnover 
was less than 3% of its total turnover. In comparison, the proportion of 
relevant turnover to total turnover of the other Parties ranged from 5.0% - 
21.9%. In assessing the appropriate amount of penalty, the Commission 
will consider the particular circumstances of each case in its assessment of 
the MDT.  The MDT will vary from case to case. In the present case, the 
Commission considers that if an undertaking’s relevant turnover is less than 
5% of its total turnover, the figure arrived at by this stage will not act as a 
sufficient deterrent. In arriving at the 5% MDT for the present case, the 
Commission notes that the section 34 prohibition came into effect on 1 
January 2006 and competition law is still in its infancy in Singapore. 
Assuming that approximately 5% of Killem’s turnover of S$[…] had been 
derived from the relevant market, then the figure reached at this stage 
would have been S$[…].  Taking into consideration the level of penalties 
that the Commission imposes on the other Parties and noting that an 
increase in the financial penalty at this stage for Killem is appropriate in 
view of the factors stated in paragraph 438, the Commission considers that 
an increase of S$[…] is appropriate to act as an effective deterrent to 
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Killem and to other undertakings which may consider engaging in collusive 
tendering. The financial penalty at the end of this stage is therefore S$[…].  

442. Adjustment for aggravating and mitigating factors: As stated in paragraphs 
392 to 393 above, the Commission will treat multiple infringements as an 
aggravating factor. As Killem was involved in collusive tendering or bid-
rigging in connection with three infringements, the Commission increases 
the penalty by 20%. 

443. The Commission considers the involvement on the part of the Directors of 
Killem in the infringement as an aggravating factor and increases the 
penalty by […]%. 

444. The Commission considers that Killem has cooperated with the 
Commission during the course of the investigation. In this respect, the 
Commission notes that Killem had, during the section 64 entry of their 
premises, produced to the Commission the email correspondence between 
them and PestBusters in relation to the infringements in connection with the 
AH Tender at paragraph 148(a). The Commission notes from the interviews 
of Harry Singh pursuant to section 63 notices, that he rarely gave straight 
answers but he nevertheless admitted to his involvement in the 
infringement in connection with the TJC quotations. Harry Singh had 
initially denied any involvement in the River Place quotations. Pursuant to 
a section 63 notice requesting for documents and information on turnover, 
Killem subsequently produced a quotation to River Place. Killem’s other 
personnel, William Tan and Jennifer Lee, admitted to their involvement in 
the infringement in connection with the River Place quotations. Given the 
limited role played by Harry Singh in the infringement in connection with 
the River Place quotations, the Commission considers that overall, the 
personnel of Killem have been frank and forthright with the Commission. 
Accordingly, the Commission reduces the penalty by […]% for co-
operation.  

445. After taking into account the aggravating and mitigating factors, the penalty 
has been adjusted upwards by […]% to S$[…]. 

446. Adjustment to prevent maximum penalty being exceeded: The financial 
penalty as at this stage, i.e. S$[…] does not exceed the maximum financial 
penalty that the Commission can impose in accordance with the section 
69(2) of the Act, i.e. S$[…]. The financial penalty at the end of this stage is 
S$18,872.88. 
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447. Representations by Killem in respect of quantum of penalty472: Killem 
sought a reduction in the penalty to be imposed on the ground that it will be 
hit hard as it would also be giving out annual bonuses to its staff for the 
major festive seasons. The Commission does not consider that these 
representations constitute mitigating factors or add any additional 
mitigating value for the purposes of calculating a financial penalty. The 
issue of the financial position of the Parties has been addressed in 
paragraphs 384 to 388.  

448. Accordingly, the Commission does not consider any further reduction 
appropriate in the circumstances and imposes a financial penalty of 
S$18,872.88 on Killem.     

 

H. Penalty for PestBusters 

449. Starting point: PestBusters was involved in six infringements: 
a) collusive tendering or bid-rigging in connection with the RH Tender, 

which the Commission considers came to an end in May 2006; 
b) collusive tendering or bid-rigging in connection with the AH Tender, 

which the Commission considers came to an end in June 2006; 
c) collusive tendering or bid-rigging in connection with the Hawaii 

Tower quotations, which the Commission considers came to an end 
in February 2006; 

d) collusive tendering or bid-rigging in connection with the River Place 
quotations, which the Commission considers ended in May 2006; 

e) collusive tendering or bid-rigging in connection with the TJC 
quotations, which the Commission considers came to an end in 
February 2006; and 

f) collusive tendering or bid-rigging in connection with the FSSS 
quotations, which the Commission considers came to an end in April 
2006. 

450. PestBusters' financial year is 1 April to 31 March. PestBusters' relevant 
turnover for services involving Agenda treatment in the last business year 
was S$[…]473. 

451. The Commission has analysed its findings regarding the seriousness of this 
infringement in accordance with paragraphs 364 to 375 above and fixed the 

                                                 
472 Written representations by Killem dated 4 October 2007. 
473 Information provided by PestBusters via letter dated 12 April 2007 pursuant to the section 63 Notice 
issued by the Commission dated 3 April 2007. 
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starting point for PestBusters at […]% of relevant turnover. The starting 
point for PestBusters is therefore S$[…]. 

452. Adjustment for duration: In view of paragraph 376 above, the Commission 
does not make any adjustment for duration. 

453. Adjustment for other factors: The Commission notes that PestBusters was 
awarded the contract for the AH Tender474 as a result of its collusive action. 
The total contract sum was S$349,000.  As the project was completed after 
the last business year, the value of this project would not have been 
included in the relevant as well as total turnover of PestBusters and hence 
would not have been taken into account in arriving at the starting point. If 
this had been taken into consideration, the starting point would have been 
S$[…]. As such, the Commission will be increasing the penalty at this stage 
by the amount of S$[…].  

454. The Commission is of the view that the figure reached thus far, is a 
significant sum in relation to PestBusters because both the figure and the 
relevant turnover taken into account for the starting point each represent an 
adequate proportion of PestBusters’ total turnover for the year ending 31 
March 2007. Accordingly, the Commission considers that the figure of 
S$[…] is sufficient to act as an effective deterrent to PestBusters and to 
other undertakings which may consider engaging in collusive tendering. 

455. The Commission also notes that PestBusters is a mid-sized player in the 
Agenda Treatment market and […] for the business year ending 31 March 
2007475. The Commission is mindful that the financial penalty to be 
imposed should be commensurate with the size and financial position of the 
undertaking.  

456. In this instance, the Commission notes that PestBusters has a turnover of 
S$[…]. The Commission also notes that […]476. In the circumstances, the 
Commission does not consider that PestBusters’ financial position warrants 
a reduction of the penalty at this stage, having regard to the seriousness of 
the infringement and the need for deterrence. 

                                                 
474 The AH Tender was awarded to PestBusters at S$349,000 (reduced from the sum of $359,240 proposed 
by PestBusters after further negotiations).  
475 Reports and Financial Statements for financial year ending 31 March 2007 signed by the Directors on 3 
December 2007 received from PestBusters on 3 January 2008 pursuant to the section 63 Notice issued by 
the Commission dated 14 November 2007. The Commission also notes from information provided by 
PestBusters via letter dated 12 April 2007 pursuant to a section 63 Notice issued by the Commission dated 
3 April 2007 that PestBusters […] for the business year ending 31 March 2006.   
476 See Answers to Questions 46 & 47 of Peter Fernandis’ Notes of Information/Explanation Provided on 
30 May 2007. 
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457. Adjustment for aggravating and mitigating factors: As stated in paragraphs 
392 to 393 above, the Commission will treat multiple infringements as an 
aggravating factor. As PestBusters was involved in collusive tendering or 
bid-rigging in connection with six infringements, the Commission increases 
the penalty by 50%. 

458. The Commission considers the involvement on the part of a Director of 
PestBusters in the infringements as an aggravating factor and increases the 
penalty by […]%. 

459. The Commission considers that PestBusters has cooperated with the 
Commission during the course of the investigation. In this respect, the 
Commission notes that PestBusters had, during the section 64 entry of its 
premises, produced to the Commission the email correspondence between 
the Parties in relation to the infringements in connection with the: 
a) RH Tender at paragraph 90(a) – (f); 
b) AH Tender at paragraph 148(a) – (e); 
c) Hawaii Tower quotations at paragraph 207;  
d) River Place quotation at paragraph 258;  
e) TJC quotations at paragraph 316(a) – (b); and 
f) FSSS quotations at paragraph 338. 

460. During the Commission’s interviews of Peter Fernandis pursuant to section 
63 notices, he admitted to his involvement in all of the infringements above 
readily and volunteered information to the Commission on the details of the 
infringements, including the other AAAs’ involvement in the 
infringements, where the Commission had, then, no evidence of the Parties’ 
participation. The Commission considers that he has been forthcoming in 
providing information. Accordingly, the Commission reduces the penalty 
by […]% for co-operation. 

461. After taking into consideration the aggravating and mitigating factors, the 
penalty has been adjusted upwards by […]% to S$[…]. 

462. Adjustment to prevent maximum penalty being exceeded: The financial 
penalty i.e. S$[…] does not exceed the maximum financial penalty that the 
Commission can impose in accordance with the section 69(2) of the Act, 
i.e. S$[…]. The financial penalty at the end of this stage is S$57,192.96. 

463. Representations by PestBusters in respect of quantum of penalty477: 
PestBusters sought a reduction in the penalty to be imposed on the 
following grounds: 

                                                 
477 Written representations by PestBusters dated 7 November 2007. 
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a) The decision to increase the penalty by S$[…] on account of the 
contract for the AH Tender was unjustified as the said contract 
would have been awarded to them even in the absence of collusion 
as they were the current pest control contractors and had provided 
good services to AH; and their profit in respect of the contract for 
the AH Tender was only S$[…]; and  

b) Their […] should be taken into account in coming to the penalty as 
[…]. 

464. The Commission does not consider that the decision to increase the penalty 
by S$[…] on account of the contract for the AH Tender was unjustified. 
The representation in paragraph 463(a) is without merit. If PestBusters was 
as confident as it had claimed of winning the contract for the AH Tender, 
there would have been no need for Peter Fernandis to solicit cover bids 
from the other AAAs and to even offer to reimburse them the tender fee. In 
any event, the Commission notes that the uplift of $[…] did not even 
deprive PestBusters of their profit for the said contract. With regard to the 
representations in paragraph 463(b), the Commission has already 
considered the financial position of PestBusters in paragraph 455. Even if 
the Commission accepts that […], the Commission is of the view that 
PestBusters had not shown any information or documentation that they are 
eligible for a reduction in the penalty based on their financial position478. In 
this regard, the Commission notes from the Reports and Financial 
Statements for the financial year ending 31 March 2007 signed by the 
Directors on 3 December 2007479, that there is a statement by the Directors 
that […]480. There is also an additional statement that […]481.             

465. Accordingly, the Commission does not consider any further reduction 
appropriate in the circumstances and imposes a financial penalty of 
S$57,192.96 on PestBusters. 

 
I. Penalty for Rentokil 

466. Starting point: Rentokil was involved in four infringements: 
a) collusive tendering or bid-rigging in connection with the RH Tender, 

which the Commission considers came to an end in May 2006; 

                                                 
478 See paragraphs 384 to 388 above. 
479 Reports and Financial Statements for financial year ending 31 March 2007 signed by the Directors on 3 
December 2007 received from PestBusters on 3 January 2008 pursuant to the section 63 Notice issued by 
the Commission dated 14 November 2007. Our proposed infringement decision with the proposed financial 
penalties was issued to the Parties on 2 October 2007.  
480 […]   
481 […]   
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b) collusive tendering or bid-rigging in connection with the AH Tender, 
which the Commission considers came to an end in June 2006; 

c) collusive tendering or bid-rigging in connection with the Hawaii 
Tower quotations, which the Commission considers came to an end 
in February 2006; and 

d) collusive tendering or bid-rigging in connection with the River Place 
quotations, which the Commission considers came to an end in May 
2006. 

467. Rentokil’s financial year is 1 January to 31 December. Rentokil's relevant 
turnover in the last business year was S$[…]482. In this respect, the 
Commission notes that Rentokil has informed the Commission that it does 
not have exact turnover figures attributable to Agenda Treatment for the 
financial year ending 31 December 2006 and that it is only able to provide a 
rough estimate of the relevant turnover based on the amount of Agenda 
purchased for the financial year ending 31 December 2006. The amount of 
Agenda purchased is multiplied by a factor of 80 to arrive at the total 
volume of diluted Agenda. Taking into account an estimated 
wastage/spillage of about […]%, the number of linear metres that can be 
treated using the volume of diluted Agenda is then multiplied by the 
“recommended selling price per linear metre – S$70.00” to arrive at the 
estimated relevant turnover483. 

468. The Commission has analysed its findings regarding the seriousness of this 
infringement in accordance with paragraphs 364 to 375 above and fixed the 
starting point for Rentokil at […]% of relevant turnover. The starting point 
for Rentokil is therefore S$[…]. 

469. Adjustment for duration: In view of paragraph 376 above, the Commission 
does not make any adjustment for duration. 

470. Adjustment for other factors: The Commission notes that Rentokil is one of 
the bigger players in the Agenda Treatment market as well as the general 
pest control market.  It made a net profit of S$[…]484 for the last business 
year. The Commission is mindful that the financial penalty to be imposed 
should be commensurate with the size and financial position of the 
undertaking. In this instance, the Commission is of the view that the figure 

                                                 
482 Information provided by Rentokil via statement of Wee Hwee Lin affirmed on 29 August 2007 enclosed 
with letter dated 29 August 2007 pursuant to the section 63 Notice issued by the Commission dated 3 April 
2007. 
483 Information provided by Rentokil via letter dated 20 April 2007 pursuant to the section 63 Notice issued 
by the Commission dated 3 April 2007. 
484 Information provided by Rentokil via letter dated 20 April 2007 pursuant to the section 63 Notice issued 
by the Commission dated 3 April 2007. 
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reached after adjustment for duration is a significant sum in relation to 
Rentokil because both the figure and the relevant turnover taken into 
account for the starting point represent an adequate proportion of Rentokil's 
total turnover for the year ending 31 December 2006. Accordingly, the 
Commission considers that the figure of S$[…] is sufficient to act as an 
effective deterrent to Rentokil and to other undertakings which may 
consider engaging in collusive tendering and will not be making 
adjustments to the penalty at this stage. 

471. Adjustment for aggravating and mitigating factors: As stated in paragraphs 
392 to 393  above, the Commission will treat multiple infringements as an 
aggravating factor. As Rentokil was involved in collusive tendering or bid-
rigging in connection with four infringements, the Commission increases 
the penalty by 30%. 

472. The Commission considers the involvement on the part of the General 
Manager of Rentokil in the infringements as an aggravating factor and 
increases the penalty by […]%. 

473. Although the Commission considers that Rentokil has cooperated with the 
Commission during the course of the investigation, the Commission notes 
that Rentokil had not produced to the Commission any of the email 
correspondence between them and the Parties in relation to any of the 
infringements whether during the section 64 entry of their premises or 
otherwise. The Commission, however, gives due consideration that 
Rentokil arranged for Joseph Ong, who is presently working for Rentokil 
Initial (Thailand) Ltd in Bangkok, to attend at the CCS for interviews and 
notes that he admitted to his involvement in the infringements in 
connection with the RH Tender, AH Tender, Hawaii Tower and River 
Place quotations rather readily. The Commission considers that he has been 
forthcoming in providing information.  On the other hand, the Commission 
does not find the rest of Rentokil’s current personnel interviewed pursuant 
to the Commission’s section 63 notices, including Nicck Yeong and Yeoh 
Yen Hoon (Jessie), to be as forthcoming. Accordingly, the Commission 
reduces the penalty by […]% for co-operation.  

474. As a result of the consideration of the aggravating and mitigating factors, 
the penalty has been adjusted upwards by […]% to S$[…]. 

475. Adjustment to prevent maximum penalty being exceeded: The financial 
penalty i.e. S$[…] does not exceed the maximum financial penalty that the 
Commission can impose in accordance with the section 69(2) of the Act, 
i.e. S$[…]. The financial penalty at the end of this stage is S$92,634.50. 
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476. Representations by Rentokil in respect of quantum of penalty485: Rentokil 
sought a reduction in the penalty to be imposed from S$92,634.50 to 
$74,107.60 on the following grounds: 
a) The negative publicity generated from media coverage is likely to 

affect Rentokil's business and the penalty should be reduced by 10% 
for this factor;  

b) Rentokil did not obtain any economic or financial benefit from the 
infringing projects and the penalty should be reduced by 10% for 
this factor; and 

c) Rentokil asked that the penalty be reduced by another 5% for its co-
operation as it has incurred substantial expenses of $3,000 to arrange 
for Joseph Ong to return to Singapore for interviews. Rentokil also 
aided the Commission in contacting their ex-employees, Dennis Ng 
and Jacqueline Ng for interviews. Rentokil stated that it had no 
influence or control over its current or ex-employees and should not 
be penalised if they were not forthcoming in their interviews.  

477. The Commission does not consider that these representations constitute 
mitigating factors or add any additional mitigating value for the purposes of 
calculating a financial penalty. The issue of the financial position of the 
Parties has been addressed in paragraphs 384 to 388. The Commission also 
considers that the issue of financial gains or benefit has already been 
addressed in paragraph 381 above. The lack of any financial benefit from 
the infringements does not diminish the seriousness of the infringements or 
constitute a mitigating factor. As for the issue of Rentokil’s co-operation, 
this has already been addressed in paragraph 473 above. The Commission 
had already taken into consideration the time and expense of procuring 
Joseph Ong’s attendance at its interviews when it looked at the issue of co-
operation rendered by Rentokil. As for the contention that Rentokil has 
aided the Commission to contact Jacqueline Ng and Dennis Ng for its 
interviews, the Commission notes that it had obtained the information of 
Jacqueline Ng’s current employer from its interviews and contacted 
Jacqueline Ng directly for its interviews. The Commission obtained Dennis 
Ng’s contact particulars from Jacqueline Ng and contacted him directly for 
its interviews. While the Commission appreciates that Rentokil may not 
have any influence or control over its ex-employees in terms of their co-
operation with the Commission, the fact remained that with the exception 
of Joseph Ong, the rest of Rentokil’s current personnel, including Nicck 
Yeong and Yeoh Yen Hoon (Jessie) were less than forthcoming. As such, 
Rentokil had not shown how the evidence given by Nicck Yeong and Yeoh 
Yen Hoon had enabled  “the  enforcement  process  to  be  concluded  more  

                                                 
485 Written representations by Messrs Lee & Lee on behalf of Rentokil dated 12 November 2007. 
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